EDGAROnline

FMC TECHNOLOGIES INC

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 02/21/14 for the Period Ending 12/31/13

Address

Telephone
CIK
Symbol
SIC Code
Industry
Sector
Fiscal Year

5875 N SAM HOUSTON PARKWAY W
HOUSTON, TX 77086

2815914000

0001135152

FTI

3533 - Oil and Gas Field Machinery and Equipment
Oil Well Services & Equipment

Energy

12/31

Powere 4 &y EDGAROnline

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2014, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.


http://www.edgar-online.com

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013
or

(| TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number 001-16489
FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)
Delaware 36-4412642
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

5875 N. Sam Houston Parkway W.,
Houston, Texas 77086
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code281/591-4000
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which reqistered

Common Stock, $0.01 par value New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) t¢iie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405c08#turities Act. YESX NO O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Act. YESI NO X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b filed all reports required to be filed by SectiB or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f4193
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shqrégiod that the registrant was required to filetsteports), and (2) has been subject to suclyfilin
requirements for the past 90 days. YHES$ NO O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lidsmtted electronically and posted on its corpovegdsite, if any, every Interactive Data File reqdi
to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 4®%&egfilation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during pheceding 12 months (or for such shorter pehatithe
registrant was required to submit and post sueB)il YES NO 0O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquitlers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K (8285 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and
will not be contained, to the best of the registsaknowledge, in definitive proxy or informatiotesements incorporated by reference in Part Ithif
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10{K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlage accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaccelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&se
the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “ade@ated filer” and “smaller reporting company” imle 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filerx] Accelerated filer 0 Non-accelerated filer] Smaller reporting company]



Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the AMES O NO X

The aggregate market value of the registrant’s comstock held by non-affiliates of the registratgtermined by multiplying the outstanding shares or
June 30, 2013, by the closing price on such d&66f68 as reported on the New York Stock Exchangs,$7,853,278,583 .*

The number of shares of the registrant's commockst®0.01 par value, outstanding as of Februar@24 was 236,011,911 .

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

DOCUMENT FORM 10-K REFERENCE

Portions of Proxy Statement for the 2014 Annual fiteeof Stockholders Part Ill

*

Excludes 96,113,955 shares of the registrants@on Stock held by directors, officers and holdégnmore than 5% of the registrant’s Common Steckfalune 30,
2013. Exclusion of shares held by any person shoafldbe construed to indicate that such persomtitygossesses the power, direct or indirect,imecti or cause the
direction of the management or policies of thesegnt, or that such person or entity is controliger under common control with the registrant.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forwacaking statementsihtended to qualify for the safe harbors from ligpiestablished b
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of B9l statements other than statements of hisabfict contained in this report are forward
looking statements within the meaning of Sectiok 2if the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amer{ttee “Exchange Act”). Forward-
looking statements usually relate to future evamid anticipated revenues, earnings, cash flowshar aspects of our operations or oper:
results. Forward-looking statements are often ifledtby the words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipateplan,” “intend,” “foresee,” “should,”
“would,” “could,” “may,” “estimate,” “outlook” and similar expressions, including the negativeebke The absence of these words, how:
does not mean that the statements are not forwatdrg. These forwartboking statements are based on our current exji@tsa beliefs an
assumptions concerning future developments anchéssiconditions and their potential effect on ubil®/management believes that tf
forward{ooking statements are reasonable as and when riedle,can be no assurance that future developraéfetsing us will be those tf
we anticipate.

”ou

" u ” o

All of our forward-looking statements involve sifjoant risks and uncertainties (many of which aggdnd our control) and assumptions that
could cause actual results to differ materiallyrirour historical experience and our present extieator projections. These factors include
those described in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factorkthos Annual Report on Form 10-K and factors i@ unknown or unpredictable. We wish
to caution you not to place undue reliance on amydrd-looking statements, which speak only ahefdate hereof. We undertake no
obligation to publicly update or revise any of donward-looking statements after the date theynaade, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, excephi extent required by law.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

FMC Technologies, Inc. is a global provider of teslogy solutions for the energy industry. FMC Tealogies, Inc. was incorporated in
November 2000 under Delaware law and was a w-owned subsidiary of FMC Corporation until our iaitpublic offering in June 2001. Our
principal executive offices are located at 5875tN&am Houston Parkway West, Houston, Texas 77/886sed in this report, except where
otherwise stated or indicated by the context,ed#nrences to the “Company,” “FMC Technologies,” ;Wws,” and “our” are to FMC
Technologies, Inc. and its consolidated subsidsarie

We design, manufacture and service technologisalphisticated systems and products, including supssluction and processing systems,
surface wellhead production systems, high predtuicecontrol equipment, measurement solutions imwadine loading systems for the energy
industry. We report our results of operations i fibllowing reporting segments: Subsea Technolo@esface Technologies and Energy
Infrastructure. Financial information about our iness segments is incorporated herein by referooeNote 19 to our consolidated financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this AahBeport on Form 10-K.

During 2012 we acquired the remaining 55% of SitfgiRobotics, LLC (“Schilling Robotics”), 100% ofuRe Energy Services Ltd. (“Pure
Energy”) and 100% of Control Systems Internatioia, (“CSI”). Schilling Robotics is a supplier aflvanced robotic intervention products,
including a line of remotely operating vehicle gyat (“ROV”), manipulator systems and subsea cosirstems and is included in our Subsea
Technologies segment. The acquisition of the reimgif5% of Schilling Robotics is allowing us to grin the expanding subsea environment
where demand for ROVs and the need for maintenaciiéties of subsea equipment is expected to asgeAdditionally, we acquired Pure
Energy, a provider of fracturing flowback servieesl wireline services. The acquisition of Pure Bpés complementing the existing products
and services of our Surface Technologies segmehisasreating client value by providing an integrhtvell site solution. Finally, we acquired
CSI, a provider of automation, control and inforimattechnology to the oil and gas industry. Incldide our Energy Infrastructure segment,
CSl is enhancing our automation and controls teldgies and is benefiting production and procesbimgjnesses such as measurement
solutions through comprehensive fuel terminal aipeélpe automation systems. Additional financidbimation about our 2012 business
combinations is incorporated herein by referenomfNote 4 to our consolidated financial statemérdtided in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

During 2013 and in conjunction with managementfent$ to accelerate the development and commerzeiadin of subsea boosting technology
for subsea markets, our direct drive systems tdoggalevelopment, previously reported in our Endrgyastructure segment, is now reported
in our Subsea Technologies segment. All prior-yefrmation has been adjusted to reflect the cunpessentation.

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reportd=orm 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K andratments to those reports are
available free of charge through our website at wimatechnologies.com, under “Investors—Financiéimation—SEC Filings” as soon as
reasonably practicable after we file the reporthhe Securities and Exchange Commission (the “sEMternatively, our reports may be
accessed through the website maintained by theg&®B@w.sec.gov.

Throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we iparate by reference certain information from owexXy Statement for the 2014 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. We intend to provide staiillers with an annual report containing finangiédrmation that has been examined and
reported upon, with an opinion expressed thereoounyndependent registered public accounting fidm.or about April 2, 2014, we expect
our Proxy Statement for the 2014 Annual Meetin@tafckholders will be available on our website uritlevestors—Financial Information—
SEC Filings.” Similarly, on the same date, we exmer 2013 Annual Report to Stockholders will baitable on our website under
“Investors—Financial Information—Annual Reports.”




BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Subsea Technologies

Subsea Technologies designs and manufactures psaglut systems and provides services used by @ijas companies involved in
deepwater exploration and production of crude il natural gas. The core competencies of this segane our

technology and engineering expertise. Our prodociestems control the flow of crude oil and natgad from producing wells. We specialize
in offshore production systems and have manufagjuacilities near the world’s principal offshorié and gas producing basins. We market
our products primarily through our own technicdesabrganization.

Principal Products and Servict

Subsea System®Dur systems are used in the offshore producti@nuzle oil and natural gas. Subsea systems ateglan the seafloor and ¢
used to control the flow of crude oil and naturas drom the reservoir to a host processing faciditich as a floating production facility, a fixed
platform or an onshore facility.

The design and manufacture of our subsea systequses a high degree of technical expertise anoviation. Some of our systems are
designed to withstand exposure to the extreme Isyalio pressure that deepwater environments preaemtell as internal pressures of up to
15,000 pounds per square inch (“psi”) and tempeeatin excess of 350° F. The development of oegiatted subsea production systems
includes initial engineering design studies anfiifaevelopment planning to consider all relevampeass and project requirements including
optimization of drilling programs and subsea asttitire. Our subsea production systems and proohatigle drilling systems, subsea trees,
chokes and flow modules, manifold pipeline systecnstrol and data acquisition systems, well acegstems and other electric technology.
Additionally, as part of our technologies to entafield economics by maximizing recovery, our sabgecessing systems can enable cost-
effective, platform-less solutions where the fieldied directly back to an existing offshore fagibr directly to shore. Subsea processing
system solutions include subsea boosting, subseaayapression and subsea separation which arenéesig accelerate production, increase
recovery or extend field life. In order to provitteese products, systems and services, we utiligmeering, project management, procuremen
manufacturing, assembly and testing capabilities.

We also provide well access and flow managementicgs and other customer support services that affeoad range of products and sen
including installation and workover tools, servteehnicians for installation assistance and fielpjp®rt for commissioning, intervention, and
maintenance of our subsea systems throughoutf¢ghefithe field. This scope of activity also inceslproviding tools and technical support
such as our riserless light well intervention sysfer certain well workover and intervention tasks2012, FMC Technologies formed a joint
venture with Edison Chouest Offshore LLC to proviakegrated vessel-based subsea services for offstilcand gas fields around the world.
This joint venture is expected to provide cost-&ffee solutions to enhance our customer’s abititynitiate, maintain and increase production
from subsea field developments through efficierdrafions, innovative technologies and a broad itorgrof vessels and tools.

Subsea systems represented approximately 63%, 68%446 of our consolidated revenue in 2013, 201224111, respectively.

Schilling Robotics We design and manufacture ROVs and remote matgruhrms and provide support services for subsetiat systems fc
subsea exploration and production. Our productioifeincludes electric and hydraulic work-class RQtether-management systems, launch
and recovery systems, remote manipulator arms auhllar control systems for wide-ranging subseaiegibns. We also provide services
such as engineering services, operations and maimte training, simulation and mission planningl R®V mobilization support and service.

Multi Phase MetersWe design and manufacture multiphase and wetgésranwith applications that include production andace well

testing, reservoir monitoring, remote operationaswgement of fluid rates for production and reveshering between partners, process
monitoring and control, and artificial lift optimazion. This technology delivers highly accuratdf-salibrating meters with low maintenance
features to meet our customers’ increasing requangsifor subsea and topside applications. The Nrhitise Meters product line augments out
portfolio of technologies for increasing oil andsgacovery, early water detection and reservoinapation.
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Capital Intensity

Many of the systems and products we supply forealapplications are highly engineered to meet tigue demands of our customers and
typically ordered one to two years prior to instiin. We often receive advance and progress pagnfram our customers in order to fund
initial development and our working capital requoients. However, our working capital balances cag s@gnificantly depending on the
payment terms and execution timing on key contracts

Dependence on Key Custom

Generally, our customers in this segment are majegrated oil companies, national oil companies iadependent exploration and product
companies.

We have actively pursued alliances with oil and ga@mpanies that are engaged in the subsea deveibpinerude oil and natural gas to
promote our integrated systems for subsea produdiievelopment of subsea fields, particularly iegleater environments, involves
substantial capital investments by our customeus.ddstomers have sought the security of alliamdésus to ensure timely and cost-effective
delivery of subsea and other energy-related systeatprovide integrated solutions to their ne€ls: alliances establish important ongoing
relationships with our customers. While our alliesido not contractually commit our customers t@lpase our systems and services, they
historically led to, and we expect that they wdhtinue to result in, such purchases. Examplesistiomners we have entered alliances with
include Statoil, Shell, BP and Anadarko.

The loss of one or more of our significant oil ayab company customers could have a material ade#fess# on our Subsea Technologies
business segment. In 2013, we generated approXximi#& of our consolidated revenue from Statoil.

Competition

Subsea Technologies competes with other compamésupply subsea systems and with smaller comp#mae are focused on a specific
application, technology or geographical niche iriclilwe operate. Companies including OneSubsea, (G& Gas, Aker Solutions and Dril-
Quip compete with us in the marketplace acrossratious Subsea Technologies product lines.

Competitive factors in our industry include reli@lyi cost-effective technology, execution and dety. Our competitive strengths include our
intellectual capital, our execution of our projectdiability of our products, experience base brehdth of technologies embedded in our
products and services that enable us to desigruersiglutions for our customers’ project requirersavtiile incorporating standardized
components to contain costs. We maintain a preseraleof the worlds major producing basins. Our strong customeriogighips, experienc
and technology help us maintain a leadership positi subsea systems.

Seasonality

In the North Sea, winter weather generally subdliiing activity and demand for subsea servicesexsain activities cannot be performed. As
a result, the level of offshore activity in our seh services is negatively influenced and tendetoease in the first quarter of the year.
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Surface Technologies

Surface Technologies designs and manufactures giodnd systems and provides services used bpaijas companies involved in land and
offshore exploration and production of crude oitl aratural gas. We also design, manufacture andystgghnologically advanced high
pressure valves, pumps and fittings used in stitiamactivities for oilfield service companies amabvide fracturing flowback and wireline
services for exploration companies in the oil aad mdustry.

Principal Products and Servict

Surface WellheadWe provide a full range of drilling, completiongproduction systems for both standard servicecastbm-engineered,
critical-service applications. Surface productigatems, or trees, are used to control and regtiiatéow of crude oil and natural gas from the
well. Our surface products and systems are useldlwigie on both onshore and offshore applicatiords@mn be used in difficult climates,
including arctic cold or desert high temperatuf@gr product technologies include conventional wesdllhs, unihead drill-thru wellheads
designed for faster surface installations, drilliimge optimization (“DTQ”) timesaving conventionakllheads designed to reduce overall rig
time and other technologies including sealing tetbgy, thermal equipment, and valves and actuatessupport our customers through
comprehensive surface wellhead system service gaskhat provide strategic solutions to ensurerggtequipment performance and
reliability and include all phases of the assetésdycle, from the early planning stages througgtihg and installation, commissioning and
operations, replacement and upgrades, interventimt®mmissioning/abandonment, and maintenanaagg@nd preservations. In addition,
our integrated shale services include hydraulicténang manifolds and trees and flow back equipnfientimely and cost-effective well
completion.

Surface wellhead represented approximately 14%, 438614% of our consolidated revenue in 2013, 2012011, respectively.

Fluid Control. We design and manufacture flowline products, utitde Wecd®/Chiksan®trademarks, articulating frac arm manifold trailers
well service pumps, compact valves and reciproggiimmps used in well completion and stimulationvé@s by major oilfield service
companies, such as Schlumberger Limited, Baker Esifjincorporated, Halliburton Company and Weathdrfoternational Ltd. Our flowline
products are used in equipment that pumps corr@sidéor erosive fluid into a well during the wetinstruction, hydraulic fracturing or other
stimulation processes. Our well service pump protioe includes Triplex and Quintuplex pumps uglizin a variety of applications including
fracturing, acidizing and matrix stimulation an@ aapable of delivering flow rates up to 50 barpgsminute at pressures up to 20,000 psi.
The performance of this business typically rises fatis with variations in the active rig countdlighout the world and pressure pumping
activity in the Americas.

Fluid control represented approximately 8%, 12% H2% of our consolidated revenue in 2013, 2012241id , respectively.

Completion ServicesWe provide fracturing flowback services, caseld ladectric wireline and slickline services, spéygisbogging services,
pressure transient analysis, and well optimizasiod swabbing services for exploration companigkeroil and gas industry. Acquired in
October 2012 and formerly known as Pure Energyi€es\L.td., our completion services business pravidecturing flowback and wireline
services. Fracturing flowback services provide mustomers the well services necessary for the ergaf solids, fracturing fluids and
hydrocarbons from oil and natural gas wells aftergtimulation of the well and can involve highgmere or multi-well pad operations.

Capital Intensity

Surface Technologies manufactures most of its prisduesulting in a reliance on manufacturing lmoet throughout the world. We also
maintain a large amount of rental equipment relédgotessure pumping operations.

Dependence on Key Custom

No single Surface Technologies customer accoumedid or more of our 2013, 2012 or 2011 conscdidaevenue
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Competition

Surface Technologies currently is a market leadeit$ primary products and services. Some of trapetitive factors include technological
innovation, reliability and product quality. Suréatechnologies competes with other companies thplyg surface production equipment and
pressure pumping products. Some of our major catopeinclude Cameron International Corporation,iv@il & Gas, GE Oil & Gas and
Gardner Denver, Inc.

Seasonality

In western Canada, the level of activity in thdielidl services industry is influenced by seasonahtlier patterns. During the spring months,
weather and the spring thaw make the ground urestatul less capable of supporting heavy equipmehiechinery. As a result,
municipalities and provincial transportation depaehts enforce road bans that restrict the movenfdmtavy equipment, which reduces
activity levels. There is greater demand for oldfiservices provided by our completion servicesrmss in the winter season when freezing
permits the movement and operation of heavy equiprdetivities tend to increase in the fall and p@&athe winter months of November
through March.




Enerqgy Infrastructure

Principal Products and Servict

Measurement SolutiondVe design and manufacture measurement systerasddn custody transfer of crude oil, natural gjad refined
products. Our measurement systems provide soluitio@sergy-related applications such as crudendllr@atural gas production and
transportation, refined product transportationygdetim refining, and petroleum marketing and disition. We combine advanced
measurement technology with state-of-the-art ed@ots and supervisory control systems to provigenieasurement of both liquids and gases
for purposes of verifying ownership and determiniagenue and tax obligations.

We also provide design, engineering, project mamage, training, commissioning and aftermarket swin connection with the applications
of blending and transfer technology solutions arat@ss automation systems for manufacturers itutirecant, petroleum, fuel blending, and
additive and chemical industries.

Loading SystemsWe provide land- and marine-based fluid loadind ansfer systems to the oil and gas, petrocharaitd chemical
industries. Our systems are capable of loadingadffmhding marine vessels transporting a wide raofgituids including crude oil, liquefied
natural gas (“LNG”) and refined products. Whileshesystems are typically constructed on a fixay jatform, we also have developed
advanced loading systems that can be mounted esslor structure to facilitate ship-to-ship aaatiem loading and offloading operations in
open seas or exposed locations.

Material Handling SolutionsWe provide material handling solutions, includimgk conveying systems, primarily to the power gmtion and
mining industries. We provide innovative solutidosconveying, feeding, screening and orientingklprbduct for customers in diverse
industries. We offer system design, equipment syppstallation, commissioning and aftermarket supvhich enable us to provide
performance optimization solutions for existingteyss or newly customized turnkey plants.

Separation SystemdNe design and manufacture systems that sepaadagiion flows from wells into oil, gas, sand amater. Our separatic
technology improves upon conventional separatiohrtelogies by moving the flow in a spiral, spinnimgtion. This causes the elements of
flow stream to separate more efficiently than coriomal separation technologies. These systemsuarently capable of subsea and topside
applications. For subsea separation, performingragd the required separation process at the seatebles our customers to have more
effective production and reduces the need for tigpprocessing capacity. We are able to apply sudegaration technologies for both
greenfield development and retrofit solutions fefds currently in production in order to reducetsdor topside facilities and increase
production and recovery of fields.

Automation and ContralWe provide automation, control and informatiochteology for the oil and gas and other industiesjuired in April
2012 and formerly known as Control Systems Intéonal, Inc., our automation and control business ssipplier of innovative control and
automation system solutions through two primandpiats: (i) UCOS’ and (ii) FUEL-FACS+®. UCOS®is a comprehensive software solution
that combines distributed control system and supery control and data acquisition system retrafggg software solutions and compression
control algorithms which allows customers to cohérmd manage the engineering, design and monitafitigeir systems of operations.
Additionally, FUEL-FACS+®is a terminal automation and information managersgstem that allows customers to monitor and cbntro
terminal liquid flows and inventory.

Dependence on Key Custom
No single Energy Infrastructure customer accoufiied 0% or more of our 2013, 2012 or 2011 constdidaevenue
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OTHER BUSINESS INFORMATION RELEVANT TO OUR BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Product Development

We continue to invest in product development toaaxde technologies necessary to support the cuanehtuture technical challenges of our
customers. New products and services are developader to ensure our ability to tender in upcognimojects and to develop our growth
platforms. We also strive to increase standardiratiithin our product lines in order to reduce dedyy times, improve product integrity and
control costs. To satisfy all these aims, we acei$ed on leveraging capabilities and advanced téobies across all of our businesses.

In our Subsea Technologies segment, we seek tstinveew technology that will enable the developtred challenging fields. We continue
expand the portfolio of solutions in order to deliva complete production system for high pressigh temperature (“HPHT”) applications.
During 2013, we began delivering Enhanced Verixa¢pwater Trees (“EVDTSs”") that can perform at puess as high as 15,000 psi and
temperatures of 350° F. Key development work coetinin the areas of valves, seals and materi@sdmeer a portfolio of solutions for
performance in 20,000 psi and 400° F environments.

In addition to the development of new technologg,also seek to develop solutions that will helprafms maximize recovery from existing
subsea fields. We continue to develop motor angedsolutions for pumps in order to expand our salpmeduct portfolio and to meet a broa
set of market needs. Along with our developmentrgar Sulzer Pumps Ltd, we advanced developmemuttiphase pump systems that will
capable of higher pressures, temperatures, anflagaimns. Utilizing our permanent magnet motohtealogy, our solutions offer higher
speeds, power and efficiency than conventionaldtidn motors. Also supporting these efforts wasdeeelopment of sensing and monitoring
technologies to enable condition and performanceitmiong of subsea processing systems. This ingniation will help operators better
understand how subsea systems perform.

Demanding field installations and well interventigperations are increasing the demand and use ¥ERI@ our Schilling Robotics business,
progress was made in the development of our tréreeation ultra-heavy duty, work-class ROV. Thizerg evolution will feature a new
hydraulic system, tool dynamic positioning systerd aigh definition Ethernet video system enhaneiehicle operation for ROV pilots.

We are also expanding our subsea services pordalbling us to provide more services that maxirpizgluction and recovery over the life of
the field. We continued construction of a fourtberiess light well intervention (“RLWI") system. RYl is a costeffective intervention solutic
designed to perform various types of jobs in offshwells that will improve and optimize recoveryngssmaller, purpose-built intervention
vessels rather than rigs.

In our Surface Technologies segment, developmerit facused on enhancing our capabilities to proyidelucts and services to support s
operations. Our fluid control business completecettspment of its new fluid end for well service posn Fluid ends are high-wear products
containing replaceable valve, piston and liner congmts that enable pumping. The new fluid end sffetter fatigue life by improving inter
and external geometry to lower stress. The dedigwsiquick and easy maintenance of well servicapsiused in pressure pumping
applications. Additional investments in Surface Aeaogies were directed toward the developmenbaflition and performance monitoring
capabilities for surface trees as well as the ecdr@ent of our capabilities to support shallow watreduction such as our JXT (Jack-Up X-
mass Tree) product line, our tree systems for @lvallater, jack-up applications. These standardymrtsdprovide production options that
enable operators to minimize time to first oil arduce capital investments.

In our Energy Infrastructure segment, our sepanatistems business completed the development efaeechnologies to improve separation
performance, including development work on sepanatchnology to support fracturing operations.SEnmnovative technologies are expe

to minimize the footprint of equipment at the feate and reduce water costs. Our measurement@uubiusiness completed development v
on new hardware and software platforms for measentmhevices. The new platform will be used acres®al product lines including
ultrasonic meters and electronic truck registes@ffers improved usability and diagnostic capébsi.
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Order Backlog

Information regarding order backlog is incorporatedein by reference from the section entitled timbd Orders and Order Backlog’ Part I
Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Sources and Availability of Raw Materials

Our business segments purchase carbon steelgs@sikel, aluminum and steel castings and fordiotigedomestically and internationally.
typically do not use single source suppliers fer tajority of our raw material purchases; howewertain geographic areas of our businesses
or a project or group of projects may heavily deben certain suppliers for raw materials or sumglgemi-finished goods. We believe the
available supplies of raw materials are adequatedet our needs.

Research and Development

We are engaged in research and development (“R&Exiyities largely directed toward the improvemehexisting products and services, the
design of specialized products to meet customeisiard the development of new products, procesgksavices. A large part of our product
development spending has focused on the improveidrdand standardization of our Subsea Technolgy@duct lines to meet our customer
needs. Financial information about Company-spomkBi&D activities is incorporated herein by refereriom Note 19 to our consolidated
financial statements included in Part I, Item & Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Patents, Trademarks and Other Intellectual Property

We own a number of U.S. and foreign patents, tragksniand licenses that are cumulatively importarmur businesses. As part of our ongc
research and development, we seek patents wheogjate for new products and product improvemeénmnts.have approximately 1,100 issued
patents and pending patent applications worldwkdether, we license intellectual property right®tdrom third parties. We also own
numerous U.S. and foreign trademarks and trade :iame have approximately 225 registrations andipgrapplications in the United States
and abroad.

We protect and promote our intellectual propertstfptio and take those actions we deem appropt@atnforce and defend our intellectual

property rights. We do not believe, however, thatlbss of any one patent, trademark or licensgraup of related patents, trademarks or
licenses would have a material adverse effect oroweerall business.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately X®f80-time employees, consisting of approximately 6,45the United States and 12,
in non-U.S. locations. Less than 2% of our U.S. leyges are represented by labor unions.

International Operations in Countries Subject t8.URestrictions

In 2009, like many other companies, we adoptedliaypdirecting our non-U.S. subsidiaries to effettian orderly withdrawal from doing
business with the various countries subject to teStrictions. This policy prohibited entering imew commitments involving these countries,
but did not require the non-U.S. subsidiaries @seeperformance of existing commitments, providexdh€ommitments could be performed in
compliance with all applicable laws and regulatiohs a result of this policy decision, non-U.S. sidiary sales to these countries accounted
for less than 0.002% of our consolidated reven20it3. As such, we consider these sales immat#vialhad no sales in Iran or Syria during
2013. While some residual service-related salesaoayr after 2013, we expect these to be insigmificince all remaining outstanding
commitments have been substantially completed.

Segment and Geographic Financial Information

The majority of our consolidated revenue and segmperating profits are generated in markets oatsfdhe United States. Each of our
segments’ revenue is dependent upon worldwidendilgias exploration and production activity. Finahaiformation about our segments and
geographic areas is incorporated herein by referénaen Note 19 to our consolidated financial statata in Part 11, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 1Qke, information regarding our executive officerfierhfor by Item 401(b) of Regulation I§-
is hereby included in Part I, Item 1 “Business’ttié Annual Report on Form 10-K.

As of February 21, 2014, the executive officer&BIC Technologies, together with the offices curiehtld by them, their business experie
and their ages, are as follows:

Name Age Current Position and Business Experience

John T. Gremp 62 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officell®0
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (2012)
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officerl@0
President and Chief Operating Officer (2010)
Executive Vice President—Energy Systems (2007)

Maryann T. Seaman 51  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offic&d11)

Vice President—Treasurer and Deputy Chief Finar@féicer (2010)
Vice President—Administration (2007)

Bradley D. Beitler 60 Vice President—Technology (2009)
Director of Technology (2006)
Sanjay Bhatia 44  Vice President—Corporate Development (2012)
Director of Business Development (2007)
Jeffrey W. Carr 57 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and SegrE2ad.0)
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary {2001
Tore Halvorsen 59  Senior Vice President—Subsea Technologies (2011)
Senior Vice President—Global Subsea ProductioneByst{2007)
Jay A. Nutt 50 Vice President and Controller (2009)
Controller (2008)
Johan Pfeiffer 49  Vice President—Surface Technologies (2011)

Vice President—Global Surface Wellhead (2010)
General Manager for Subsea activities in Europécafand the Commonwealth of Independent
States (CIS) (2007)

Douglas J. Pferdehirt 50 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Offi@912)
Executive Vice President—Corporate Development &@uwnication for Schlumberger Limited
(2011)
President Reservoir Production Group for Schluméekgmited (2006)

Mark J. Scott 60 Vice President—Administration (2010)

Senior Vice President of Human Resources for Dresse (2004)

No family relationships exist among any of the ad-listed officers, and there are no arrangementsderstandings between any of the above
listed officers and any other person pursuant thwthey serve as an officer. During the past jigars, none of the above-listed officers was
involved in any legal proceedings as defined iml#&)1(f) of Regulation S-K. All officers are eledtby the Board of Directors to hold office
until their successors are elected and qualified.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Important risk factors that could impact our akitid achieve our anticipated operating resultsgmovth plan goals are presented below. The
following risk factors should be read in conjunatimith discussions of our business and the faetfiexting our business located elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our othéndjs with the SEC.

Demand for our systems and services depends on oil and gasindustry activity and expenditure levels, which are directly affected by trendsin
the demand for and price of crude oil and natural gas.

We are substantially dependent on conditions irothand gas industry, including the level of expliion, development and production activity
of, and the corresponding capital spending byawod natural gas companies. Any substantial or degdecline in these expenditures may
result in the reduced pace of discovery and devadop of new reserves of oil and gas and the redexplitation of existing wells, which
could adversely affect demand for our systems andces and, in certain instances, result in threelation, modification or rescheduling of
existing orders. These factors could have an adwfect on our revenue and profitability. The leveexploration, development and
production activity is directly affected by trendsoil and natural gas prices, which, historicaligyve been volatile.

Factors affecting the prices of oil and natural ipakide, but are not limited to, the following:

. demand for hydrocarbons, which is affected byldwide population growth, economic growth rated general economic and
business conditions;

. costs of exploring for, producing and deliverinbasid natural ga

. political and economic uncertainty and sociopdditignrest

. available excess production capacity within@rganization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (“@P)Eand the level of oil
production by non-OPEC countries;

. oil refining capacity and shifts in emtistomer preferences toward fuel efficiency anduge of natural g

. technological advances affecting energy consumj

. potential acceleration of the development of aliéiue fuels

. access to capital and credit markets, which affgct our customers’ activity levels and spendrgour products and services;
and

. natural disaster

The oil and gas industry has historically experéshperiodic downturns, which have been characwtigediminished demand for oilfield
services and downward pressure on the prices wgeha significant downturn in the oil and gas istity could result in a reduction in
demand for oilfield services and could adversefgdifour financial condition, results of operatiaiscash flows.

The industries in which we operate or have operated expose us to potential liabilities arising out of the installation or use of our systems that
could adversely affect our financial condition.

We are subject to equipment defects, malfunctionkfailures, equipment misuse and natural disastezsoccurrence of which may result in
uncontrollable flows of gas or well fluids, firescexplosions. Although we have obtained insuragagnst many of these risks, our insurance
may not be adequate to cover our liabilities. Fertthe insurance may not generally be availabtaerfuture or, if available, premiums may
not be commercially justifiable. If we incur subgal liability and the damages are not coverednisurance or are in excess of policy limits

if we were to incur liability at a time when we aret able to obtain liability insurance, our busisieresults of operations, financial condition or
cash flows could be materially adversely affected.
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Our operations require usto comply with numerous U.S. and international regulations, violations of which could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

We are exposed to a variety of federal, state] lmed international laws and regulations relatimgniatters such as environmental, health and
safety, labor and employment, import/export conttatrency exchange, bribery and corruption andttar. These laws and regulations are
complex, frequently change and have tended to becoore stringent over time. In the event the sadfkese laws and regulations expand in
the future, the incremental cost of compliance é@dversely impact our financial condition, resolt®perations or cash flows.

Our operations outside of the United States requar®® comply with numerous anti-bribery and awtiraption regulations under the laws of
the United States and various other countries.II8e Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), theitéd Kingdom (“U.K.”) Bribery Act and
the China Anti-Unfair Competition Law, among otheapply to us and our operations. We have interoatrol policies and procedures and
have implemented training and compliance programstir employees and agents with respect to treggdations. However, our policies,
procedures and programs may not always protecbuos feckless or criminal acts committed by our emyees or agents, and severe crimin
civil sanctions may be imposed as a result of vimte of these laws. We are also subject to thes tisat our employees, joint venture partners
and agents outside of the United States may faibtoply with applicable laws.

Moreover, we import raw materials, semi-finishe@ds, as well as finished products into many coastfor use in such countries or for
manufacturing and/or finishing for re-export angrt into another country for use or further ingn into equipment or systems. Most
movement of raw materials, semi-finished or finlpeoducts involves imports and exports. As a tesompliance with multiple trade
sanctions, embargoes and import/export laws andatgns, as well as the recently enacted confiicterals reporting requirements, pose a
constant challenge and risk to us since our busiisesonducted on a worldwide basis through varsulssidiaries. Our failure to comply with
these laws and regulations could materially affestreputation, financial condition and result®pérations.

Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may adver sely affect our business and operating results.

Environmental laws and regulations affect the expaipt, systems and services we design, market dndsevell as the facilities where we
manufacture our equipment and systems. We arereghta invest financial and managerial resourcetoply with environmental laws and
regulations and believe that we will continue taréguired to do so in the future. These regulatiassvell as the adoption of other laws and
regulations affecting exploration and developmédrdridling for crude oil and natural gas, could adsely affect our business and operating
results by increasing our costs, limiting the dedhfom our systems and services or restricting qarations.

International, national and state governments geth@ies are currently evaluating and promulgatggslation and regulations that are focuset
on restricting emissions commonly referred to &sghouse gas (“GHG”) emissions. For instance, t&e Bnvironmental Protection Agency
(“EPA”") has made findings that GHG emissions endamyiblic health and the environment and, basethese findings, has adopted
regulations that restrict GHG emissions under @dsprovisions of the U.S. Clean Air Act, includinge that requires a reduction of GHG
emissions from motor vehicles and another thatireguertain construction and operating permiteasg for GHG emissions from certain la
stationary sources. The EPA has also adopted medgsring the monitoring and reporting of GHG eross from certain sources, including
onshore and offshore oil and natural gas produdtoitities and onshore oil and natural gas praocgssransmission, storage and distribution
facilities. In addition, the European Emissionsdiing Scheme is a program through which many oflepean Union member states are
implementing cap and trade controls covering nunepower stations and industrial facilities. Thdseelopments may curtail production and
demand for oil and gas in areas of the world wiogirecustomers operate and could adversely afféatdulemand for our products and
services.
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Moreover, environmental concerns have been raesgarding the potential impact of hydraulic fraatgrior “fracking” on underground water
supplies. We provide equipment and services to emmes employing this enhanced recovery technigherélhave been several regulatory
governmental initiatives in the United States tgtriet the hydraulic fracturing process, which ebbhve an adverse impact on our customers’
completion or production activities. The EPA issueks on April 17, 2012, which become effectivelanuary 2015, designed to limit the
release of volatile organic compounds, or polligaftbom natural gas wells that are hydraulicalgcfured. Certain governmental reviews are
either underway or being proposed that focus ofir@emmental aspects of hydraulic fracturing practiddydraulic fracturing restrictions also
have been or are being considered for adoptiothieraountries. Should additional governmental lagpns ultimately be imposed that further
restrict or curtail hydraulic fracturing activitiethe demand for our equipment and services coalidhpacted, which, in turn, could adversely
affect our financial condition, results of operasoor cash flows.

Disruptionsin the political, regulatory, economic and social conditions of the foreign countries in which we conduct business could
adversely affect our business or results of operations.

We operate manufacturing facilities in 16 countoesside of the United States and approximately 8%wur 2013 revenue was generated
internationally. Instability and unforeseen chanigethe international markets in which we condugsibess, including economically and
politically volatile areas such as North Africa, $Y@éfrica, the Middle East and the Commonwealtinoiependent States (“CIS”), could have
an adverse effect on the demand for our systemseamites, our financial condition or our result®perations. These factors include, but are
not limited to, the following:

. nationalization and expropriatic

. potentially burdensome taxatic

. inflationary and recessionary markets, includingitzd and equity marke!

. civil unrest, labor issues, political instabyjliterrorist attacks, cybeerrorism, military activity and wai

. supply disruptions in key oil producing countr

. ability of OPEC to set and maintain production levand pricing

. trade restrictions, trade protection measuresioe montrols

. foreign ownership restrictior

. import or export licensing requiremet

. restrictions on operations, trade practiceslengartners and investment decisions resulting ftomestic and foreign laws and
regulations;

. changes in, and the administration of, laws andlegipns

. inability to repatriate income or capit

. reductions in the availability of qualified persei

. foreign currency fluctuations or currency restoos; an

. fluctuations in the interest rate component of fargvforeign currency rate

Because a significant portion of our revenue isodeéinated in foreign currencies, changes in exchaags will produce fluctuations in our
revenue, costs and earnings and may also affetitothle value of our assets located outside of thisedrStates and the amount of our
stockholders’ equity. Although it is our policy seek to minimize our currency exposure by engaigifgedging transactions where
appropriate, our efforts may not be successfulthBoextent we sell our products and services ieifor markets, currency fluctuations may
result in our products and services becoming tqeesgive for foreign customers. As a result, flutares in foreign currency exchange rates
may affect our financial results.
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We may lose money on fixed-price contracts.

As is customary for the types of businesses in whie operate, we often agree to provide produassarvices under fixed-price contracts.
Under these contracts, we are typically responsisleost overruns. Our actual costs and any goosfit realized on these fixegrice contract
may vary from the estimated amounts on which tlteséracts were originally based. There is inherisitin the estimation process, including
significant unforeseen technical and logisticalllemges or longer than expected lead times. A figgde contract may prohibit our ability to
mitigate the impact of unanticipated increasesim material prices through increased pricing. Depenon the size of a project, variations
from estimated contract performance could havgmifitant impact on our financial condition, resudif operations or cash flows.

Disruptionsin the timely delivery of our backlog could affect our future sales, profitability, and our relationshipswith our customers.

Many of the contracts we enter into with our custesirequire long manufacturing lead times due togtex technical and logistical
requirements. These contracts may contain peniatises relating to on-time delivery, and a faillbyeus to deliver in accordance with
customer expectations could subject us to contahpienalties, reduce our margins on these conteactssult in damage to existing customer
relationships. The ability to meet customer delv&rhedules for this backlog is dependent on a mumbfactors, including, but not limited to,
access to the raw materials required for productoradequately trained and capable workforce,anibactor performance, project
engineering expertise, sufficient manufacturingipapacity and appropriate planning and schedwafinganufacturing resources. Failure to
deliver backlog in accordance with expectationddoegatively impact our financial performance.

Dueto the types of contracts we enter into, the cumulative loss of several major contracts or alliances may have an adverse effect on our
results of operations.

We often enter into large, long-term contracts,tbaliectively, represent a significant portioncafr revenue. For example, we have an allianc
of this type with Statoil from which we generatgibeoximately 12% of our consolidated revenue in20hese agreements, if terminated or
breached, may have a larger impact on our operaggts or our financial condition than shortemtecontracts due to the value at risk. If we
were to lose several key alliances or agreemergsavelatively short period of time we could exgece a significant adverse impact on our
financial condition, results of operations or céskwvs.

Increased costs of raw materials and other components may result in increased operating expenses and adversely affect our results of
operations or cash flows.

Our results of operations may be adversely affelbjedur inability to manage the rising costs andilability of raw materials and components
used in our wide variety of products and systenmexXpected changes in the size and timing of re¢jem@d/or product markets, particularly for
short lead-time products, could affect our resoftsperations or cash flows.

Moreover, in August 2012, the SEC issued its finé to implement Section 1502 of the Dodd-Frank\8aeet Reform and Consumer
Protection Act regarding mandatory disclosure ambrting requirements by public companies of ths& of “conflict minerals” (tantalum, tin,
tungsten and gold) originating in the Democratip&R#ic of Congo and adjoining countries. We arauneyl to conduct specified due diligence
activities for the 2013 calendar year and providefist report in May 2014. The new rule couldeaff sourcing at competitive prices and
availability in sufficient quantities of certain tife conflict minerals used in the manufacturewfmroducts or in the provision of our services.
The number of suppliers who provide conflict-frememnals may be limited, which could have a mateathlerse effect on our ability to
purchase these products in the future. The costerapliance, including those related to supply eitasearch, the limited number of suppliers
and possible changes in the sourcing of these alg)arould have a material adverse effect on @ult®of operations or cash flows.
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Our businesses are dependent on the continuing services of certain of our key managers and employees.

We depend on our senior executive officers andrdtag personnel. The loss of any of these officersey management could adversely
impact our business if we are unable to implemegtdtrategies or transactions in their absencaddition, competition for qualified
employees among companies, like ours, that relyilyean engineering and technology is intense. Tdss of qualified employees or an
inability to attract, retain and motivate additibhayhly-skilled employees required for the operation angbesion of our business could hin
our ability to conduct research activities sucadfstind develop marketable products and services.

A failure of our information technology infrastructure could adversely impact our business and results of operations.

The efficient operation of our business is depehdarour information technology (“IT”) systems. Aedingly, we rely upon the capacity,
reliability and security of our IT hardware andts@dre infrastructure and our ability to expand apdate this infrastructure in response to our
changing needs. Despite our implementation of $fyameasures, our systems are vulnerable to danfeascomputer viruses, natural
disasters, incursions by intruders or hackergyifad in hardware or software, power fluctuatioybec terrorists and other similar disruptions.
The failure of our IT systems to perform as antt@al for any reason or any significant breach ofisg could disrupt our business and result
in numerous adverse consequences, including redftesdiveness and efficiency of operations, inappiate disclosure of confidential
information, increased overhead costs and losspbitant information, which could have a materthlerse effect on our business and results
of operations. In addition, we may be requirechimii significant costs to protect against damagese@ by these disruptions or security
breaches in the future.

Our success depends on our ability to implement new technologies and services.

Our success depends on the ongoing developmeritgteimentation of new product designs and improvesand on our ability to protect
and maintain critical intellectual property asgeiated to these developments. If we are not @bbdtain patent or other protection of our
technology, we may not be able to continue to dgvsl/stems, services and technologies to meetiegdivdustry requirements, and if so, at
prices acceptable to our customers.

Some of our competitors are large national andimatlbnal companies that may be able to devotetgréimancial, technical, manufacturing
and marketing resources to the research and dewelupof new systems, services and technologieswsare able to do. If we are unable to
compete effectively given these risks, our businessilts of operations and financial conditionlddae adversely affected.

Uninsured claims and litigation against us, including intellectual property litigation, could adversely impact our financial condition, results
of operations or cash flows.

We could be impacted by the outcome of pendingdtton, as well as unexpected litigation or progegsl We have insurance coverage agi
operating hazards, including product liability atai and personal injury claims related to our prigiuo the extent deemed prudent by our
management and to the extent insurance is availdbl@ever, no assurance can be given that theenand amount of that insurance will be
sufficient to fully indemnify us against liabilitearising out of pending and future claims anddition. Our financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows could be adversely aftebieunexpected claims not covered by insurance.

In addition, the tools, techniques, methodologiesgrams and components we use to provide ourcgswnay infringe upon the intellectual
property rights of others. Infringement claims gatig result in significant legal and other costslanay distract management from running
core business. Royalty payments under licenses tingoh parties, if available, would increase oustsoIf a license were not available, we
might not be able to continue providing a particslarvice or product, which could adversely affaat financial condition, results of operatic
or cash flows. Additionally, developing non-infring technologies would increase our costs.
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A downgradein the rating of our debt could restrict our ability to access the capital markets.
Changes in the ratings assigned to our debt magdtrqur access to the debt capital markets. gatfor our debt fall below investment gre
our access to the debt capital markets could becestdcted. Moreover, our revolving credit agreafriacludes an increase in interest rates if

the ratings for our debt are downgraded, whichadalve an adverse effect on our results of operstin increase in the level of our

indebtedness and related interest costs may ireasvulnerability to adverse general economiciaddstry conditions and may affect our
ability to obtain additional financing.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease our corporate headquarters in HoustorgsT&¥e own or lease numerous properties througheuvorld and consider our producti
facilities to be our principal properties. We ogera0 production facilities in 17 countries.

We believe our properties and facilities are suédbr their present and intended purposes and@geating at a level consistent with the
requirements of the industry in which we operate. &k60 believe that our leases are at competitiveasket rates and do not anticipate any
difficulty in leasing suitable additional space apexpiration of our current lease terms.

The following table shows our significant produatiproperties by reporting segment at December @132

Subsea Technologies Surface Technologies Energy Infrastructure
United States
* Houston, Texas Stephenville, Texas Tupelo, Mississippi
Davis, California Oklahoma City, Oklahoma Erie, Pennsylvania
Shingle Springs, California Corpus Christi, Texas
Fullerton, California Lenexa, Kansas
Internationat
Kongsberg, Norway + Sens, France Ellerbek, Germany
* Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Collechio, Italy Changshu, China
* Nusajaya, Malaysia Maracaibo, Venezuela Arnhem, The Netherlands
* Singapore Edmonton, Canada
* Bergen, Norway Jakarta, Indonesia

* Dunfermline, Scotland
Macaé, Brazil
Takoradi, Ghana

* Stavanger, Norway
Luanda, Angola

* Aberdeen, Scotland
Port Harcourt, Nigeria

*These facilities are production properties in SaFechnologies and Surface Technologies.

+This facility is a production property in Surfatechnologies and Energy Infrastructure.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in various pending or potentiablleactions in the ordinary course of our businbtmagement is unable to predict the
ultimate outcome of these actions because of ther@nt uncertainty of litigation. However, managatrzelieves that the most probable,

ultimate resolution of these matters will not havaaterial adverse effect on our consolidated firmdmposition, results of operations or cash
flows.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stocklange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “FTI.”

2013 2012
4th Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 1st Qtr. 4th Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 1st Qtr.

Common stock price:
High $ 5932 $ 583 $ 587: $ 543¢ $ 469: $ 499 $ 505/ $ 54.3¢
Low $ 477¢ $ 5238 $ 4850 $ 4297 $ 397C $ 396/ $ 3768 $  48.2¢
Closing stock price at December 31, 2013 $ 5221
Closing stock price at February 19, 2014 $ 50.5¢
3,04¢

Number of common stockholders of record at Febra8ry2014

We have not declared or paid cash dividends in 202012, and we do not currently have a plan {oqaesh dividends in the future.

On February 25, 2011, our Board of Directors appdba two-forene stock split of our outstanding shares of comstook. The stock split w
completed in the form of a stock dividend that vessied on March 31, 2011, to stockholders of reaebttie close of business on March 14,
2011. All common share and per share informatiomuinconsolidated financial statements have beeoawtively revised to reflect the stock

split.

As of December 31, 2013, our securities authoriredssuance under equity compensation plans wefell@ws:

Number of Securities

Number of Securities

to be Issued Weighted Average Remaining Available
Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of for Future Issuance

Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, under Equity

Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Compensation Plans
Equity compensation plans approved by securityérsld 33,78t @ $ 5.9¢ 24,066,44 @
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotglers — — —
Total 33,78  § 5.9¢ 24,066,44 ()
@ The table includes the number of shares that magsbied upon the exercise of outstanding optiopsitochase shares of our common stock unde

Amended and Restated FMC Technologies, Inc. Inee@ompensation and Stock Plan (the “Plan”). Théetdoes not include shares of restricted

stock that have been awarded under the Plan batwizive not yet vested.

@ The table includes shares of our common stock availfor future issuance under the Plan, excluthiegshares quantified in the first column. This
number includes 3,290,852 shares available foarssei for nonvested stock awards that vest afteeber 31, 2013.

We had no unregistered sales of equity securitieisg the year ended December 31, 2013.

20




The following table summarizes repurchases of oamraon stock during the three months ended DeceB1hez013.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Maximum
Total Number of Number of Shares
Shares Purchased That May Yet
Total Number as Part of Publicly Be Purchased
of Shares Average Price Announced Plans Under the Plans
Period Purchased (a) Paid per Share or Programs or Programs (b)
October 1, 2013 — October 31, 2013 153,26( $ 55.41 134,30( 13,637,09
November 1, 2013 — November 30, 2013 164,790 $ 49.6: 153,30( 13,483,79
December 1, 2013 — December 31, 2013 596,19 $ 50.7¢ 596,19: 12,887,60
Total 914,24 ¢ 51.37 883,79: 12,887,60

(@)

(b)

Represents 883,791 shares of common stock repedtiaasl held in treasury and 30,450 shares of constoak purchased and held in an employee
benefit trust established for the FMC Technologiles, NonQualified Savings and Investment Plan. In additithese shares purchased on the «
market, we sold 14,220 shares of registered constamk held in this trust, as directed by the beegfies, during the three months ended
December 31, 2013.

In 2005, we announced a repurchase plan approvediBoard of Directors authorizing the repurchafsep to two million shares of our issued and
outstanding common stock through open market pgeshal he Board of Directors authorized extensidmisi® program, adding five million shares
in February 2006 and eight million shares in Feky@#07 for a total of 15 million shares of comnstack authorized for repurchase. As a result of
the two-for-one stock splits (i) on August 31, 20Bie authorization was increased to 30 millionrebaand (ii) on March 31, 2011, the authorization
was increased to 60 million shares. In Decembel 2 Board of Directors authorized an extensioouo repurchase program, adding 15 million
shares, for a total of 75 million shares. In additio the 75 million shares, in July 2008, the Bloagir Directors authorized the repurchase of $95.0
million of our outstanding common stock, and aSeptember 2008, there was no remaining amountdaifor purchase under the $95.0 million
authorization.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables set forth selected financialalof the Company for each of the five years englriod ended December 31, 2013. This
information should be read in conjunction with Rgritem 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analydigmancial Conditions and Results of
Operations” and the audited consolidated finargtetements and notes thereto included in Paiteth B of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(In millions, except per share data)
Years Ended December 31 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Statement of income data:

Total revenue

$ 7,126.. $ 6,151 $ 5,009.C $ 4,125.¢ $ 4,405.¢
Total costs and expenses $ 6,378.t $ 5,546.t $ 4536.t $ 3,574 $ 3,875.1
Income from continuing operations $ 506.6 $ 4345 $ 4035 $ 3782 $ 362.¢
Net income attributable to FMC Technologies, Inc. $ 501 $ 4300 $ 399¢ $ 375 % 361.¢
Earnings per share from continuing operations
attributable to FMC Technologies, Inc.:
Basic earnings per share $ 21C $ 1.7¢ % 166 $ 158 % 1.4¢€
Diluted earnings per share $ 21C $ 178 ¢ 164 $ 15 $ 1.44
Cash dividends declared $ — $ — % — $ — % —
(In millions)
As of December 31 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Balance sheet data:
Total assets $ 6,605.¢ $ 5,902.¢ $ 4271.C $ 3,644 % 3,556.¢
Net (debt) casH $ (973.2) $ (2,298.) $ (279.6) $ 47.9 $ 40.€
Long-term debt, less current portion $ 1,329.¢ $ 1,580.« $ 36.C $ 351.1 $ 391.€
Total FMC Technologies, Inc. stockholders’ equity $ 2,317 $ 1,836.¢ $ 1,424¢ $ 1,311 $ 1,102.¢
(In millions)
Years Ended December 31 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Other financial information:
Capital expenditures $ 3141 % 4056 $ 2740 $ 1125 $ 110.(
Cash flows provided by operating activities of
continuing operations $ 795.2 $ 138.2 $ 164.¢ $ 1946 $ 596.¢
Segment operating capital employ&d $ 3,610.6 $ 3,572 $ 2,204 $ 1,722¢  $ 1,3609.¢
Order backlog” $ 6,998.. $ 5377.¢ $ 4,876 $ 4171% $ 2,545.

@ Net (debt) cash consists of cash and cash equtgdkss sho-term debt, long-term debt and the current portiblongterm debt. Net (debt) cash i

non-GAAP measure that management uses to evaluatapital structure and financial leverage. Saquidity and Capital Resources” in Part Il,
Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for adltiial discussion of net (debt) cash.

@ We view segment operating capital employed, whimfsists of assets, net of liabilities, as the prinmeasure of segment capital. Segment oper

capital employed excludes corporate debt facilitied certain investments, pension liabilities, deféand currently payable income taxes andifgst-
first-out (“LIFO”) inventory adjustments. See adalital financial information about segment operatiagital employed in Note 19 to our
consolidated financial statements in Part I, I@wof this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

@ Order backlog is calculated as the estimated salee of unfilled, confirmed customer orders atriygorting datt

22




ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Executive Overview

We design, manufacture and service technologisalphisticated systems and products for customeheienergy industry. We have
manufacturing operations worldwide, strategicatlydted to facilitate delivery of our products, sys$ and services to our customers. We
report the results of operations in the followirgments: Subsea Technologies, Surface TechnolagiéEnergy Infrastructure. Managemsnt’
determination of the Comparsyteporting segments was made on the basis otmategic priorities and corresponds to the manmevtiich oul
chief operating decision maker reviews and evatuaperating performance to make decisions aboauress to be allocated to the segment.

A description of our products and services, as agknnual financial data, for each segment cdalrel in Part I, Item 1, “Businessihd Note
19 to our consolidated financial statements in Raltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. THiscussions below include the results of
each of our segments for the years ended Decemb@033, 2012 and 2011.

We focus on economic and industry-specific drivaard key risk factors affecting our business segmasitwe formulate our strategic plans an
make decisions related to allocating capital anddmuresources. The following discussion providesygles of economic and industry factors
and key risks that we consider relevant to ourrmss segments.

The results of our businesses are primarily drivgichanges in production spending by oil and gaspamies, which largely depend upon
current and anticipated future crude oil and nafgaa demand, production volumes, and consequertttgmodity prices. Our Subsea
Technologies business is primarily affected bydeeim deepwater oil and natural gas production. ®urface Technologies business is
primarily affected by trends in land-based andlshalvater oil and natural gas production, includirends in shale production. We use crude
oil and natural gas prices as an indicator of detmAdditionally, we use rig count as an indicatbdemand which consequently influences the
level of worldwide production activity and spendidecisions.

We also focus on key risk factors when determimingoverall strategy and making decisions for @illocation. These factors include risks
associated with the global economic outlook, prodbsolescence and the competitive environmentatldeess these risks in our business
strategies, which incorporate continuing developneéteading edge technologies and cultivatingregroustomer relationships.

We have developed close working relationships withcustomers. Our Subsea Technologies businagsresflect our ability to build long-
term alliances with oil and natural gas comparties are actively engaged in offshore deepwaterldpireent and to provide solutions for their
needs in a timely and cost-effective manner. Weebelthat by working closely with our customers, evance our competitive advantage,
strengthen our market positions and improve ouraipey results. Examining our share of subseaavesrds during the year is one of the way:
we evaluate our market position.

As we evaluate our operating results, we considsingss segment performance indicators like segregahue, operating profit and capital
employed, in addition to the level of inbound osdand order backlog. A significant proportion of oevenue is recognized under the
percentage of completion method of accounting. Cashipts from such arrangements typically occumisgstones achieved under stated
contract terms. Consequently, the timing of revereeegnition is not always correlated with the timof customer payments. We may
structure our contracts to receive advance paynbatave typically use to fund engineering eff@isl inventory purchases. Working capital
(excluding cash) and net (debt) cash are therddyeperformance indicators of cash flows.

In each of our segments, we serve customers froomdrthe world. During 2013, approximately 78%our total sales were recognized out
of the United States. We evaluate internationalketarand pursue opportunities that fit our techgiclal capabilities and strategies. For
example, we have targeted opportunities in WedtAfBrazil, the North Sea and the Asia-Pacifiasadecause of the expected offshore
drilling potential in those regions.
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Business Outlook

Overall, management is optimistic about businetigipcin 2014 as global economic growth contintesecover. While expectations of future
energy demand remain closely tied to economic iggtiv major world economies, total world consunoptiof crude oil and liquid fuels is
expected to slightly increase in 2014. As a reswdtexpect crude oil prices to remain at a leval gupports strong production activity,
especially in subsea markets.

Orders were strong in every quarter in 2013 asatpes continued to award subsea projects in alhbakroughout the world. Our strong
subsea project backlog as of December 31, 2013bhic@ah with increasing demand for subsea servidagekto production activity, supports
our expectations of higher subsea revenue and maxgiansion in 2014. However, due to the lower lzackonversion rate associated with
multi-year delivery schedule awards, we expect mbgiebsea revenue growth in 2014 when compardttgrowth we have experienced over
the last few years. Subsea awards over the lagleofiyears have filled industry backlogs, andb&éeve the pricing environment should
remain positive in 2014 as oil and gas companiesie committed to developing their deepwater ptictobecause of the long-term returns
these portfolios generate.

In addition, we continue to focus on subsea praegsnd subsea services as key growth platforntsatave can expand our role as life-of-
field partners with our customers by lowering thaists and improving their recovery. In subseaisesvand in conjunction with our joint
venture with Edison Chouest Offshore LLC, we expediring our fourth riserless light well intervart system into the market in the end of
2014. Also, our service facility expansions in Nagand Brazil are expected to allow us to meegtbhaing customer demand for equipment
refurbishment. Overall, we expect market demamgeain strong for our subsea technologies systaiservice offerings worldwide despite
expectations that total industry tree orders wgllldwer as Petrobras will not repeat its awardsteel to its multi-year prealt requirements. W
continue to seek ways to leverage our capacitysimvents, our talent, and our overall cost structoigrive improvement in our execution and
our financial results.

Regarding our surface technologies portfolio, floevdown in North American surface activity in tregter half of 2012, resulting from
oversupply of equipment and lower natural gas prite to curtailed fracturing capacity expansibinis slowdown in North American surface
activity continued in 2013. As a result, the slowtichad a negative impact on profits in our fluichttol business and fracturing rental asse
our surface wellhead business in 2013 comparduktprior year. We believe the international marketur surface technologies businesses
are expected to remain strong in 2014, while taedttivity in North American markets experience@013 is expected to continue in 2014.
Shale markets remains part of our long-term styatagd we continue to invest in our surface techgiels businesses to capitalize on these
growth opportunities while taking steps to bettgegrate our product and service offerings with@awstomers’ needs.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012 AND 2011

Year Ended December 31, Change

(In millions, except percentages) 2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011
Revenue $ 7,126 $ 6,151« $ 5,099.C $ 974.¢ 16% $ 1,052 21%
Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales 5,571.. 4,832.¢ 3,966.: 738.t 15 866. 22

Selling, general and administrative

expense 694.¢ 596.¢ 479.¢ 97.¢ 16 117.C 24

Research and development expense 112.¢ 116.¢ 90.t (4.9) (4) 26.2 29

Total costs and expenses 6,378.¢ 5,546.¢ 4,536.¢ 832.C 15 1,010.( 22

Other income (expense), net 5.3 23.C (1.9 (17.7) (77) 24.4 1,743
Net interest expense (33.7) (26.€) (8.2 (7.7 (27) (18.9)  (224)
Income before income taxes 719.2 601.2 552.¢ 118.( 20 48.4 9
Provision for income taxes 212.€ 166.< 149.c 46.2 28 17.1 11
Net income 506.¢ 434.¢ 403.t 71.¢ 17 31.: 8
Less: net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests (5.2 (4.9 (3.7 (0.9 (8) (1.7 (30)
Net income attributable to FMC
Technologies, Inc. $ 501.¢ $ 430.C $ 399.6 $ 71.4 17% $ 30.2 8%

2013 Compared With 2012

Revenue increased by $974.8 million in 2013 congbéwehe prior year and reflected revenue growtallineporting segments. Revenue in
2013 included a $136.8 million unfavorable impaiciooeign currency translation. Excluding the impatforeign currency translation, total
revenue increased by $1,111.6 million year-ouear. Subsea systems and services had anotheg gganof order activity in 2013. The imp
of the higher backlog coming into 2013, combinethwdbust market activity, led to increased Sulisszhnologies sales year-over-year.
Additionally, revenue increased year-over-year essalt of our acquisition of the remaining 55%ehilling Robotics during the second
quarter of 2012. Surface Technologies posted highemue in 2013 as a result of our acquisitioawsfcompletion service business in the
fourth quarter of 2012 and higher conventional edld system sales in our surface wellhead busiméiss Middle East and Europe regions.

Gross profit (revenue less cost of sales) increasalpercentage of sales to 21.8% in 2013 frodP21n the prior year. The increase in gross
profit as a percentage of sales was primarily duadreased utilization and efficiency of enginegriesources in our Western Region subsea
business, improved performance in our subsea ssriigsiness, additional subsea contract valuelid &flated to an Angolan withholding tax
adjustment, a larger remeasurement of the MultsBi\eters contingent earn-out consideration in 2Bit2eased sales volumes and
profitability in our Schilling Robotics businesschforeign exchange gains recognized in 2013, gdbribffset by charges taken on the
ExxonMobil Hibernia Southern Extension project ur subsea business and the slowdown in the Nortarisan shale markets, primarily frc

a lack of capacity expansion, which lowered denfandur well service pumps and flowline products.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenscreased by $97.9 million year-over-year, dribbgrhigher bid and proposal expenses,
increased sales commissions and additional staffirsgipport subsea service operations in our suysams business, the full year impact of
SG&A expense as the result of our acquisition afammpletion services business in the fourth quat®012, and increased sales
commissions in our surface wellhead business.
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Other income (expense), net, reflected a $20.0amityain related to the fair valuation of our pasly held equity interest in Schilling
Robotics during 2012 and $1.7 million and $1.4 imnillof gains related to the remeasurement of foreigrency exposures in 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Further discussion of our derivativ@ruments is incorporated herein by referencefidote 14 to our consolidated financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this AahBeport on Form 10-K.

Our provision for income taxes reflected an effextax rate of 29.8% in 2013. Excluding a chardatee to withholding taxes in Angola, our
effective tax rate was 26.7% in 2013. In 2012, efigctive tax rate was 28.0%. The decrease in ffectéeve tax rate from 2012 to the adjusted
rate in 2013 was primarily due to a more favorabie of earnings. Our effective tax rate can flutéudepending on our country mix of
earnings, since our foreign earnings are genesalbject to lower tax rates than in the United Stdte certain jurisdictions, primarily Singap:
and Malaysia, our tax rate is significantly lesarthhe relevant statutory rate due to tax holidelyieh are set to expire after 2018 and 2015,
respectively. The difference between the effediiverate and the statutory U.S. federal incomeabex primarily related to differing foreign a
state tax rates.

2012 Compared With 2011

Revenue increased by $1,052.4 million in 2012 caegbéo the prior year and reflected revenue grawtdl reporting segments. Revenue in
2012 included a $188.4 million unfavorable impaiciooeign currency translation. Excluding the impatforeign currency translation, total
revenue increased by $1,240.8 million year-overy8absea systems and services had another stean@fyorder activity during 2012. The
impact of the higher backlog coming into 2012, cambd with robust market activity, led to increasathsea Technologies sales year-over-
year. Additionally, revenue increased y-over-year as a result of our acquisition of thma@ing 55% of Schilling Robotics during the second
quarter of 2012. Surface Technologies posted highemue during 2012 from higher backlog enterirgytear, which resulted from increased
demand for Wec8/Chiksan® equipment and well service pumps due to the ongstirngth of the North American oil and gas shadekets ir
2011.

Gross profit (revenue less cost of sales) decreas@dpercentage of sales to 21.4% in 2012 fro2P2# the prior year. The decline in gross
profit as a percentage of sales was primarily dube $42.0 million remeasurement of the Multi Rhisketers contingent eaout consideratic
in 2012, higher staffing and increased depreciagiqrense as a result of our expansion of our floittrol business, and certain foreign
exchange losses, partially offset by charges tak@0911 from higher project completion and post-ptation costs.

SG&A expense increased by $117.0 million year-orear, driven by higher bid and proposal expenseseased sales commissions and
additional staffing to support operations.

R&D expense increased by $26.3 million year-oyear as we continued to advance new technologiSsilisea Technologies, including sut
processing capabilities, and related to the devedy of our permanent magnet motor technologies.

Other income (expense), net, reflected a $20.0amityain related to the fair valuation of our pasly held equity interest in Schilling
Robotics during 2012 and $1.4 million and $1.9 iwrillof gains related to the remeasurement of foreigrency exposures in 2012 and 2011,
respectively. Further discussion of our derivativéruments is incorporated herein by referencenfidote 14 to our consolidated financial
statements included in Part I, Item 8 of this AahBeport on Form 10-K.

Our provision for income taxes reflected an effextax rate of 28.0% in 2012. In 2011, our effeetiax rate was 27.2%. Excluding a benefit
related to recognizing a retroactive holiday inggipore in the first quarter of 2011, our effectiae rate was 28.5%. The decrease from this
adjusted rate to the effective tax rate in 2012 pranarily due to changes in our international stiiwe during 2012, partially offset by the tax
impact of the remeasurement of the Multi Phase Metentingent earn-out consideration and a lessrédole mix of earnings. Our effective tax
rate can fluctuate depending on our country migarhings, since our foreign earnings are genesalbyect to lower tax rates than in the Un
States. In certain jurisdictions, primarily Singepand Malaysia, our tax rate is significantly l#san the relevant statutory rate due to tax
holidays which are set to expire after 2018 ands2@dspectively. The difference between the effectix rate and the statutory U.S. federal
income tax rate related primarily to differing faye and state tax rates.
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Operating Results of Business Segments

Segment operating profit is defined as total segmearenue less segment operating expenses. Tloaiof items have been excluded in
computing segment operating profit: corporate staffense, interest income and expense associatedavporate debt and investments,
income taxes and other revenue and other (expareste),

The following table summarizes our operating resfdt the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 @Ghtt 2

Year Ended December 31,

Favorable/(Unfavorable)

(In millions, except percentages) 2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011
Revenue

Subsea Technologies 4,726.¢ $ 4,006 $ 3,289.! $ 7201 8% $ 717 22%
Surface Technologies 1,806.¢ 1,598.: 1,310.¢ 208.7 13 287.: 22
Energy Infrastructure 617.2 574.] 499.( 43.1 8 75.1 15
Other revenue and intercompany eliminations (24.9) (27.6€) (0.3 2.¢ = (27.9 &
Total revenue 7,126 $ 6,151« $ 5,099.( $ 974.¢ 16% $ 1,052 21%
Net income

Segment operating profit:

Subsea Technologies 5482 $ 4322 $ 306.C $ 116. 27% $ 126.C 41%
Surface Technologies 257.2 284.: 250.1 (27.7) (10) 34.2 14
Energy Infrastructure 74.: 68.2 63.2 6.1 9 5.C 8
Intercompany eliminations (0.2 — — (0.2 * — *
Total segment operating profit 879.¢ 784.1 619.C 94.¢ 12 165.4 27
Corporate items:

Corporate expense (46.9) (41.9) (39.9 (4.5) (12) (2.4 (6)
Other revenue and other (expense), net (85.6) (119.9 (22.6) 34.: 29 (97.9  (431)
Net interest expense (33.9) (26.€) (8.2) (7.7 (27) (18.9 (224)
Total corporate items (165.€) (188.9 (70.2) 22.1 12 (118.))  (168)
Income before income taxes 714.( 596.¢ 549.1 117.¢ 20 47.% 9
Provision for income taxes 212.¢ 166.¢ 149.¢ (46.2) (28) (17.7) (11)
Net income attributable to FMC Technologies,

Inc. $ 501l $ 430 $ 399.¢ % 71.4 17% 9 30.2 8%

* Not meaningful

We report our results of operations in U.S. dojlaswvever, our earnings are generated in variougcoies worldwide. For example, we

generate a significant amount of revenue, and iaaignificant amount of costs, in Norwegian kroBegzilian real, Singapore dollar,
Malaysian ringgit, British pound, Angolan new kwarend the euro. The earnings of subsidiaries fonictg in their local currencies are
translated into U.S. dollars based upon the avesagleange rate during the period, in order to glewrorldwide consolidated results. While
the U.S. dollar results reported reflect the acteainomics of the period reported upon, the vaegarfiom prior periods include the impact of
translating earnings at different rates.
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Subsea Technologies
2013 Compared With 2012

Subsea Technologies’ revenue increased $720.Jomiti 2013 compared to the prior year. Revenu2®d3 included a $129.1 million
unfavorable impact of foreign currency translatiBrcluding the impact of foreign currency trangatiSubsea Technologies’ revenue
increased by $849.2 million during 2013 comparethéoprior year. With continued high crude oil psc¢oil and gas exploration and
production activity increased in 2013 when compadeetthe prior year, as evidenced by increased spgry oil and gas companies. This le
a stronger market for subsea products and serw¢esntered the year with a strong backlog andirmoad to have solid order activity during
2013 from high demand for subsea systems. Thegwesaryear increase in revenue was attributablagabnversion of backlog, combined
with strong order activity in 2013. The revenuer@ase in 2013 was also due in part to our acquisdf the remaining 55% of Schilling
Robotics in the second quarter of 2012.

Subsea Technologies’ operating profit totaled $348illion, or 11.6% of revenue, in 2013, comparedhe prior-year’s operating profit as a
percentage of revenue of 10.8%. The margin impr@rgrwas primarily driven by the following:

. Subsea Systems - 0.9 percentage point incresstdncreased utilization and efficiency of ergiring resources in our Western
Region business, improved results in our subsedcsdusiness, additional contract value in 2013tee to an Angolan withholding
tax adjustment, lower overall research and devetopraxpenses and liquidated damage charges reedgni2012 in Brazil, partially
offset by charges taken on the ExxonMobil Hibe®@thern Extension project; and

. Schilling Robotics - 0.1 percentage point deseedue to the gain on our previously held equitgrast in Schilling Robotics
recognized in 2012.

Foreign currency translation unfavorably impactpdrating profit in 2013 by $14.6 million comparedte prior year.
2012 Compared With 2011

Subsea Technologies’ revenue increased $717.3miti 2012 compared to the prior year. Revenu2@d?2 included a $159.9 million
unfavorable impact of foreign currency translatiBrcluding the impact of foreign currency translatitotal revenue increased by $877.2
million during 2012 compared to the prior year. M&bntinued high crude oil prices, oil and gas ersation and production activity increased
in 2012 when compared to the prior year, as eviedeémy increased spending by oil and gas compahigs.led to a stronger market for subsee
products and services. We entered the year wittoagbacklog and continued to have solid ordawigtduring 2012 from high demand for
subsea systems. The year-over-year increase inueweas attributable to the conversion of backbognbined with strong order activity in
2012. The revenue increase in 2012 was also dpartrio our acquisition of the remaining 55% of iicly Robotics in the second quarter of
2012.

Subsea Technologies’ operating profit totaled $232illion, or 10.8% of revenue, in 2012, comparedhe prior-year’s operating profit as a
percentage of revenue of 9.3%. The margin improvemwas primarily driven by the following:

. Subsea Systems - 1.1 percentage point incregstdhe conversion of lower margin backlog arghér project-related and post-
completion costs in 2011;

. Schilling Robotics - 0.2 percentage point inseedue to the acquisition of the remaining 55%aifiling Robotics in the second
quarter of 2012; and

. Multi Phase Meters0.3 percentage point increase due to higher margalized in 2012 from increased recognition ar@kptance ¢
our meters in the market.

Foreign currency translation unfavorably impactpdrating profit in 2012 by $23.5 million comparectie prior year.
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Surface Technologies
2013 Compared With 2012

Surface Technologies’ revenue increased $208.Tomilh 2013 compared to the prior year. The revanagease was driven by the acquisition
of our completion service business in the fourthrter of 2012 and our surface wellhead businefsiMiddle East and Europe regions due tc
conventional wellhead system sales. These increesespartially offset by a decrease in revenusuinfluid control business resulting from
the slowdown of the North American shale marketgtvihave decreased demand for our well service guangd flowline products. Foreign
currency translation unfavorably impacted revernu&hl.9 million in 2013 compared to the prior year.

Surface Technologies’ operating profit totaled $257illion, or 14.2% of revenue, in 2013, compat@the prior-year's operating profit as a
percentage of revenue of 17.8%. The margin dealaxe primarily driven by the following:

. Fluid Control - 2.2 percentage point decreasetdithe slowdown in the North American shale mekerimarily from a lack of
capacity expansion, which lowered demand for odt sezvice pumps and flowline products;

. Completion Services - 1.8 percentage point gemrelue to the inclusion of our completion serbigginess and lower activity in the
Canadian market which impacted results; and

. Surface Wellhead0.5 percentage point increase due to strong salemweentional wellhead systems in the Middle East Europe
2012 Compared With 2011

Surface Technologies’ revenue increased $287.3omilh 2012 compared to the prior year. The revanoeease was driven by strong demanc
for Weco®/Chiksan® equipment coupled with an increased demand for segllice pumps in our fluid control business duth&strength in
North American oil and gas shale activity in thestfihalf of 2012. Surface wellhead also experienmegdnue growth ye-over-year primarily
due to conventional wellhead system sales andaseckservices related to hydraulic fracturing égtim North America and strong market
growth in the Middle East. In addition, revenuer@ased year-over-year due to the acquisition otouorpletion services business in the fourth
quarter of 2012.

Surface Technologies’ operating profit totaled $284illion, or 17.8% of revenue, in 2012, compat@the prior-year’'s operating profit as a
percentage of revenue of 19.1%. The margin dealaxe primarily driven by the following:

. Fluid Control - 1.0 percentage point decreasetdihigher staffing and increased depreciatiorergp as a result of business
expansion;

. Completion Services - 0.5 percentage point gemrelue to the inclusion of our completion serbigginess and lower activity in the
Canadian market which impacted results; and

. Surface Wellhead - 0.3 percentage point increlageto strong sales of conventional wellhead systie the Middle East, partially
offset by higher warranty costs in Europe.
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Energy Infrastructure
2013 Compared With 2012

Energy Infrastructure’s revenue increased $43.lianiln 2013 compared to the prior year. The inseeim revenue was led by our
measurement solutions business due to the strengtbrth American oil and gas custody and contrtivity and progress on a loading
systems project with Technip for Shell’'s Preludeedlepment. Foreign currency translation favorabipacted revenue by $4.2 million in 2013
compared to the prior year.

Energy Infrastructure’s operating profit totaledt$& million, or 12.0% of revenue, in 2013, compat@the prior-year’s operating profit as a
percentage of revenue of 11.9%. The margin impr@rgrwas primarily driven by the following:

. Separation System®:6 percentage point increase due to higher salesnes and cost reduction efforts in SG&A,

. Measurement Solutiong)-7 percentage point decrease due to higher oveidusds related to growth initiativ
2012 Compared With 2011

Energy Infrastructure’s revenue increased $75.lianiln 2012 compared to the prior year. The insee revenue was led by our
measurement solutions business due to the streffitbrth American oil and gas custody and contativity, the acquisition of our automati
and control business in the second quarter of 2@ jncreased sales volumes in our material hagdlusiness. Foreign currency translation
unfavorably impacted revenue by $15.8 million ii2@ompared to the prior year.

Energy Infrastructure’s operating profit totaled%bmillion, or 11.9% of revenue, in 2012, compat@the prior-year’s operating profit as a
percentage of revenue of 12.7%. The margin dealaxe primarily driven by the following:

. Separation Systemd):7 percentage point decrease due to higher margjacts in 201:
. Loading Systems - 0.7 percentage point decréasdo inventory writeffs recorded in 2012; a

. Material Handling 0.7 percentage point increase due to improved margalized from project completio
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Corporate Items
2013 Compared With 2012

Our corporate items reduced earnings by $165.6amiih 2013, compared to $188.3 million in 2012eTfear-over-year decrease primarily
reflected the following:

. favorable variance in foreign currency of $21.5lianil;
. favorable variance related to the remeasurewifethe Multi Phase Meters contingent eaut-consideration of $13.2 millic

. unfavorable variance related to stock-based emsqtion expense, primarily from the acceleratestinvg of awards for retirement
eligible grantees, of $13.6 million; and an

. unfavorable variance related to higher intereseasp of $7.1 milliot
2012 Compared With 2011

Our corporate items reduced earnings by $188.3amiih 2012, compared to $70.2 million in 2011. Me&ar-over-year increase primarily
reflected the following:

. unfavorable variance in foreign currency of $29iliom;
. unfavorable variance related to the remeasurenfehe Multi Phase Meters contingent eatnt-consideration of $42.0 millic

. unfavorable variance associated with higher jpensxpense of $17.4 million, including $8.6 miflicelated to the curtailment of our
Norwegian defined benefit plan; and

. unfavorable variance related to higher intereseagp of $18.4 millio
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Inbound Orders and Order Backlog

Inbound orders represent the estimated sales vhleenfirmed customer orders received during tip@reéng period.

Inbound Orders
Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012
Subsea Technologies $ 6,510.. $ 4,567.:
Surface Technologies 2,049.: 1,519t
Energy Infrastructure 605.7 648.1
Intercompany eliminations and other (44.9 (12.9
Total inbound orders $ 9,120 $ 6,721.¢

Order backlog is calculated as the estimated salkee of unfilled, confirmed customer orders atitgorting date. Translation negatively
affected backlog by $374.1 million and $69.1 miilifor the years ended December 31, 2013 and 264@ectively.

Order Backlog

December 31,
(In millions) 2013 2012
Subsea Technologies $ 5,988.¢ $ 4,580.:
Surface Technologies 742.¢ 500.¢
Energy Infrastructure 288.¢ 297.1
Intercompany eliminations (21.9 (1.0
Total order backlog $ 6,998.. $ 5,377.¢

Order backlog for Subsea Technologies at Decembe2®L3, increased by $1,408.5 million compareDeécember 31, 2012, reflecting strong
inbound of subsea projects in 2013. Subsea Tecbiesi®acklog of $6.0 billion at December 31, 2048 composed of various subsea
projects, including BP’s Mad Dog Phase 2; ChevraMiseatstone; CNR International’s Baobab Field Pl3agexxonMobil’'s Hibernia

Southern Extension and Julia; Petrobras’ tree fragreement, Congro & Corvina, and pre-salt treemaanifold awards; Shell's Prelude, BC-
10 Phase 3 and Stones; Statoil's Statfjord Work®yetem, Gullfaks South, Tyrihans, Smorbukk Souttefision, Oseberg Delta, Gullfaks
Rimfaksdalen and Snorre B Platform Workover Systéatal’s Egina; and Tullow Ghana’s TEN. We expectonvert approximately 45% to
55% of December 31, 2013 backlog into revenue duzbiL4.

Order backlog for Surface Technologies at DeceritheR013, increased by $241.6 million comparedéadinber 31, 2012. The increase was
due to strong inbound orders in our Middle East Babpe surface wellhead businesses.

Order backlog for Energy Infrastructure at Decengtifer2013, decreased by $9.3 million compared toeDer 31, 2012. The decrease in
backlog was primarily due to our loading systems amtomation and control businesses, partiallyedtiy an increase in backlog in our
measurement solutions and separation systems kasie
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Substantially all of our cash balances are heldideatthe United States and are generally used &b tihe liquidity needs of our non-U.S.
operations. Most of our cash held outside the ldn8tates could be repatriated to the United Sthtegsjnder current law, any such repatriatior
would be subject to U.S. federal income tax, asstdf for applicable foreign tax credits. We hanevjgled for U.S. federal income taxes on
undistributed foreign earnings where we have detexththat such earnings are not indefinitely rested.

We expect to meet the continuing funding requiretmiehour U.S. operations with cash generated bk &§uS. operations, cash from earnings
generated by non-U.S. operations that are notiinitigf/ reinvested and our existing credit facilitycash held by non-U.S. operations is
required for funding operations in the United Sfatnd if U.S. tax has not previously been providledhe earnings of such operations, we
would make a provision for additional U.S. tax onoection with repatriating this cash, which maynieerial to our cash flows and results of
operations.

Net debt, or net cash, is a -GAAP measure reflecting cash and cash equivalaptf debt. Management uses this non-GAAP medsure
evaluate our capital structure and financial legerdVe believe net debt, or net cash, is a meauningfasure that will assist investors in
understanding our results and recognizing undeglyiends. Net (debt) cash should not be considesexh alternative to, or more meaningful
than, cash and cash equivalents as determineaddmdsnce with GAAP or as an indicator of our ogapperformance or liquidity.

The following is a reconciliation of our cash ara$le equivalents to net (debt) cash for the perpodsented.

December 31, December 31,
(In millions) 2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents $ 399.1 $ 342.1
Short-term debt and current portion of long-terrbtde (42.5) (60.9)
Long-term debt, less current portion (1,329.9) (1,580.9)
Net debt $ (973.2) $ (1,298.)

The change in our net debt position was primarilg tb cash generated from operating activities findgher income and significant
improvements in our working capital position, palfti offset by payments for capital expenditured arreduction in our commercial paper
position.

Cash flows for each of the years in the three-peaiod ended December 31, 2013, were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012 2011
Cash provided by operating activities $ 795.. % 1382 $ 164.¢
Cash required by investing activities (311.¢ (1,019.9 (273.9)
Cash provided (required) by financing activities (422.9) 881.¢ 141.(
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casiagmnts (4.5 (1.8 (3.6

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 57.C $ 19 ¢ 28.t

Operating Cash Flows

During 2013, we generated $795.4 million in caskwf from operating activities, which representé&$87.0 million increase compared to the
prior year. Our cash flows from operating actigtia 2012 were $26.4 million lower than 2011. Tlearyover-year increase in 2013 was due t
a betterment in our working capital position drivinour portfolio of projects and higher incomeidgrthe year. The improvement in our
working capital position was primarily the resultsignificant advance payments and progress bdlioig projects in 2013 compared to the [
year. The yei-over-year decrease in 2012 was due to an inciease working capital driven by our portfolio ofgects, partially offset by
higher income during the year. Our working cagi@lances can vary significantly depending on thersat terms and timing on key contra
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Investing Cash Flows

Our cash requirements for investing activities @12 were $311.6 million, primarily reflecting casgiquired by our capital expenditure prog
of $314.1 million during 2013 related to continiadestments in capacity expansion and service asgettments primarily in our Subsea
Technologies segment.

Our cash requirements for investing activities@12 were $1,019.9 million, primarily reflecting baquired by our acquisitions of the
remaining 55% of Schilling Robotics, 100% of PureeEyy and 100% of CSI which amounted to $615.5i@nij/inet of cash acquired.
Additionally, our capital expenditure program regdi cash of $405.6 million during 2012 relateddattued investments in capacity
expansion, tooling, rental tools and equipment aggs.

Financing Cash Flows

Cash required by financing activities was $422.Bioniin 2013. The decrease in cash provided frorarfcing activities from the prior year
was driven by the public offering of $800.0 milliaggregate principal amount of our senior notdsitd capital expenditures, acquisitions anc
working capital needs in 2012 and a net decreasaricommercial paper position in 2013 compared net increase in commercial paper in
2012.

Cash provided by financing activities was $881.4iom in 2012. The increase in cash from financaugivities from the prior year was driven
by the public offering of $800.0 million aggregatencipal amount of our senior notes and the isseari commercial paper to fund capital
expenditures, acquisitions and working capital segdrtially offset by $91.1 million in common skaepurchases under our share repurchas
authorization program and the repayment of indet#esl under our revolving credit facility.

Debt and Liquidity

Total borrowings at December 31, 2013 and 2012 prim@d the following:

December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012
Revolving credit facility $ — 3 100.(
Commercial paper 501. 669.¢
2.00% Notes due 2017 299.t 299.1
3.45% Notes due 2022 499.¢ 499.¢
Term loan 25.¢ 26.¢
Uncommitted credit facilities 31.¢ 22.1
Property financing 13.¢ 16.7
Total borrowings $ 1,372 $ 1,634.

Credit Facility -On March 26, 2012, we entered into a new $1.5dnillievolving credit agreement (“credit agreemewntith JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent. The credit@gment is a five-year, revolving credit facilitypésing in March 2017. Subject to certain
conditions, at our request and with the approvdhefAdministrative Agent, the aggregate commitraemider the credit agreement may be
increased by an additional $500.0 million.

Borrowings under the credit agreement bear interieatbase rate or the London interbank offeresl faiBOR”), at our option, plus an
applicable margin. Depending on our total levenag®, the applicable margin for revolving loansiga (i) in the case of LIBOR loans, from
1.125% to 1.750% and (ii) in the case of baselcaes, from 0.125% to 0.750%. The base rate iigpeest of (1) the prime rate announced b
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., (2) the Federal Funds Blas 0.5% or (3) one-month LIBOR plus 1.0%.

In connection with the new credit agreement, wmieated and repaid all outstanding amounts undepryiously existing $600.0 million
five-year revolving credit agreement and our $350illion three-year revolving credit agreement.
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The following is a summary of our credit facility Becember 31, 2013:

Commercial
Paper
(In millions) Debt Outstanding Letters Unused
Description Amount Outstanding (a) of Credit Capacity Maturity
Five-year revolving credit
facility $ 1,500.C $ — ¢ 501.¢ $ 6.C $ 992.¢ March 2017
@ Under our commercial paper program, we have tHéatn access up to $1.0 billion of financing thgh our commercial paper dealers. Our

available capacity under our revolving credit fiigiis reduced by any outstanding commercial paper.

Committed credit available under our revolving dréakility provides the ability to issue our comrol paper obligations on a long-term
basis. We had $501.4 million of commercial papsuésl under our facility at December 31, 2013. Adw both the ability and intent to
refinance these obligations on a long-term basiscommercial paper borrowings were classifiecbagterm in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2013.

Among other restrictions, the terms of the credieament include negative covenants related ts kel a financial covenant related to the
debt-to-earnings ratio. As of December 31, 2013yweee in compliance with all restrictive covenamtgler our revolving credit facility.

Senior Notes ©n September 21, 2012, we completed the publicinffeof $300.0 million aggregate principal amouh2®0% senior notes
due October 2017 and $500.0 million aggregate ra@mount of 3.45% senior notes due October Z6@Rectively, the “Senior Notes”).
Interest on the Senior Notes is payable semi-ahnunaarrears on April 1 and October 1 of each ybéaginning April 1, 2013. Net proceeds
from the offering of $793.8 million were used fbetrepayment of outstanding commercial paper atehiedness under our revolving credit
facility. Additional information about the Seniooles is incorporated herein by reference from Mai® our consolidated financial statements
included in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report Borm 10-K.

Outlook for 2014

Historically, we have generated our capital resesifrimarily through operations and, when neededugh our credit facility. The volatility
credit, equity and commodity markets creates sonteniainty for our businesses. However, managebwi®ves, based on our current
financial condition, existing backlog levels andremt expectations for future market conditiongt tive will continue to meet our short- and
long-term liquidity needs with a combination of lsas) hand, cash generated from operations andsatreapital markets. We expect to
continue to reach payment milestones on many opojects which will continue to improve our castwf position. In 2014, we expect an
estimated cash outlay from operations of $70.lieniltelated to the final payment of the Multi Phadeters earn-out consideration obligation.

We project spending approximately $400.0 millior201.4 for capital expenditures, largely towards sulisea expansion and related growth o
our subsea service offerings. We expect to mak&ibotions of approximately $9.0 million and $2Xfillion to our U.S. Non-Qualified
Defined Benefit Pension Plan and international fmenplans, respectively during 2014. Actual conitibn amounts are dependent upon plan
investment returns, changes in pension obligatietg)latory environments and other economic facide update our pension estimates
annually or more frequently upon the occurrencsigrificant events. Further, we expect to contiouestock repurchases authorized by our
Board of Directors, with the timing and amountshase repurchases dependent upon market conditnmhiquidity.

We have $992.6 million in capacity available under revolving credit facility that we expect tolize if working capital needs temporarily
increase in response to market demand. We continerealuate acquisitions, divestitures and joirituees that meet our strategic priorities.
Our intent is to maintain a level of financing sci#nt to meet these objectives.
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Contractual Obligations

The following is a summary of our contractual obtigns at December 31, 2013:

Payments Due by Period

(In millions) Total Less than 1-3 3-5 After 5
Contractual obligations payments 1 year years years years
Long-term debf® $ 1,340.0 $ 105 $ 29.1 $ 801.1 $ 499.¢
Short-term debt 32.C 32.C — — —
Interest on long-term delst 179.: 23.2 46.5 40.5 69.(
Operating leases 599.( 113.¢ 177.¢ 121.t 186.:
Purchase obligatior8 1,732. 1,604.t 127. 3 0.2
Multi Phase Meters earn-out consideration
obligation 70.1 70.1 — — —
gensmn and other post-retirement benef 21.( 21.( . . .
Unrecognized tax benefi{4 41.€ 41.€ — — —
Total contractual obligations $ 4,015 $ 1,916.c $ 380.6 $ 963.2 $ 755.1

(@)

(b)

©

(d)

Our available long-term debt is dependent uporcourpliance with covenants, including negative ceves related to liens, and a financial covenan
related to the debt-to-earnings ratio. Any violata covenants or other events of default, whigreot waived or cured, or changes in our credit
rating could have a material impact on our abiiitynaintain our committed financing arrangements.

Only interest on our Senior Notes is included iatidble. During 2013, we paid $27.1 million forargst charges, net of interest capitalized.

In the normal course of business, we enter inteegents with our suppliers to purchase raw maseoiaservices. These agreements include a
requirement that our supplier provide productsesvises to our specifications and require us toerekirm purchase commitment to our supplier. As
substantially all of these commitments are assediatith purchases made to fulfill our customerstens, the costs associated with these agreement
will ultimately be reflected in cost of sales orr gonsolidated statements of income.

We expect to contribute approximately $21.0 millaord $9.0 million to our international pension garepresenting primarily the U.K. and Norway
qualified pension plans, and our U.S. Non-Qualifiefined Benefit Pension Plan, respectively, inf2@®equired contributions for future years
depend on factors that cannot be determined atithés

It is reasonably possible that $41.6 million oblldgies for unrecognized tax benefits will be sdtduring 2014, and this amount is reflected in
income taxes payable in our consolidated balaneetsts of December 31, 2013. Due to the high dexjreecertainty regarding the timing of
potential future cash flows associated with renmgjriiabilities for unrecognized tax benefits, we anable to make a reasonable estimate of the
period in which such liabilities might be paid. Bdiugh unrecognized tax benefits are not contractoiggations, they are presented in this table
because they represent demands on our liquidity.
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Other Off -Balance Sheet Arrangements

The following is a summary of other off-balanceath@rangements at December 31, 2013:

Amount of Commitment Expiration per Period

(In millions) Total Less than 1-3 3-5 After 5
Other off-balance sheet arrangements amount 1 year years years years
Letters of credit and bank guarantees  $ 819.C % 342.¢ % 2247 $ 142¢ $ 109.:
Surety bonds 27.¢ 0.€ — — 27.2
Total other off-balance sheet arrangeme $ 846.6 $ 343.C $ 2247 $ 142¢ $ 136.t

As collateral for our performance on certain sal@stracts or as part of our agreements with insir@ompanies, we are liable under letters o
credit, surety bonds and other bank guaranteesder to obtain these financial instruments, we feag to various financial institutions in
amounts competitively determined in the marketpl&ngr ability to generate revenue from certain @ets is dependent upon our ability to
obtain these off-balance sheet financial instrumertese off-balance sheet financial instrumentg Inearenewed, revised or released based c
changes in the underlying commitment. Historicatlyr commercial commitments have not been drawm tip@ material extent; consequer
management believes it is not likely there willdl@ms against these commitments that will havegative impact on our key financial ratios
or our ability to obtain financing.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting priresplequires management to make certain
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affeaefiorted amounts of assets and liabilities atitties of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses duenggtinds presented. Management has reviewed ¢thiéisal accounting estimates with the
Audit Committee of our Board of Directors. We beéehe following critical accounting estimates uge@reparing our financial statements
address all important accounting areas where theeaf the estimates or assumptions is materialtduhe levels of subjectivity and judgm
necessary to account for highly uncertain matteth@susceptibility of such matters to change.$ete 1 to our consolidated financial
statements included in Part I, Item 8 of this AahReport on Form 10-K for a description of oumsfigant accounting policies.

Percentage of Completion Method of Accounting

We recognize revenue on construction-type manufiactyrojects using the percentage of completiothoeh where revenue is recognized as
work progresses on each contract. There are seaaraptable methods under U.S. generally acceptamliating principles of measuring
progress toward completion. Most frequently, we thgeratio of costs incurred to date to total eated contract costs at completion to measu
progress toward completion.

We execute contracts with our customers that glei$cribe the equipment, systems and/or seniegsate will provide and the amount of
consideration we will receive. After analyzing trawings and specifications of the contract reauemrts, our project engineers estimate total
contract costs based on their experience with aimpitojects and then adjust these estimates faifgpasks associated with each project, such
as technical risks associated with a new desigetsGassociated with specific risks are estimateadsgssing the probability that conditions
arise that will affect our total cost to compléte project. After work on a project begins, assuomstthat form the basis for our calculation of
total project cost are examined on a regular asisour estimates are updated to reflect the moetmt information and management’s best
judgment.

Revenue recognized using the percentage of corapletethod was approximately 55%, 51% and 54% f#ars ended December 31, 2(
2012 and 2011, respectively. A significant portadrour total revenue recognized under the percenthgompletion method relates to our
Subsea Technologies segment, primarily for subsplmtion and production equipment projects thablve the design, engineering,
manufacturing and assembly of complex, customeciBpesystems. The systems are not entirely builirf standard bills of material and
typically require extended periods of time to dasigd construct.

Total estimated contract cost affects both themageecognized in a period as well as the repgtefit or loss on a project. The determinatior
of profit or loss on a contract requires considerabf contract revenue, change orders and cldess,costs incurred to date and estimated

to complete. Anticipated losses on contracts aregeized in full in the period in which they areidified. Profits are recognized based on the
estimated project profit multiplied by the percey@aomplete.

The total estimated contract cost in percentagmufpletion accounting is a critical accountingrastie because it can materially affect reve
and profit and requires us to make judgments almatters that are uncertain. There are many fadtursiding, but not limited to, the ability to
properly execute the engineering and designinggshesnsistent with our customers’ expectationsata@ability and costs of labor and
resources, productivity and weather, that can affexaccuracy of our cost estimates, and ultipatelr future profitability. In the past, we
have realized both lower and higher than expectadjims and have incurred losses as a result ofesden changes in our project costs;
however, historically, our estimates have beenomssly dependable regarding the recognition ofreeeand profit on percentage of
completion contracts. Total adjustments (represgrttie difference between estimated and actualts@$or all contracts resulted in net
increases to operating profit of 0.1% and 0.7% psraentage of total beginning contract value lieryears ended December 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively.

The amount of revenue recognized using the pergerdbcompletion method is sensitive to changesiinestimates of total contract costs.
each contract in progress at December 31, 201%; mdrease or decrease in the estimated margir@am each contract would have increi
or decreased total revenue and pre-tax income By$8illion for the year ended December 31, 2013.
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I nventory Valuation

Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost or eetlizable value. In order to determine net realzahlue, we evaluate each component of
inventory on a regular basis to determine whethisréxcess or obsolete. We record the declinkércarrying value of estimated excess or
obsolete inventory as a reduction of inventory as@n expense included in cost of sales in thegariwhich it is identified. Our estimate of
excess and obsolete inventory is a critical acdngrastimate because it is highly susceptible #ngle from period to period. In addition, the
estimate requires management to make judgments gimfuture demand for inventory.

In order to quantify excess or obsolete inventary begin by preparing a candidate listing of theponents of inventory that have a quantity
on hand in excess of usage within the most regesyear period. The list is reviewed with salegjiarering, production and materials
management personnel to determine whether theflmdtential excess or obsolete inventory itemecisurate. As part of this evaluation,
management considers whether there has been aechmatig market for finished goods, whether theitebg future demand for on-hand
inventory items and whether there are componenisvehtory that incorporate obsolete technologpahly, an assessment is made of our
historical usage of inventory previously writterf a excess or obsolete, and a further adjustmédhgtestimate is made based on this histc
experience. As a result, our estimate of excesbsolete inventory is sensitive to changes in apsioms about future usage of inventory. See
Note 5 to our consolidated financial statementtubhed in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report oorfa 1(-K for additional information relate
to inventory valuation adjustments.

I mpairment of Long-Lived and I ntangible Assets

Long-lived assets, including property, plant andipment, identifiable intangible assets being aimed and capitalized software costs are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or chaimgescumstances indicate the carrying amount efltimg-lived asset may not be
recoverable. The carrying amount of a long-liveseass not recoverable if it exceeds the sum ofitidiscounted cash flows expected to resul
from the use and eventual disposition of the a#sietis determined that an impairment loss hasuoed, the loss is measured as the amount |
which the carrying amount of the long-lived asseteeds its fair value. The determination of futcash flows as well as the estimated fair
value of long-lived assets involves significanirastes on the part of management. Because theatlysua lack of quoted market prices for
long-lived assets, fair value of impaired assetgpg&ally determined based on the present valfiexmected future cash flows using discount
rates believed to be consistent with those usqgtibgipal market participants, or based on a midtqf operating cash flow validated with
historical market transactions of similar assetenstpossible.

I mpairment of Goodwill

Goodwill is not subject to amortization but is &gkfor impairment on an annual basis, or more ®atjy if impairment indicators arise. We
have established October 31 as the date of ourahtest for impairment of goodwill. Reporting unitith goodwill are tested for impairment
by first assessing qualitative factors to determwvhether the existence of events or circumstarezdslto a determination that it is more likely
than not that the fair value of the reporting usiess than its carrying amount. If after assegtie totality of events or circumstances, or b
on management’s judgment, we determine it is nikedyl than not that the fair value of a reportingtus less than its carrying amount, a two-
step quantitative impairment test is performed.

When using the two-step quantitative impairmert, @stermining the fair value of a reporting usijudgmental in nature and involves the use
of significant estimates and assumptions. Thesmatds and assumptions include revenue growth asig®perating margins used to calculate
projected future cash flows, discount rates betigeebe consistent with those used by principalkeigparticipants and future economic and
market conditions. Our estimates are based upamgz®ns believed to be reasonable, but whichrarerently uncertain and unpredictable
and do not reflect unanticipated events and cir¢antes that may occur.

A lower fair-value estimate in the future for arfyooir reporting units could result in goodwill imMipaents. Factors that could trigger a lower
fair-value estimate include sustained price desligest increases, regulatory or political envirentrchanges, and other changes in market
conditions, such as decreased prices in marketdlesesactions for similar assets. We have notgrized any goodwill impairment for the
years ended December 31, 2013 or 2012, as thedfaies of our reporting units with goodwill balar@xceeded their carrying amounts
addition, there were no negative conditions, @utering events, that occurred in 2013 or 2012 ragyus to perform additional impairment
reviews.
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Accounting for Income Taxes

Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets anititiés, and reserves for uncertain tax positiceflect management’s best assessment of
estimated future taxes to be paid. We are subjeiccome taxes in the United States and numeragegyfojurisdictions. Significant judgments
and estimates are required in determining our datsed income tax expense.

In determining our current income tax provision, agsess temporary differences resulting from difetreatments of items for tax and
accounting purposes. These differences resultferigel tax assets and liabilities, which are reedrih our consolidated balance sheets. Whel
we maintain deferred tax assets, we must asse$ikehieood that these assets will be recoveredugh adjustments to future taxable income.
To the extent we believe recovery is not likely, @gtablish a valuation allowance. We record amaiiae reducing the asset to a value we
believe will be recoverable based on our expectaiicfuture taxable income. We believe the accagnéstimate related to the valuation
allowance is a critical accounting estimate becaLisehighly susceptible to change from periogéwiod. It requires management to make
assumptions about our future income over the lofeébe deferred tax assets, and the impact of &sing or decreasing the valuation allowanc
is potentially material to our results of operation

Forecasting future income requires us to use afignt amount of judgment. In estimating futureame, we use our internal operating
budgets and long-range planning projections. Weldgvour budgets and long-range projections baseéaent results, trends, economic and
industry forecasts influencing our segments’ peni@nce, our backlog, planned timing of new prodashthes and customer sales
commitments. Significant changes in the expectalizahility of a deferred tax asset would requirattwe adjust the valuation allowance
applied against the gross value of our total detktax assets, resulting in a change to net income.

As of December 31, 2013, we believe that it ismote likely than not that we will generate futuagdble income in certain foreign
jurisdictions in which we have cumulative net op@losses and, therefore, we have provided aatiain allowance against the rela
deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2013, Vievieehat it is more likely than not that we whlive future taxable income in the United
States to utilize our domestic deferred tax as3étsrefore, we have not provided a valuation allowgaagainst any domestic deferred tax
assets.

The need for a valuation allowance is sensitivehi@mnges in our estimate of future taxable incofeul estimate of future taxable income was
25% lower than the estimate used, we would stillegate sufficient taxable income to utilize suciméstic deferred tax assets.

The calculation of our income tax expense involdesling with uncertainties in the application ofrggex tax laws and regulations in
numerous jurisdictions in which we operate. We gaize tax benefits related to uncertain tax pos#izwhen, in our judgment, it is more likely
than not that such positions will be sustainedxan@nation, including resolutions of any relateg@gls or litigation, based on the technical
merits. We adjust our liabilities for uncertain faositions when our judgment changes as a resukwfinformation previously unavailable.
Due to the complexity of some of these uncertasntieeir ultimate resolution may result in paymehtt are materially different from our
current estimates. Any such differences will béeicted as adjustments to income tax expense ipdtieds in which they are determined.
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Accounting for Pensions

Our pension and other post-retirement (health aadklife insurance) obligations are described iteNid to our consolidated financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this AahReport on Form 10-K. In order to measure theeagp and obligations associated with our
pension benefits, management must make a variggtohates, including discount rates used to vedwtain liabilities, expected return on p
assets set aside to fund these costs, rate of cmafien increase, employee turnover rates, retinena¢es, mortality rates and other factors.
update these estimates on an annual basis or negpgehtly upon the occurrence of significant evefiiese accounting estimates bear the ris
of change due to the uncertainty associated with eatimate, as well as the fact that these estBrae difficult to measure. Different
estimates used by management could result in cogrézing different amounts of expense over diffieeriods of time.

Due to the specialized and statistical nature ef¢hcalculations which attempt to anticipate fuewents, we engage third-party specialists to
assist management in evaluating our assumptiongkhss appropriately measuring the costs and atiigs associated with these pension
benefits. The discount rate and expected retunplam assets are primarily based on investmentyi@gilable and the historical performance
of our plan assets. These elements are criticallading estimates because they are subject to rearags judgment and can materially aff
net income.

The discount rate used affects the interest casponent of net periodic pension cost. The discoatetis based on rates at which the pension
benefit obligation could be effectively settledampresent value basis. Discount rates are deriyédentifying a theoretical settlement portfc
of long-term, high quality (“AA” rated) corporat®bds at our determination date that is sufficierirovide for the projected pension benefit
payments. A single discount rate is determinedrésailts in a discounted value of the pension biepafyments that equate to the market value
of the selected bonds. The resulting discountisateflective of both the current interest rateisstvment and the pension’s distinct liability
characteristics. Significant changes in the distoate, such as those caused by changes in tltbatiele, the mix of bonds available in the
market, the duration of selected bonds and thengrof expected benefit payments, may result intilityain our pension expense and pension
liabilities. The weighted average discount ratedusecompute net periodic benefit cost decreas@d@%o in 2013 from 4.60% in 2012 for
U.S. plans and 4.46% in 2013 from 4.54% in 2012rfternational plans.

Our pension expense is sensitive to changes iestimate of the discount rate. Holding other asgiogng constant, a 50 basis point reduction
in the discount rate would increase annual pensigpense by approximately $8.1 million before tak#siding other assumptions constant, a
50 basis point increase in the discount rate wdelttease annual pension expense by approximatdyn$iilion before taxes.

Net periodic pension cost includes an underlyingeexed lon-term rate of return on plan assets. Our estimftieeoexpected rate of return on
plan assets is primarily based on the historicdbpmance of plan assets, current market condifions asset allocation and long-term growth
expectations. We assumed a weighted average egpatéeof return for our pension plans of 9.0092013 and 2012 for our U.S. plans and
7.44% in 2013 and 7.62% 2012 for our international plans. The expecedm on plan assets is recognized as part oféhpariodic pensio
cost. The difference between the expected returttaactual return on plan assets is amortizedtheeexpected remaining service life of
employees, resulting in a lag time between the stalperformance and its impact on plan results.

Our pension expense is sensitive to changes iestimate of the expected rate of return on plaatasklolding other assumptions constant, a
50 basis points increase or decrease in the expesttie of return on plan assets would decreasgcogase annual pension expense by
approximately $3.9 million before taxes, respedyive

The actuarial assumptions and estimates made bggearent in determining our pension benefit oblaggatimay differ materially from actual
results as a result of changing market and econoamditions and changes in plan participants astang While we believe the assumptions
used are appropriate, differences in actual expegi®@r changes in assumptions may materially affecfinancial position or results of
operations.
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Determination of Fair Value in Business Combinations

Accounting for the acquisition of a business reggithe allocation of the purchase price to theouarassets acquired and liabilities assumed ¢
their respective fair values. The determinatioffia@fvalue requires the use of significant estimated assumptions, and in making these
determinations, management uses all availablermdton. We have up to one year after the acquisitlosing date to finalize these fair value
determinations. For tangible and identifiable imgfilole assets acquired in a business combinatiendétermination of fair value utilizes several
valuation methodologies including discounted cadsivg which has assumptions with respect to thentinaind amount of future revenue and
expenses associated with an asset. The assumptaaiesin performing these valuations include, betrant limited to, discount rates, future
revenues and operating costs, projections of dajptds, and other assumptions believed to be stamtiwith those used by principal market
participants. Due to the specialized nature ofdhedculations, we engage third-party specialstssist management in evaluating our
assumptions as well as appropriately measurinfpihgalue of assets acquired and liabilities asstin\ny significant change in key
assumptions may cause the acquisition accountibg tevised. Business combinations are describBidia 4 to our consolidated financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this AahReport on Form 10-K.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In July 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standalddate No. 2013-11, Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit Whieta
Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Lossaofax Credit Carryforward Exist8.This update requires the netting of unrecognized
benefits against a deferred tax asset for a lossher carryforward that would apply in settlemehthe uncertain tax positions. Under the
amended guidance, unrecognized tax benefits witldited against all available same-jurisdictiors losother tax carryforwards that would be
utilized, rather than only against carryforwardsttare created by the unrecognized tax benefits.updated guidance will be applied
prospectively, effective January 1, 2014. We belithe adoption of this guidance concerns disclosalgand will not have an impact on our
consolidated financial position or results of opierss.

Management believes that other recently issuedustitny standards, which are not yet effective, nilt have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements upon adoption.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

We are subject to financial market risks, includitugtuations in foreign currency exchange rates iaterest rates. In order to manage and
mitigate our exposure to these risks, we may usgal®e financial instruments in accordance wisitablished policies and procedures. We dc
not use derivative financial instruments wheredhjective is to generate profits solely from tragactivities. At December 31, 2013 and 2012
our derivative holdings consisted of foreign cuoyeforward contracts and foreign currency instruta@mbedded in purchase and sale
contracts.

These forward-looking disclosures only addressmi@kimpacts from market risks as they affect fi@ncial instruments and do not include
other potential effects that could impact our basgas a result of changes in foreign currencyamgdrates, interest rates, commaodity prices
or equity prices.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We conduct operations around the world in a numbéifferent currencies. Most of our significanté@n subsidiaries have designated the
local currency as their functional currency. Oumn@ags are therefore subject to change due touhtins in foreign currency exchange rates
when the earnings in foreign currencies are tréadlato U.S. dollars. We do not hedge this tramsiampact on earnings. A 10% increase or
decrease in the average exchange rates of aljfooeirrencies at December 31, 2013, would havegathour revenue and income before
income taxes attributable to FMC Technologies, bycapproximately 5% and 2%, respectively.

When transactions are denominated in currencies t¢ttlan our subsidiaries’ respective functionateuncies, we manage these exposures
through the use of derivative instruments to mtegaur risk. We use foreign currency forward cortsdo hedge the foreign currency
fluctuation associated with firmly committed anddoasted foreign currency denominated paymentseaipts. The derivative instruments
associated with these anticipated transactiondesignated and qualify as cash flow hedges, asdasthe gains and losses associated with
these instruments are recorded in other compreleirgiome until such time that the underlying testi®dns are recognized. When an
anticipated transaction in a currency other thanftimctional currency of an entity is recognizecassset or liability on the balance sheet, we
also hedge the foreign currency fluctuation withidgive instruments after netting our exposuresldwide. These derivative instruments do
not qualify as cash flow hedges.

Occasionally, we enter into contracts or otherrageanents that are subject to foreign exchangeufiticins that qualify as embedded derivative
instruments. In those situations, we enter intavdéive foreign exchange contracts that hedge ttee ffluctuations due to movements in the
foreign exchange rates. These hedges are notdrasteash flow hedges.

We have prepared a sensitivity analysis of ourifmreurrency forward contracts hedging anticipdtadsactions that are accounted for as cas
flow hedges. This analysis assumes that each forigency rate would change 10% against a stroengethen weaker U.S. dollar. A 10%
increase in the value of the U.S. dollar would Heisuan additional loss of $118.8 million in thetrfair value of cash flow hedges reflected in
our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 20t&ss these contracts are deemed to be ineffechanges in the derivative fair value
will not have an immediate impact on our resultepérations since the gains and losses associdttethese instruments are recorded in othel
comprehensive income. When the anticipated traiosescbccur, these changes in value of derivatimssument positions will be offset against
changes in the value of the underlying transaction.

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2013, we had unhedged variabledegieof $501.4 million with a weighted averageiest rate of 0.33%. Using sensitivity
analysis to measure the impact of a 10% adversement in the interest rate, or three basis pomtsild result in an increase to interest
expense of $0.2 million.

We assess effectiveness of forward foreign curreocyracts designated as cash flow hedges baseldamges in fair value attributable to
changes in spot rates. We exclude the impact atélite to changes in the difference between thersp® and the forward rate for the
assessment of hedge effectiveness and recognizdahge in fair value of this component immediatelgarnings. Considering that the
difference between the spot rate and the forwasdisgproportional to the differences in the instmates of the countries of the currencies k
traded, we have exposure to relative changeséndst rates between countries in our results afatipas. To the extent any one interest rate
increases by 10% across all tenors and other desritriterest rates remain fixed, and assuming no chandiscount rates, we would expec
recognize a decrease of $2.1 million in earninghénperiod of change. Based on our portfolio adetember 31, 2013 , we have material
positions with exposure to the interest rates iUited States, Brazil, the United Kingdom, Sirmyap the European Community and Norway

43




ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC IAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaimg adequate internal control over financigaring, as such term is defined in Rule
13a15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Guteinal control over financial reporting is a preselesigned under the supervision of
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offiderprovide reasonable assurance regarding trebiity of financial reporting and the
preparation of our financial statements in accocdamith generally accepted accounting principldsimdernal control systems, no matter how
well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefeneen internal control systems determined to fect¥e can provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to financial statement pa¢ipa and reporting.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomainagement, we conducted an evaluation of thetafémess of our internal control over
financial reporting based on the frameworlriternal Control—Integrated Framewo(#992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Basedusrevaluation, we concluded that our internal @raver financial reporting was
effective in providing this reasonable assurancef &ecember 31, 2013.

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accagnfirm, has audited the Company’s consolidatedrfaial statements as of and for the
three-year period ended December 31, 2013, ans$izesd an audit report on the Company'’s internatrobover financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013, which is included herein.

/s/ JOHN T. GREMP /s/ MARYANN T. SEAMAN
John T. Gremp Maryann T. Seaman
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 21, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of FMC Texthgies, Inc.:

We have audited FMC Technologies, Inc.’s intermaitol over financial reporting as of December 211 3, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (1992) isshgdhe Committee of Sponsoring Organizations eftheadway Commission (COSO).
FMC Technologies, Inc.’s management is responséilslenaintaining effective internal control overdincial reporting and for its assessment o
the effectiveness of internal control over finaheggporting, included in the accompanying ManagetseReport on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to exggen opinion on the FMC Technologies, Inc.’s imicontrol over financial reporting based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtagsonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing aald@ing the design and operating effectivenesstefnal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestave believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (&ajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettfansactions and dispositions of the assetssofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, FMC Technologies, Inc. maintainedall material respects, effective internal cohtreer financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013, based on criteria establishétennal Control—Integrated Framework (1992) issbg the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of FMC Technologies, Inc. and sisivid as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and thedeconsolidated statements of
income, comprehensive income, cash flows, and awimgstockholders’ equity for each of the yearthanthree-year period ended
December 31, 2013, and our report dated Februgr®u expressed an unqualified opinion on thossadalated financial statements.

/sl KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 21, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of FMC Texbgies, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of FMC Technologies, Inc. and subsidigtiee Company) as of December 31,
2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statsmé&income, comprehensive income, cash flowd,cmanges in stockholders’ equity for
each of the years in the three-year period endegi@ber 31, 2013. In connection with our auditsheftonsolidated financial statements, we
also have audited financial statement schedulehiése consolidated financial statements and fimhstatement schedule are the responsibilit
of the Company’s management. Our responsibilitp isxpress an opinion on these consolidated fimhstatements and financial statement
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, ana¢uéts of their operations and their cash flowsefach of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity Wwit8. generally accepted accounting principles. Asour opinion, the related financial
statement schedule I, when considered in reldtidhe basic consolidated financial statementsrtasea whole, presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2013, based on criteria establishedtémrial Control—Integrated Framework
(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgdiuns of the Treadway Commission, and our regiated February 21, 2014 expressed
an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of@mnpany’s internal control over financial reporting

/sl KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 21, 2014
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FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIE S

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In millions, except per share data)
Revenue:
Product revenue
Service and other revenue
Total revenue
Costs and expenses:
Cost of product revenue
Cost of service and other revenue
Selling, general and administrative expense
Research and development expense
Total costs and expenses
Other income (expense), net
Income before interest income, interest expenserammine taxes
Interest income
Interest expense
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income attributable to FMC Technologies, Inc.
Earnings per share attributable to FMC Technolqdies (Note 3):
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding (Note 3):
Basic
Diluted

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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2013 2012 2011
57247 $ 5198.. $ 4,347.¢
1,401 953. 751.
7,126. 6,151.c 5,099.(
4,562. 4,155 3,473.¢
1,009.( 677. 492.¢

694.¢ 596.¢ 479.¢
112.4 116.€ 90.
6,378.¢ 5,546.¢ 4,536.¢
5.2 23.( (1.4)
752.¢ 627.¢ 561.(
0.7 (0.4) 2.€
(34.4) (26.2) (11.0
719.: 601.2 552.¢
212.¢ 166.4 149.
506.¢€ 434 403.F
(5.2) (4.8) (3.7)
501.¢ $ 430.C $ 399.¢
21C $ 17¢ $ 1.6€
21C $ 1.7¢ $ 1.64
238.: 239.7 241.:
239.1 240.¢ 243.:




FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIE S
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012 2011
Net income $ 506.¢ $ 434.¢ % 403.t
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustmefits (99.7) (1.9 (51.0)
Net gains (losses) on hedging instruments:
Net gains (losses) arising during the period 27.1 29.C (3.0
Reclassification adjustment for net gains inclugedet income (5.2 (2.3 (19.9)
Net gains (losses) on hedging instrumétts 21.¢ 26.7 (22.¢)
Pension and other post-retirement benefits:
Net actuarial gain (loss) arising during the period 112t (5.2 (132.))
Prior service cost arising during the period (0.9 — (0.6)
Reclassification adjustment for settlement loseekided in net income 3.2 9.€ 5.€
Reclassification adjustment for amortization obpservice credit
included in net income 0.3 (0.7) (0.9
Reclassification adjustment for amortization of aetiuarial loss included
in net income 18.2 19.: 10.t
Reclassification adjustment for amortization ohgiéion asset included in
net income (0.7) (0.2 (0.9
Net pension and other post-retirement bené&fits 133.1 22.¢ (217.9)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 55.2 47.¢ (191.%
Comprehensive income 561.¢ 482.¢ 211.¢
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolimgrest (5.2 (4.8 3.7
Comprehensive income attributable to FMC Techn@sginc. $ 556.7 $ 477.¢ 3 208.]

@ Net of income tax (expense) benefii$(1.6) , $(2.2) and $5.1 for the years ended Deee®b, 2013 , 2012 and 201fespectively
@ Net of income tax (expense) benefii$1.0 , $(12.3) and $12.9 for the years ended DeeeBih 2013 , 2012 and 201fespectively
©®  Net of income tax (expense) benefii$(81.8) , $(6.5) and $58.0 for the years ended Deee 31, 2013 , 2012 and 201rfespectively

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIE S
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

(In millions, except par value data) 2013 2012
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 399.1 % 342.1
Trade receivables, net of allowances of $7.4 ir328d $6.1 in 2012 (Note 21) 2,067. 1,765.!
Inventories, net (Note 5) 980.< 965.]
Derivative financial instruments (Note 14) 165.€ 734
Prepaid expenses 41.F 317
Deferred income taxes (Note 10) 59.1 55.¢
Income taxes receivable 14.¢ 17.¢
Other current assets 295.2 237.(
Total current assets 4,023.( 3,488.:
Investments 44.: 37.4
Property, plant and equipment, net (Note 6) 1,349.: 1,243t
Goodwill (Note 7) 580.% 597.%
Intangible assets, net (Note 7) 315.¢ 347.¢
Deferred income taxes (Note 10) 36.¢ 60.C
Derivative financial instruments (Note 14) 68.E 9.2
Other assets 187.¢ 119.¢
Total assets $ 6,605t $ 5,902.¢
Liabilities and equity
Short-term debt and current portion of long-terrbtdlote 9) $ 25 $ 60.2
Accounts payable, trade 750.7 664.2
Advance payments and progress billings 803.2 501.¢
Accrued payroll 222.( 202.(
Derivative financial instruments (Note 14) 171.5 50.
Income taxes payable 138.1 40.2
Current portion of accrued pension and other petiternent benefits (Note 11) 11.C 20.¢
Deferred income taxes (Note 10) 66.Z 67.t
Other current liabilities 409.t 363.2
Total current liabilities 2,614." 1,970.
Long-term debt, less current portion (Note 9) 1,329.¢ 1,580.
Accrued pension and other post-retirement benédits, current portion (Note 11) 84.C 266.5
Derivative financial instruments (Note 14) 47.1 11.1
Deferred income taxes (Note 10) 90.2 57.¢
Other liabilities 103.¢ 163.¢
Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 18)
Stockholders’ equity (Note 13):
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 12.0 shares apnéth no shares issued in 2013 or 2012 — _
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 600.0 shares amgtbim 2013 and 2012; 286.3 shares issued in 204 2@12; and 235.8 and
237.1 shares outstanding in 2013 and 2012, respécti 14 14
Common stock held in employee benefit trust, at;& shares in 2013 and 2012 (7.7) (7.9)
Common stock held in treasury, at cost, 50.3 and dlares in 2013 and 2012, respectively (1,196.6) (1,102.¢
Capital in excess of par value of common stock 714.7 697.2
Retained earnings 3,146.: 2,644,
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (340.%) (396.0)
Total FMC Technologies, Inc. stockholders’ equity 2,317.. 1,836.¢
Noncontrolling interests 19.1 16.c
Total equity 2,336.: 1,853..
Total liabilities and equity $ 6,605.t $ 5,902.¢




The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIE S
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012 2011
Cash provided (required) by operating activities:
Net income $ 506.¢ $ 434¢ % 403.t
Adjustments to reconcile income to cash providedired) by operating activities:
Depreciation 156.( 113.1 86.1
Amortization 53.¢ 33.1 21.7
Multi Phase Meters contingent earn-out considenatialigation 28.¢ 42.C —
Employee benefit plan and stock-based compensatisis 93.F 110.¢ 77.€
Deferred income tax benefit (20.9) (9.9) (15.7)
Unrealized loss (gain) on derivative instruments (5.7) 13.t (14.2)
Other 1€ (6.2 (6.9
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffetts of acquisitions:
Trade receivables, net (391.0 (337.9) (286.%)
Inventories, net (28.9) (206.€) (162.€)
Accounts payable, trade 103.¢ 83.C 214.7
Advance payments and progress billings 329.( 25.¢ (95.9
Income taxes 77.€ (71.9) 70.t
Payment of Multi Phase Meters earn-out consideratio (32.2) — —
Accrued pension and other post-retirement beneiés, (60.7) (63.1) (112.9
Other assets and liabilities, net (17.0) (23.0 (15.%)
Cash provided by operating activities 795. 138.¢ 164.¢
Cash provided (required) by investing activities:
Capital expenditures (314.)) (405.6) (274.0
Acquisitions, net of cash and cash equivalentsissdu — (615.5) —
Proceeds from disposal of assets 7.4 3.2 2.2
Other 4.9 (2.0) 1.9
Cash required by investing activities (311.¢ (1,019.9 (273.7)
Cash provided (required) by financing activities:
Net increase in short-term debt 8.t 134 0.
Net increase (decrease) in commercial paper (168.9) 189.7 269.1
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 26.2 1,068.¢ —
Repayments of long-term debt (136.0) (288.¢) (5.€)
Purchase of treasury stock (116.9) (91.7) (114.0
Payment of Multi Phase Meters earn-out consideratio (25.1) — —
Payments related to taxes withheld on stock-basegpensation (17.5) (34.9) (15.5)
Excess tax benefits 8.C 27.1 8.7
Other 1.7 (3.0 (2.2
Cash provided (required) by financing activities (422.9) 881. 141.(
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casratnts (4.5 (1.8) (3.6
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 57.C (1.9) 28.t
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 342.1 344.( 315t
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 3991 § 3421 % 344.(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftinsolidated financial statements.
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FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIE S

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common
Stock Held in Accumulated
Treasury and Capital in Other
Employee Excess of Par Comprehensive Non- Total
Common Benefit Value of Retained Income controlling Stockholders’
(In millions) Stock Trust Common Stock Earnings (Loss) Interest Equity
Balance at December 31, 201C$ 14 % (9519 $ 698.7 $ 1814¢ $ (252.) $ 10 $ 1,322.
Net income — — — 399.¢ — 3.7 403
Other comprehensive loss _ _ _ _ (191.7) _ (191.)
Issuance of common stock — — 1.2 — — _ 1.2
Excess tax benefits on stock-
based payment arrangements — — 8.7 — — — 8.7
Taxes withheld on issuance of
stock-based awards — — (15.5) — — — (15.5
Purchases of treasury stock
(Note 13) — (114.0 — — — — (114.0
Reissuances of treasury stock
(Note 13) — 19.¢ (29.9 — — — —
Net purchases of common stoc
for employee benefit trust — (2.9) 0.2 — — — (2.7)
Stock-based compensation
(Note 12) — — 26.2 — — — 26.2
Other — — 0.1 — — 1.2) (1.2
Balance at December 31, 2011$ 14  $ (1,047.) $ 700.C $ 2,214, % (4435 % 131  $ 1,437
Net income — — — 430. — 4.8 434.
Other comprehensive income — — — — 47.€ — 47.€
Issuance of common stock _ _ 0.7 _ _ _ 0.7
Excess tax benefits on stock-
based payment arrangements — — 27.1 — — — 27.1
Taxes withheld on issuance of
stock-based awards — — (34.9) — — — (34.9)
Purchases of treasury stock
(Note 13) — (91.7) — — — — (91.7)
Reissuances of treasury stock
(Note 13) — 30.£ (30.9 — — — —
Net purchases of common stock
for employee benefit trust — (2.0 0.€ — — — (1.9
Stock-based compensation
(Note 12) — — 34.C — — — 34.C
Other — — — — — (1.6 (1.6
Common
Stock Held in Accumulated
Treasury and Capital in Other
Employee Excess of Par Comprehensive Non- Total
Common Benefit Value of Retained Income controlling Stockholders’
(In millions) Stock Trust Common Stock Earnings (Loss) Interest Equity
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 14 $ (1,110 $ 6972 $ 2,644 $ (396.0 $ 16.2  $ 1,853.:
Net income — — — 501.4 — 5.2 506.¢
Other comprehensive income _ _ _ _ 55.2 _ 55.2
Issuance of common stock — — 0.€ — — — 0.€
Excess tax benefits on stock-
based payment arrangements — — 8.C — — — 8.C
Taxes withheld on issuance of
stock-based awards — — (17.5) — — — a7.5
Purchases of treasury stock
(Note 13) — (116.9 — — — — (116.9)
Reissuances of treasury stock
(Note 13) — 222 (22.9) — — — —
Net purchases of common stoc
far amnlnviaa hanafit trin — n1 1r — — R 11



Stock-based compensation

(Note 12) — — 47.7 — — — 47.1
Other — = — — — (2.9 (2.9
Balance at December 31, 2013$ 14 % (1,204) 3 7145 $ 3,146.. % (340.) % 191 8 2,336.

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIE S
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIF ICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

” o,

Nature of operatior— FMC Technologies, Inc. and consolidated subsidafiEMC Technologies,” “we” or “us”) designs, maacfures and
services technologically sophisticated systemspaaducts for our customers in the energy industrgugh our business segments: Subsea
Technologies, Surface Technologies and Energydtrfrature. We have manufacturing operations wodewstrategically located to facilitate
delivery of our products, systems and servicesutccastomers.

Basis of presentati— Our consolidated financial statements have begpapee in U.S. dollars and in accordance with UeBiegally accepte
accounting principles (“GAAP").

On February 25, 2011, our Board of Directors appdoa two -for-one stock split of our outstandingrels of common stock. The stock split
was completed in the form of a stock dividend thas issued on March 31, 2011 to stockholders afrokat the close of business on March
2011. All common share and per share informatiomunconsolidated financial statements reflectetfiects of the stock split.

Principles of consolidatio—The consolidated financial statements includeaiteounts of FMC Technologies and its majority-owned
subsidiaries and affiliates. Intercompany accoanttransactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates-The preparation of financial statements in conforwith GAAP requires management to make estimatesassumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets antlitie® and disclosures of contingent assets aatdilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expensieg dioe reporting period. Actual results couldfeliffrom those estimates. Such estimates
include, but are not limited to, estimates of ta@htract profit or loss on long-term constructigpe contracts; estimated realizable value on
excess and obsolete inventory; estimates relatpdnision accounting; estimates related to fairevédu purposes of assessing goodwill, long-
lived assets and intangible assets for impairnesiimates related to fair value for purposes afjagsy amounts to assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in business combinations; estsrelated to income taxes; and estimates rdiateohtingencies, including liquidated
damages.

Investments in the common stock of unconsoliddféidies —The investments in, and the operating resultsimépnsolidated affiliates are
included in the consolidated financial statememtshe basis of the equity method of accountindierdost method of accounting, dependint
specific facts and circumstances.

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates are asgb&w impairment whenever events or changes its fatd circumstances indicate the carr
value of the investments may not be fully recovkra/hen such a condition is judgmentally deterrditeebe other than temporary, the
carrying value of the investment is written dowrfdw value. Management's assessment as to whathedecline in value is other than
temporary is based on our ability and intent talhtbk investment and whether evidence indicatiegctirrying value of the investment is
recoverable within a reasonable period of time eigvs evidence to the contrary. Management gegeazalisiders our investments in equity
method investees to be strategic long-term investsnend completes its assessments for impairméntaNong-term viewpoint.

Reclassification—Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassifiedbnform to the current year’'s presentation.

Revenue recognitic—Revenue is generally recognized once the folloviing criteria are met: i) persuasive evidencerohaangement
exists, ii) delivery of the equipment has occurf@dich is upon shipment or when customer-specifieatance requirements are met) or
services have been rendered, iii) the price oktiidpment or service is fixed and determinable,ighdollectibility is reasonably assured. We
record our sales net of any value added, saleseotax.

For certain construction-type manufacturing ane:asy projects that involve significant design amdjineering efforts in order to satisfy
detailed customesupplied specifications, revenue is recognizedgugie percentage of completion method of accountimgler the percenta
of completion method, revenue is recognized as Wwoolgresses on each contract. We primarily apgyrditio of costs incurred to date to total
estimated contract costs at completion to meas$isedtio. If it is not possible to form a relialdstimate of progress toward completion, no
revenue or costs are recognized until the progecbmplete or substantially complete. Any expetiisdes on construction-type contracts in
progress are charged to earnings, in total, inpth®d the losses are identified.
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Modifications to construction-type contracts, re¢erto as “change orders,” effectively change ttawigions of the original contract, and may,
for example, alter the specifications or designthoé or manner of performance, equipment, matesaiss and/or period for completion of 1
work. If a change order represents a firm price mitnent from a customer, we account for the revisgiinate as if it had been included in
original estimate, effectively recognizing the pata impact of the new estimate on our calculatibprogress toward completion in the period
in which the firm commitment is received. If a charorder is unpriced: (1) we include the costsoritiact performance in our calculation of
progress toward completion in the period in whioh tosts are incurred or become probable; andt{2hwt is determined that the revenue is
probable of recovery, we include the change oreleemue, limited to the costs incurred to date edléd the change order, in our calculation of
progress toward completion. Unpriced change orighefaded in revenue were immaterial to our consaid revenue for all periods presented.
Margin is not recorded on unpriced change ordelsssirealization is assured beyond a reasonablg.dbioe assessment of realization may be
based upon our previous experience with the customigased upon our receipt of a firm price comreitirfrom the customer.

Progress billings are generally issued upon conapletf certain phases of the work as stipulatetthéncontract. Revenue in excess of progres:
billings are reported in trade receivables on thesolidated balance sheets. Progress billings asidl collections in excess of revenue
recognized on a contract are classified as advaagments and progress billings within current liibs on the consolidated balance sheets.

Shipping and handling costsShipping and handling costs are recorded as ¢gsbduct revenue in our consolidated statemenisaaime.
Shipping and handling costs billed to customergacerded as a component of revenue.

Cash equivalents—Cash equivalents are highly-liquid, short-terntrimsients with original maturities of three monthdess from their date of
purchase.

Trade receivables, net of allowancegAn allowance for doubtful accounts is providedtade receivables equal to the estimated uncdilecti
amounts. This estimate is based on historical ctidle experience and a specific review of eachasust’s trade receivable balance.

Inventories—Inventories are stated at the lower of cost orealizable value. Inventory costs include thosstsdirectly attributable to
products, including all manufacturing overhead, éxaluding costs to distribute. Cost is determiaedhe last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) basis for
all significant domestic inventories, except certaiventories relating to construction-type contsawhich are stated at the actual production
cost incurred to date, reduced by the portion e$¢hcosts identified with revenue recognized. Tiseif, first-out (“FIFO”) method is used to
determine the cost for all other inventories.

Investment—The appropriate classification of investments mrketable equity securities is determined at time tf purchase and re-
evaluated as of each subsequent reporting datarites classified as available-for-sale are cdrdefair value with unrealized holding gains
and losses on these securities recognized in adatedwther comprehensive income (loss), net atedlincome tax. We did not have any
available-for-sale securities at December 31, 20113012 .

Securities classified as trading securities ardexhat fair value with gains and losses on thesearsties recognized through other income
(expense), net. Trading securities are comprisigdapily of marketable equity mutual funds that appmate a portion of our liability under ¢
Non-Qualified Savings and Investment Plan (“Non-QuedifPlan”).

Property, plant, and equipme—Property, plant, and equipment is recorded at &epreciation is principally provided on the sjftiline
basis over the estimated useful lives of the agkeid improvements— 20 to 35 years; buildings—®80 years; and machinery and
equipment— 3 to 2@ears). Gains and losses are realized upon th@sedéirement of assets and are recorded in dtiseme (expense), net
our consolidated statements of income. Maintenancerepair costs are expensed as incurred. Expeaslithat extend the useful lives of
property, plant and equipment are capitalized aptetiated over the estimated new remaining lifthefasset.
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Impairment of property, plant, and equipm—Property, plant and equipment are reviewed foraimpent whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value of tmgitived asset may not be recoverable. The carryatge of a long-lived asset is not
recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undisclinash flows expected to result from the use &rdtaal disposition of the asset. If it is
determined that an impairment loss has occurredintipairment loss is measured as the amount byhwhi carrying value of the long-lived
asset exceeds its fair value.

Long-lived assets held for sale are reported akaver of carrying value or fair value less cossédl.

Capitalized software costs-Other assets on the consolidated balance shehtslénthe capitalized cost of internal use softwareluding
Internet websites). The assets are stated atessakbcumulated amortization. These software gudtsle significant purchases of software
internal and external costs incurred during thdiegiion development stage of software projecteskhcosts are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the asBetsinternal use software, the useful lives raingm three to ten years. For Internet website
costs, the estimated useful lives do not exceezbthears.

Goodwill and other intangible assetsGoodwill is not subject to amortization but isteesfor impairment on an annual basis (or more
frequently if impairment indicators arise). We hastablished October 31 as the date of our anasafdr impairment of goodwill. Reporting
units with goodwill are tested for impairment bgsfiassessing qualitative factors to determine draghe existence of events or circumstance
leads to a determination that it is more likelyrtimet that the fair value of the reporting unilgiss than its carrying amount. If after assessing
the totality of events or circumstances, or basechanagement’s judgment, we determine it is mdedylithan not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amourttya-step impairment test is performed. The firepstompares the fair value of the reporting
unit (measured as the present value of expectedsfeash flows) to its carrying amount. If the faafue of the reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount, a second step is performed. Bdtap, the fair value of the reporting unit i®&dited to its assets and liabilities to determine
the implied fair value of goodwill, which is useglrheasure the impairment loss. We have not recedramy impairment for the years ended
December 31, 2013 or 2012, as the fair values pofeqorting units with goodwill balances exceedadaarrying amounts. In addition, there
were no negative conditions, or triggering evettitat occurred in 2013 or 2012 requiring us to penfadditional impairment reviews.

Our acquired intangible assets are amortized dramhbt-line basis over their estimated usefuldiwehich generally range from 7 to 40 years.
Our acquired intangible assets do not have indefliies. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairt whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of tit@nigible asset may not be recoverable. The cargfimount of an intangible asset is not
recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscalinash flows expected to result from the use &rdtaal disposition of the asset. If it is
determined that an impairment loss has occurredio$s is measured as the amount by which theingraynount of the intangible asset
exceeds its fair value.

Fair value measuremen—We record our financial assets and financial liads at fair value. Fair value is defined as ghiee that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfertalitia (an exit price) in an orderly transactiontveen market participants at the reporting date.
The fair value framework requires the categorizatibassets and liabilities into three levels bagaoh the assumptions (inputs) used to price
the assets or liabilities. Level 1 provides the tmebable measure of fair value, whereas LeveéBeagally requires significant management
judgment. The three levels are defined as follc

. Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets fentital assets and liabilitie

. Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted prices iredud Level 1. For example, quoted prices for sméssets or liabilities in
active markets or quoted prices for identical aseetiabilities in inactive markets.

. Level 3: Unobservable inputs reflecting management’s ogsumptions about the assumptions market partigpaotild use in
pricing the asset or liability.
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Income taxe—Current income taxes are provided on income regdur financial statement purposes, adjustedréarsactions that do not
enter into the computation of income taxes payabthe same year. Deferred tax assets and liasilare measured using enacted tax rates fo
the expected future tax consequences of tempoitieyahces between the carrying amounts and théaars of assets and liabilities. A
valuation allowance is established whenever managebelieves that it is more likely than not thatedred tax assets may not be realizable.

U.S. income taxes are not provided on our equitynidistributed earnings of foreign subsidiariesaffitiates to the extent we have determined
that the earnings are indefinitely reinvested. th8ome taxes are provided on such earnings ip¢hied in which we can no longer support
that such earnings are indefinitely reinvested.

We classify interest expense and penalties recedron underpayments of income taxes as incomexfzense.

Stock-based employee compensatidiVe measure stock-based compensation expensetaotegsstock awards based on the market price a
the grant date and the number of shares awardedstbbk-based compensation expense for each asverddgnized ratably over the
applicable service period, after taking into acdastimated forfeitures, or the period beginninthatstart of the service period and ending
when an employee becomes eligible for retirement.

Common stock held in employee benefit tra§thares of our common stock are purchased by #regaministrator of the Non-Qualified Plan
and placed in a trust owned by us. Purchased shezeecorded at cost and classified as a reductistockholders’ equity on the consolidated
balance sheets.

Earnings per common shar*EPS”) —Basic EPS is computed using the weighted-averageer of common shares outstanding during the
year. Diluted EPS gives effect to the potentialtitih of earnings that could have occurred if addal shares were issued for stock op
exercises and restricted stock under the treasock snethod. The treasury stock method assumeggdschat would be obtained upon
exercise of common stock options and issuancestficted stock are used to buy back outstandingncemstock at the average market price
during the period.

Warranty obligations—We provide warranties of various lengths and tetorcertain of our customers based on standard tentigonditions
and negotiated agreements. Estimated cost of waesaare accrued at the time revenue is recogrit@garoducts where reliable, historical
experience of warranty claims and costs existstenadditional specific obligations are identifigtie obligation reflected in other current
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheetsaised on historical experience by product and censifailure rates and the related costs in
correcting a product failure. Should actual prodadure rates or repair costs differ from our eumtrestimates, revisions to the estimated
warranty liability would be required.

Foreign currency—Financial statements of operations for which th8.Wollar is not the functional currency, and lacated in non-highly
inflationary countries, are translated into U.Slats prior to consolidation. Assets and liabikitiare translated at the exchange rate in effect a
the balance sheet date, while income statementiatare translated at the average exchange ratadb period. For these operations,
translation gains and losses are recorded as aammpof accumulated other comprehensive inconss)iim stockholders’ equity until the
foreign entity is sold or liquidated. For operasan highly inflationary countries and where thedbcurrency is not the functional currency,
inventories, property, plant and equipment, an@otioneurrent assets are converted to U.S. dollars &dridal exchange rates, and all gain
losses from conversion are included in net incdroeeign currency effects on cash, cash equivatemdsdebt in hyperinflationary economies
are included in interest income or expense.
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Derivative instrumen— Derivatives are recognized on the consolidatednicalaheets at fair value, with classification asent or noneurrent
based upon the maturity of the derivative instruin€hanges in the fair value of derivative instrumseare recorded in current earnings or
deferred in accumulated other comprehensive inddmss), depending on the type of hedging transacitd whether a derivative is design:
as, and is effective as, a hedge. Each instrureexttdounted for individually and assets and liagdiare not offset.

Hedge accounting is only applied when the derieaisvdeemed to be highly effective at offsettingraies in anticipated cash flows of the
hedged item or transaction. Changes in fair vafudedvatives that are designated as cash flow éedge deferred in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) until the underlyimgsactions are recognized in earnings. At such, tietgted deferred hedging gains or losse:s
are also recorded in operating earnings on the §amas the hedged item. Effectiveness is assessbé inception of the hedge and on a
quarterly basis. Effectiveness of forward contiath flow hedges are assessed based solely oneshianfgir value attributable to the change
in the spot rate. The change in the fair valuéhefdontract related to the change in forward riategcluded from the assessment of hedge
effectiveness. Changes in this excluded comporfahealerivative instrument, along with any ineffeeness identified, are recorded in
operating earnings as incurred. We document okmnanagement strategy and hedge effectiveness aidbption of, and during the term of,
each hedge.

We also use forward contracts to hedge foreignecuaryr assets and liabilities, for which we do ngilghedge accounting. The changes in fair
value of these contracts are recognized in otlemmie (expense), net on our consolidated stateroéirisome, as they occur and offset gains
or losses on the remeasurement of the related askability.

Cash flows from derivative contracts are reportethe consolidated statements of cash flows irséime categories as the cash flows from the
underlying transactions.

NOTE 2. RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Effective January 1, 2013, we adopted Accountiran@ards Update (“ASU”) No. 2011-11Balance Sheet (Topic 210): Disclosures about
Offsetting Assets and Liabiliti€sand ASU No. 2013-01, Balance Sheet (Topic 210): Clarifying the ScopPistlosures about Offsetting
Assets and Liabilitie” issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Bq&4FASB”). These updates require management tdals both
gross information and net information of recognigedivative instruments, repurchase agreementsequtities borrowing and lending
transactions offset in the consolidated balancetshiesubject to an agreement similar to an enfdiieemaster netting arrangement. The
updated guidance is to be applied retrospectiwdfgctive January 1, 2013. The adoption of thesiatgs concern disclosure only and did not
have any financial impact on our consolidated foalnstatements.

Effective January 1, 2013, we adopted ASU No. 2023 Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of Art®oReclassified Out of
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Inc’ issued by the FASB. This update requires managéioereport the effect of significant
reclassifications out of accumulated other compmeive income on the respective line items in nevime if the amount being reclassified is
required under GAAP to be reclassified in its atyirto net income. For other amounts that are eguiired under GAAP to be reclassified in
their entirety to net income in the same reporfingod, we are required to cross-reference otlemlalures required under GAAP that provide
additional detail about those amounts. The updatgdiance is to be applied prospectively, effecfiaauary 1, 2013. The adoption of this
update concerns disclosure only and did not haydiaancial impact on our consolidated financiatstnents.
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NOTE 3. EARNINGS PER SHARE
A reconciliation of the number of shares used lierthasic and diluted earnings per share calculatamas follows:

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions, except per share data) 2013 2012 2011

Net income attributable to FMC Technologies, Inc. $ 501.¢ $ 430.C $ 399.¢
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 238.C 239.7 241.;
Dilutive effect of restricted stock units and stagitions 0.€ 1.2 2.C
Total shares and dilutive securities 239.1 240.¢ 2432
Basic earnings per share attributable to FMC Teldwies, Inc. $ 21C % 1.7¢  $ 1.6¢€
Diluted earnings per share attributable to FMC Thedbgies, Inc. $ 21C $ 1.7¢ $ 1.64

NOTE 4. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Schilling Robotics, LLG—On January 3, 2012, we exercised our option tolmage the remaining 55% of outstanding sharesluflig
Robotics, LLC (“Schilling Robotics”), a Delawareniited liability company, and closed the transactiorApril 25, 2012. Schilling Robotics is
a supplier of advanced robotic intervention produictcluding a line of remotely operated vehiclsteyns (“ROV”), manipulator systems and
subsea control systems. The acquisition of the ingginterests in Schilling Robotics is allowing to grow in the expanding subsea
environment, where demand for ROVs and the neeth&ntenance activities of subsea equipment is@ggdeo increase.

Prior to April 25, 2012, we owned 45% of SchilliRpbotics. Upon the closing of this transaction,omsed 100% of Schilling Robotics which
is included among the consolidated subsidiariesrted in our Subsea Technologies segment. The sitiqoidate fair value of our previously
held equity interest in Schilling Robotics was $P4dillion with the fair value primarily estimatéldrough an income approach valuation. In
2012 we recorded a gain of $20.0 million in othrerome (expense), net on the consolidated statemh@mtome related to the fair value
remeasurement of our previously held equity intereSchilling Robotics.

The purchase price with respect to the remainirigtanding shares was determined by applying théipteubf our market capital relative to
our earnings before interest, taxes, depreciatighaaortization (“EBITDA”) for the year ended Dedeen 31, 2011 (determined in accordance
with the terms of the unitholders agreement), ®EBITDA generated by Schilling Robotics during ylear ended December 31, 2011 (suk

to certain adjustments in accordance with the texhtise unitholders agreement). The consideratiorttfe remaining outstanding shares was
paid in cash.

Control Systems International, Ine=On April 30, 2012, we acquired 100% of Control &yss International, Inc. (“CSI”) which is included
among the consolidated subsidiaries reported irEoergy Infrastructure segment. Our acquisitio€8f is enhancing our automation and
controls technologies and is benefiting productod processing businesses such as measuremeiarsothitough comprehensive fuel
terminal and pipeline automation systems. Additilynsghe acquired technologies support our longrtstrategy to expand our subsea
production and processing systems.

Pure Energy Services Lt—On October 1, 2012, we acquired 100% of Pure Bn8ggvices Ltd. (“Pure Energyiyhich is included among tt
consolidated subsidiaries reported in our Surfasehmologies segment. Based in Calgary, Albertaa@anand operating in multiple field
locations in both Canada and the United Stateg Boergy is a provider of fracturing flowback sees and wireline services. The acquisition
of Pure Energy is complementing the existing préglaad services of our Surface Technologies segamghis creating client value by
providing an integrated well site solution.
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The acquisition-date fair value of the consideratiansferred for each business combination catist the following:

Schilling
(In millions) Robotics Csl Pure Energy Total
Cash $ 282.¢ $ 49.C @ % 287.C $ 618.¢
Previously held equity interest 144.¢ — — 144.¢
Purchase price withheld — 10.C @ — 10.C
Total consideration transferred $ 427 % 59.C $ 287.C § 773

@ Includes anticipated recovery of negative workiagital. During 2012 and 2013, we received payménegative working capital amour

®Represents the portion of the purchase price withtieoldback") by FMC Technologies pursuant to téens of the stock purchase agreement. The hdk
amount will be held and maintained by FMC Techni@s@s security for the payment of any and all arnteto which CSI indemnifies us,
including final working capital adjustments andatindemnifications as listed in the stock purchegeement. FMC Technologies may deduct
from the holdback any eligible amounts and pay th8Inet amount three years after the closing date.

The following table summarizes the fair valueshaf assets acquired and liabilities assumed atcipgisition dates.

Schilling
(In millions) Robotics Csl Pure Energy Total
Assets:
Cash $ 3¢ ¢ 02 % 02 $ 4.4
Accounts receivable 22.4 8.2 44.¢ 75.4
Inventory 50.€ 0.1 3.3 54.C
Other current assets 2.1 0.2 2.1 4.4
Property, plant and equipment 217 0.2 162.2 184.1
Intangible assets 145.¢ 35.1 58.2 239.2
Other long-term assets 0.7 — — 0.7
Total identifiable assets acquired 247 44.1 270.¢ 562.2
Liabilities:
Current liabilities (33.9) (15.9) (38.]) (87.9)
Long-term debt — — (18.6) (18.6)
Deferred income taxes — — (12.€) (12.€)
Other long-term liabilities (1.9 — — (1.9
Total liabilities assumed (35.9 (15.9) (69.9) (120.9)
Net identifiable assets acquired 212.( 28.2 201.t 441.8
Goodwill 215.7 30.7 85.5 331.9
Net assets acquired $ 4277 % 50.C $ 287.C $ 773.%

The goodwill recognized is primarily attributabtedxpected synergies and assembled workforce aehmirSchilling Robotics, CSI and Pure
Energy. During 2013 , there were immaterial puretescounting adjustments recognized in goodwitliuiding an increase of $0.3 million for
Schilling Robotics and a decrease of $0.9 milfionPure Energy. The majority of the combined goitidwcognized for Schilling Robotics al
CSl is deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill redagd for Pure Energy is not deductible for tax msgs.
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The identifiable intangible assets acquired incltiaefollowing:

Schilling Robotics CsSl Pure Energy
Wagtd. Avg. Wagtd. Avg. Wagtd. Avg.
Amortization Amortization Amortization
Period (in Period (in Period (in

(In millions, except amortization periods) Fair Value years) Fair Value years) Fair Value years)
Technology $ 38.¢ 12 3 17.C 10 $ — —
Trademarks/trade name 25.4 2C 2.8 15 — —
Customer relationships 42.¢ 2C 5. 15 57.€ 20
Base technology — technical know-how 38.7 15 — — — —
Non-compete agreements = — — — 0.€ 2
Total identifiable intangible assets acquired ~ $ 145.¢ $ 35.1 $ 58.2

We recognized $1.2 million of acquisition-relatexts that were expensed in the year ended Dece3tib2012 related to the Schilling
Robotics, CSI and Pure Energy acquisitions. Thesesavere recognized as selling, general and aditrétive expense in the consolidated
statement of income. Revenue and net income oflfaghRobotics, CSI and Pure Energy from the adtjois dates to December 31, 2012
included in our consolidated statements of incoraeev$94.6 million , $19.7 million and $67.3 milliefrevenue, respectively, and $3.1
million , $2.4 million and $2.7 million of net inate, respectively.

Pro Forma Impact of Acquisitions (unaudited)

The following unaudited supplemental pro forma hsspresent consolidated information as if the #@itjans had been completed as of
January 1, 2011. The 2012 pro forma results incl(ile$10.1 million of amortization for acquiredtangible assets, (i) $10.7 million in
inventory fair value step-up amortization for Sthg Robotics, and (iii) $1.2 million of acquisiti-related costs. The pro forma results do not
include any potential synergies, cost savings leemo¢xpected benefits of the acquisitions. Accagiginthe pro forma results should not be
considered indicative of the results that wouldehagcurred if the acquisitions had been consumnestad January 1, 2011, nor are they
indicative of future results.

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2012 Pro Forma 2011 Pro Forma
Revenue $ 6,394.. $ 5,512.¢
Net income $ 446.C $ 444
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NOTE 5. INVENTORIES
Inventories consisted of the following:

December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012
Raw materials $ 186.2 $ 188.¢
Work in process 141.¢ 146.¢
Finished goods 830.: 788.¢
1,158.( 1,123.¢
LIFO and valuation adjustments (177.€) (158.5)
Inventory, net $ 980.c $ 965.1

Net inventories accounted for under the LIFO mettmtaled$336.4 million and $342.2 million at December 3012 and 2012, respectively.
The current replacement costs of LIFO inventorieeeded their recorded values by $91.5 million $88.7 million at December 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively. In 2013 there was a reductiotertain LIFO inventories which were carried astsdower than current replacement costs.
The result was a decrease in the cost of sale® yrillion for 2013. There were no reductionshe base LIFO inventory in 2012 or 2011.

NOTE 6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment consisted of thevahg:

December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012
Land and land improvements $ 83.C $ 71.%
Buildings 379.¢ 350.¢
Machinery and equipment 1,438.¢ 1,314..
Construction in process 218.< 150.¢
2,119 1,887..
Accumulated depreciation (770.2) (643.9)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,349.. $ 1,243

Depreciation expense was $156.0, million , $113lliam and $86.1 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011spectively. The amount of interest cost
capitalized was $0.7 million , $1.4 million and S@nillion in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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NOTE 7. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill—The carrying amount of goodwill by business segmeas as follows:

Subsea Surface Energy
(In millions) Technologies Technologies Infrastructure Total
December 31, 2012 $ 342 $ 97.1 $ 158.: $ 597.7
Direct drive systems transfér 66.¢ — (66.9) —
Purchase accounting adjustments 0.3 (0.9 — (0.6)
Translation (12.6) (3.9 — (16.4)
December 31, 2013 $ 39%6.¢ $ 924 $ 912 % 580.7
W Beginning in the third quarter of 2013, direct érsystems is reported as a product line in Subsehriblogies. See additional disclosure in Not:

Intangible asset—The components of intangible assets were as fstlow

December 31,

2013 2012
Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated

(In millions) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Customer lists $ 148.¢ $ 277 % 1521 $ 19.€
Patents and acquired technology 221.¢ 56.5 223.7 40.7
Trademarks 36.2 7.€ 36.4 5.€
Other 6.C 5.k 6.1 5.2
Total intangible assets $ 412.¢ $ 97.c $ 4185 $ 71.1

We did not have any additions to our intangibleetsduring 2013. Additions to our intangible assketsng 2012 included $145.9 million ,
$35.1 million and $58.2 million associated with aequisitions of Schilling Robotics, CSI and Pureekyy, respectively. Refer to Note 4 for
further disclosure related to business combinations

All of our acquired identifiable intangible assate subject to amortization and, where applicdblejgn currency translation adjustments. We
recorded $26.9 million , $20.8 million and $11.3limn in amortization expense related to intangiédésets during the years ended

December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respectivalyind the years 2014 through 2018 , annual amaidiza&xpense is expected to be as
follows: $26.0 million in 2014 , $25.3 million in025 , $24.8 million in 2016 , $24.1 million in 201%23.8 million in 2018 and $191.3 million
thereafter.

NOTE 8. SALE LEASEBACK TRANSACTION

In March 2007, we sold and leased back propertydaston, Texas, consisting of land, offices andipotion facilities primarily related to the
Subsea Technologies and Surface Technologies ségrivéa received net proceeds of $58.1 million inrextion with the sale. The carrying
value of the property sold was $20.3 million . Weea@unted for the transaction as a sale leasebaakirg in (i) first quarter 2007 recognition
of $1.3 million of the $37.4 million gain on thairsaction and (ii) the deferral of the remaining.£3illion of the gain, which will be
amortized to rent expense over a noncancellableytsar lease term. The deferred gain is presentethir liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet. The lease expires in 2022 and ®¥dd two 5 -year optional extensions as welhasaption to terminate the lease in 2017,
subject to a $3.3 million fee. Annual rent of $ilion escalates 2.0% per year. The lease wawxded as an operating lease.
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NOTE 9. DEBT

Credit facility—On March 26, 2012, we entered into a new $1.%obilievolving credit agreement (“credit agreementith JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent. The creditegment is a five -year, revolving credit facilitypéring in March 2017. Subject to certain
conditions, at our request and with the approvahefAdministrative Agent, the aggregate commitreemtder the credit agreement may be
increased by an additional $500.0 million .

Borrowings under the credit agreement bear interieatbase rate or the London interbank offeresl faiBOR”), at our option, plus an
applicable margin. Depending on our total levenag®, the applicable margin for revolving loansiea (i) in the case of LIBOR loans, from
1.125% to 1.750% and (ii) in the case of baseloaes, from 0.125% to 0.750% . The base rate isitgest of (1) the prime rate announced
by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., (2) the Federal Firate plus 0.5% or (3) one-month LIBOR plus 1.0% .

In connection with the new credit agreement, wmbeated and repaid all outstanding amounts undepryiously existing $600.0 million
five -year revolving credit agreement and our $854illion three -year revolving credit agreement.

Senior Notes—On September 21, 2012, we completed the publierioff of $300.0 million aggregate principal amoah®.00%senior note
due October 2017 (the “2017 Notes”) and $500.0ionilaggregate principal amount of 3.45% senior sidige October 2022 (the “2022 Notes
and, collectively with the 2017 Notes, the “Seniwtes”). Interest on the Senior Notes is payabhaisanually in arrears on April 1 a
October 1 of each year, beginning April 1, 2013et Nroceeds from the offering of $793.8 millimere used for the repayment of outstan
commercial paper and indebtedness under our rengbriedit facility.

The terms of the Senior Notes are governed bynithenture (the “Base Indenture”), dated as of Seipeerdl, 2012 between FMC
Technologies and U.S. Bank National Associatiortriastee (the “Trustee”as amended and supplemented by the First Supplahiedénture
between FMC Technologies and the Trustee (thet‘Bupplemental Indenture”) relating to the issuasfcihe 2017 Notes and the Second
Supplemental Indenture between FMC Technologieglamdrustee (the “Second Supplemental Indentuegdting to the issuance of the 2022
Notes.

At any time prior to their maturity in the casetibé 2017 Notes, and at any time prior to July 220n the case of the 2022 Notes, we may
redeem some or all of the Senior Notes at the retlemprices specified in the First Supplementaeimure and Second Supplemental
Indenture, respectively. At any time on or aftdyJy 2022, we may redeem some or all of the 208f8lat the redemption price equal to
100% of the principal amount of the 2022 Notes eaded. The Senior Notes are our senior unsecuréghtibhs. The Senior Notes will rank
equally in right of payment with all of our exisgirand future unsubordinated debt, and will rankagen right of payment to all of our future
subordinated debt.

Commercial paper—Under our commercial paper program, we have tligyato access $1.0 billion of short-term finangithrough our
commercial paper dealers subject to the limit afsgu capacity of our revolving credit agreemenm@ercial paper borrowings are issued at
market interest rates. Commercial paper borrowasysf December 31, 2013, had a weighted averageesgitrate of 0.33% .

Term loan—In August 2013 , we entered into a R $60.7 millierm loan agreement in Brazil maturing on Augist2016 with Itad BBA., as
Administrative Agent. Under the loan agreemengri@st accrues at an annual rate of 5.50% . Prinisiplie at maturity and interest is paid
quarterly.

Property financinc—In September 2004we entered into agreements for the sale anddeakenf an office building having a net book vadi
$8.5 million . Under the terms of the agreemerg,lihilding was sold for $9.7 million in net procsexhd leased back under a 10 -year lease.
We have subleased this property to a third parteua lease agreement that is being accounted fan aperating lease. We have accounted
for the transaction as a financing transactionamedamortizing the related obligation using anaffe annual interest rate of 5.37% . In
addition, property financing includes our obligatiaunder capital lease arrangements.

Uncommitted credi—=We have uncommitted credit lines at many of oterimational subsidiaries for immaterial amounts. Wikze these
facilities to provide a more efficient daily sourgliquidity. The effective interest rates depambn the local national market.
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Short-term debt and current portion of long-ternbde-Short-term debt and current portion of long-terebtdconsisted of the following:

December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012
Term loan $ —  $ 26.¢
Property financing 10.t 5.C
Foreign uncommitted credit facilities 31.¢ 22.1
Other 0.1 6.5
Total short-term debt and current portion of loegi debt $ 425 % 60.4

Longterm debt—Long-term debt consisted of the following:

December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012
Revolving credit facility $ — % 100.(
Commercial pape¥ 501.¢ 669.¢
2.00% Notes due 2017 299.t 299.:
3.45% Notes due 2022 499.¢ 499.¢
Term loan 25.¢ 26.¢
Property financing 13.¢ 16.7
Total long-term debt 1,340.: 1,612.:
Less: current portion (10.5) (31.9)
Long-term debt, less current portion $ 1,329.¢ $ 1,580.¢

@ At December 31, 2013 and 2012, committed creditlaia under our revolving credit facility providéige ability to refinance our commercial paper

obligations on a long-term basis. As we have bloghatbility and intent to refinance these obligadion a long-term basis, our commercial paper
borrowings were classified as long-term in the otidated balance sheets at December 31, 2013 &l 20

Maturities of total long-term debt as of Decembgy 2013, are payable as follows: $10.5 million @12, $2.0 million in 2015, $27.1 million in
2016, $801.0 million in 2017, $0.1 million in 2018hd $499.6 million in 2022.
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NOTE 10. INCOME TAXES

Domestic and foreign components of income befocerme taxes are shown below:

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012 2011
Domestic $ 150.7 $ 12558 $ 132.7
Foreign 563.: 470.¢ 416.¢
Income before income taxes attributable to FMC Tfetbgies, Inc. $ 714.C % 596.2 % 549.1
The provision for income taxes consisted of:
Year Ended December 31,
(In millions) 2013 2012 2011
Current:
Federal $ 776 % 415 % 26.7
State 5.€ 2.¢ e
Foreign 149.¢ 131.¢ 134.¢
Total current 233.( 176.2 164.¢
Deferred:
Increase in the valuation allowance for deferredassets 0.t 0.t 0.2
Decrease of deferred tax liability for change i tates 4.3 1.3 (1.9
Other deferred tax (benefit) expense (16.€) (9.0 (13.9
Total deferred (20.9) (9.9 (15.7)
Provision for income taxes $ 212¢ $ 166.2 $ 149.%
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Significant components of our deferred tax assadsliabilities were as follows:

December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012
Deferred tax assets attributable to:
Accrued expenses $ 56.6 $ 47.€
Foreign tax credit carryforwards 14.C 2.€
Accrued pension and other post-retirement benefits 26.5 109.1
Stock-based compensation 25,8 24.:
Net operating loss carryforwards 47.¢ 31.t
Inventories 25.¢ 21.1
Norwegian correction tax 61.€ 71.C
Foreign exchange 3.7 5.2
Deferred tax assets 261.7 312.¢
Valuation allowance (4.7) 4.3
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 257.C 308.1

Deferred tax liabilities attributable to:
Revenue in excess of billings on contracts accalfttieunder the percentage of completion

method 137.( 147.1
U.S. tax on foreign subsidiaries’ undistributednéags not indefinitely reinvested 43.F 40.€
Property, plant and equipment, goodwill and otlssets 137.2 129.¢
Deferred tax liabilities 317.% 317.¢
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ (60.7) $ (9.9

At December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the carrying amofinet deferred tax assets and the related valuatiowance included the impact of
foreign currency translation adjustments. Inclugredur deferred tax assets at December 31, 2018 We3. foreign tax credit carryforwards of
$14.0 million , which, if not utilized, will begito expire after 2015 . Realization of these defktex assets is dependent on the generation of
sufficient U.S. taxable income prior to the aboaded Based on long-term forecasts of operatingteesuanagement believes that it is more
likely than not that domestic earnings over thedaist period will result in sufficient U.S. taxableome to fully realize these deferred tax
assets. In its analysis, management has consitterexifect of foreign deemed dividends and othgeeied adjustments to domestic earnings
that are required in determining U.S. taxable ineoRoreign earnings taxable to us as dividend&jdittg deemed dividends for U.S. tax
purposes, were $196.2 million , $118.3 million &1#9.3 million , in 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respetyi. Also included in deferred tax assets
are tax benefits related to net operating losg/framvards attributable to foreign entities. If ndilized, these net operating loss carryforwards
will begin to expire in 2015 . Management belieités more likely than not that we will not be altteutilize certain of these operating loss
carryforwards before expiration; therefore, we hastblished a valuation allowance against theeeldeferred tax assets.
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The following table presents a summary of changesir unrecognized tax benefits and associatetksttand penalties:

Federal, Accrued Total Gross

State and Interest Unrecognized

Foreign and Income Tax
(In millions) Tax Penalties Benefits
Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 40.¢ $ 44 $ 45.C
Additions for tax positions related to prior years 4.€ 2.6 7.5
Reductions for tax positions due to settlements (5.0 (1.2 (6.2)
Reductions due to a lapse of the statute of linoiat 0.3 — (0.3
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 39.¢ $ 6.2 $ 46.1
Additions for tax positions related to prior years (0.7 2.1 2.C
Reductions for tax positions due to settlements 9.3 (1.9 (11.2)
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 30t % 64 $ 36.¢
Additions for tax positions related to prior years 3.1 0.4 3.E
Additions for tax positions related to current year 3.t 0.2 3.€
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 371 % 71 % 44.%

At December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , there wéterdillion , $36.4 million and $42.2 million ,gpectively, of unrecognized tax benefits
that if recognized would affect the annual effeetiax rate.

It is reasonably possible that within twelve monthsecognized tax benefits related to certain ¢gorting positions taken in prior periods
could decrease by up to $41.6 million , due toegithe expiration of the statute of limitationscirtain jurisdictions or the resolution of current
income tax examinations, or both.

Our U.S. federal income tax returns for our 2010 2011 tax years are under examination by the IR8onjunction with this examination, no
adjustments to such years’ taxable income have pexposed by the IRS as of December 31, 2013. Herwvevanagement believes that we are
adequately reserved for any matters that may &ose this examination.

In April 2013 we filed a protest with the IRS Apfe®ffice with respect to proposed adjustmentsuofederal income tax returns for our 2C
2008 and 2009 tax years related to our treatmeint@fcompany transfer pricing. The ultimate outeoofi this matter is uncertain. However,
management believes we are adequately reservéliganatter as of December 31, 2013.

The following tax years and thereafter remain sttii@ examination: 2003 for Norway, 2008 for Braaild 2007 for the United States.
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The effective income tax rate was different frora #ftatutory U.S. federal income tax rate due tddhewing:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate 35% 35% 3%
Net difference resulting from:

Foreign earnings subject to different tax rates (13 (12 9
Foreign earnings subject to U.S. tax 2 4 1
Nondeductible Multi Phase Meters earn-out adjustmen 1 2 —
Net change in unrecognized tax benefits — — 1
Settlement of foreign audits 1 — —
Foreign withholding taxes 3 — —
Other 1 (1) @
Effective income tax rate 30% 28 % 27%

We have provided U.S. income taxes on $1,292.0anibf cumulative undistributed earnings of cert@ireign subsidiaries where we have
determined that the foreign subsidiaries’ earnaugsnot indefinitely reinvested. No provision forSJincome taxes has been recorded on
earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are indefigiteinvested. The cumulative balance of foreigmings with respect to which no provision
for U.S. income taxes has been recorded was $4524ion at December 31, 2013he amount of applicable U.S. income taxes thaild/be
incurred if these earnings were repatriated is @pprately $440.0 million .

We benefit from income tax holidays in Singapord Btalaysia which will expire after 2018 for Singap@nd 2015or Malaysia. For the yee
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , these tax kislr@duced our provision for income taxes by $12illion , or $0.05per share on a dilut
basis, and $9.6 million , or $0.04 per share oiudedl basis, respectively. In the first quarte26f.1, we recognized a retroactive benefit of
approximately $7.3 million , or $0.Q%er share on a diluted basis, related to tax hgdida Singapore which were retroactive to Janua3009
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NOTE 11. PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

We have funded and unfunded defined benefit pendemms which provide defined benefits based ons/efservice and final average salary.
In October 2009, the Board of Directors amendedt®& Qualified and Non-Qualified Defined BeneférBion Plans (“U.S. Pension Plansy)
freeze participation in the U.S. Pension Plansafonew nonunion employees hired on or after JaniaR010, and current nonunion employ
with less than fiverears of vesting service as of December 31, 2000c#rent nonunion employees with less than fiearg of vesting servic
as of December 31, 2009, benefits accrued unddy tBePension Plans and earned as of that datefreesn based on credited service and
as of December 31, 2009.

Foreign-based employees are eligible to participaEeMC Technologies-sponsored or government-sp@asbenefit plans to which we
contribute. Several of the foreign defined bengdihsion plans sponsored by us provide for emplogegibutions; the remaining plans are
noncontributory.

We have other post-retirement benefit plans cogesirbstantially all of our U.S. employees who whred prior to January 1, 2003. The post-
retirement health care plans are contributory pihgt-retirement life insurance plans are noncoutoity.

We are required to recognize the funded statugfifield benefit post-retirement plans as an asdéhility in the consolidated balance sheet
and recognize changes in that funded status in rEmepsive income in the year in which the changesro Further, we are required to
measure the plan’s assets and its obligationgd#tatmine its funded status as of the date of thealidated balance sheet. We have applied
this guidance to our domestic pension and othermtisement benefit plans as well as for manywfwon-U.S. plans, including those in the
United Kingdom, Norway, Germany, France and CanBédasion expense measured in compliance with GAAEhE other non-U.S. pension
plans is not materially different from the locatported pension expense.
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The funded status of our U.S. Pension Plans, cefdagign pension plans and U.S. post-retiremeattheare and life insurance benefit plans,
together with the associated balances recognizedrigonsolidated financial statements as of Deegr@h, 2013 and 2012 , were as follows:

Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2013 2012 2013 2012

(In millions) u.S. Int'l u.S. Int'l

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 513 $ 360.1 $ 614.1 $ 290.4

Projected benefit obligation at January 1 $ 692.¢ $ 3722 % 597.¢ $ 454 % 87 $ 8.8
Service cost 16.5 14.7 14.€ 37.2 0.1 0.1
Interest cost 25.¢ 16.1 26.¢ 214 0.2 0.4
Actuarial (gain) loss (119.9 45.¢ 86.t (1.9 (2.7) —
Amendments — 0.€ — — — —
Curtailments — — — (49.0) — _
Settlements (11.7) — — (108.6 — —
Foreign currency exchange rate changes — (2.5) — 25.¢ — —
Plan participants’ contributions — 2.2 — 2.C — —
Benefits paid (19.9 (10.2) (32.9 (9.9 (0.€) (0.6)

Projected benefit obligation at December 31 585.( 438.¢ 692.¢ 372.% 6.7 8.7

Fair value of plan assets at January 1 462.F 327.¢ 406.( 362.1 — —
Actual return on plan assets 115.2 52.2 57.F 30.¢€ — —
Company contributions 29.F 30.1 31.¢ 30.¢ 0.€ 0.€
Foreign currency exchange rate changes — (1.4) — 20.2 — —
Settlements (11.7) — — (108.6) = =
Plan participants’ contributions — 2.2 — 2.C — —
Benefits paid (19.9) (10.2) (32.9 (9.9 (0.€) (0.6)

Fair value of plan assets at December 31 576.¢ 400.¢ 462.5 327.¢ — —

Funded status of the plans (liability) at Decen@tier $ 82 $ (38.0) $ (230.9) $ 449 % 6.7 % (8.7)

Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2013 2012 2013 2012

(In millions) u.S. Int'l u.S. Int'l

Other assets $ 382 $ 38 $ — 3 3¢ % — ¢ =

Current portion of accrued pension and other post-

retirement benefits (9.2 1.3 (19.9) (2.7 (0.€) (0.7)

Accrued pension and other pastirement benefits, n

of current portion (37.9) (40.5) (211.9 (47.2) (6.2) (8.0)

Funded status recognized in the consolidated balanc

sheets at December 31 $ (82 $ (38.0 % (2309 % (449 % (67 $ (8.7)
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The following table summarizes the amounts in aadated other comprehensive (income) loss that hatvéeen recognized as componen
net periodic benefit cost for the years ended Déezr1, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 :

Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2013 2012 2013 2012
(In millions) u.S. Int'l u.S. Int'l
Amounts recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive (income) loss:
Unrecognized actuarial (gain) loss $ 1301 $ 113¢  $ 355.C % 103.:  $ 32 % .7
Unrecognized prior service (credit) cost 0.1 1.5 0.1 1.C — (0.5
Unrecognized transition asset — (0.9 — 0.5 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive (income) loss a )
December 31 $ 130z $ 11457  $ 355.1 % 103.¢ $ 3.9 $ (2.9

The following tables summarize the projected arclamlated benefit obligations and fair values afnphssets where the projected or
accumulated benefit obligation exceeds the fauealf plan assets at December 31, 2013 and 2012 :

Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2013 2012 2013 2012
(In millions) u.s. Int'l u.s. Int'l
Plans with underfunded or non-funded projected
benefit obligation:
Aggregate projected benefit obligation $ 464 % 151.¢ $ 692.¢ $ 285.1 % 6.7 $ 8.7
Aggregate fair value of plan assets $ — % 1101 $ 462 $ 236.¢ $ — 3 =
Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2013 2012 2013 2012
(In millions) u.s. Int'l (URSH Int'l

Plans with underfunded or non-funded accumulate:
benefit obligation:

Aggregate accumulated benefit obligation $ 36.: $ 28.¢ % 614.1 $ 31.c
Aggregate fair value of plan assets $ — % 9.C $ 4628 % 9.3
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The following table summarizes the components opreeodic benefit cost (income) for the years ehBecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Other Post-retirement

Pensions Benefits
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
(In millions) u.s. Int'l u.s. Int'l u.s. Int'l
Components of net annual
benefit cost (income):
Service cost $ 16 ¢ 147 ¢ 14¢ ¢ 372 % 12C $ 298§ 0.1 01 $ 0.1
Interest cost 25.¢ 16.1 26.¢ 21.4 26.1 20.: 0.2 0.4 0.4
Expected return on plan
assets (41.¢) (23.9) (39.9 (26.9) (38.2) (24.5) — — —
Settlement cost 5.1 — 5.6 8.5 8.¢ — — = =
Amortization of
transition asset — (0.2 — (0.2) — (0.5 — — —
Amortization of prior
service cost (credit) (0.2) 0.1 (0.2) 0.1 (0.2) 0.1 (0.5) (2.2 1.9
Amortization of net
actuarial loss (gain) 26.€ 5.3 23.€ 8.1 12.¢ 5.C (0.2 (0.2 (0.2
Net periodic benefit cost
(income) $ 32 % 124 % 31.C $ 48.7 $ 21€ % 29¢ $ 0.9 $ 0.9 $ (1.0

The following table summarizes changes in plantass®d benefit obligations recognized in other caahpnsive income (loss) for the years

ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 :

Other Post-retirement

Pensions

Benefits

2013 2012 2011 2013

2012 2011

(In millions) u.s. Int'l u.S. Int'l u.s. Int'l

Changes in plan assets and
benefit obligations recognize
in other comprehensive incor
(loss):

Net actuarial gain (loss)

arising during period  $ 193 $ (156 $ (689 $ 53¢ $ (137.) $ (619 % 1.7 — 3 (0.5)

Prior service cost arising

during period — (0.€) — — (0.9) — — — —

Settlements 5.1 — 5.6 8.5 — — — _ _

Amortization of net

actuarial loss (gain) 26.€ 5.3 23.¢ 8.C 21.¢ 5.C (0.2) (0.2 (0.2

Amortization of prior

service cost (credit) (0.7 0.1 (0.2 0.1 (0.3 0.1 (0.5) (1.3 1.9

Amortization of

transition asset — (0.2) — (0.2) — (0.5) — — —
Total recognized in other ; ,
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Included in accumulated other comprehensive incass) at December 31, 2013, are noncash, prétges which have not yet been
recognized in net periodic benefit cost (incoméje Estimated amounts that will be amortized froengartion of each component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)casn@onent of net period benefit cost (income), mythe next fiscal year are as follows:

Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
(In millions) u.s. Int'l
Net actuarial losses (gains) $ 122 % 6.6 $ (0.2
Prior service cost (credit) $ 01 $ 01 $ —
Transition asset $ — 3 (0.1 ¢ —
Key assumptio— The following weighted-average assumptions were tiseletermine the benefit obligations:
Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2013 2012 2013 2012
uU.S. Int'l uU.S. Int'l

Discount rate 5.1(% 4.3(% 3.9(% 4.4€% 5.1(% 3.9(%
Rate of compensation increase 4.0(% 4.2, 4.00% 3.97% _ _
The following weighted-average assumptions werel tgeletermine net periodic benefit cost:

Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
u.S. Int'l uU.S. Int'l u.S. Int'l

Discount rate 3.9(% 4.46% 4.6(% 4.5% 5.3% 5.0(% 3.9(% 4.6(% 5.4(%

Rate of compensation increase  4.0(% 3.9¢% 4.0(% 4.05% 4.0(% 4.2(% — — —

Expected rate of return on pl

9.0(% 7.4%% 9.0(% 7.62% 9.0(% 6.98% — — —

assets
Our estimate of expected rate of return on plartass primarily based on the historical perforneantplan assets, current market conditions,

our asset allocation and long-term growth expemtati
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Plan asset—Our pension investment strategy emphasizes maiigiieturns consistent with balancing risk. Exchglour international plans
with insurance-based investments, 89% of our f¢akion plan assets represent the U.S. qualifead e U.K. plan and the Canadian plan.
These plans are primarily invested in equity seéi@srito maximize the long-term returns of the plan®e investment managers of these assets
including the hedge funds and limited partnershiige, Graham and Dodd fundamental investment asalysielect securities that have a
margin of safety between the price of the secuanityf the estimated value of the security. This valiented approach tends to mitigate the risl
of a large equity allocation.

The following is a description of the valuation medologies used for the pension plan assets. Tame been no changes in the methodolc
used at December 31, 2013 and 2012 .

. Cash is valued at cost, which approximates faue

. Equity securities are comprised of common stpc&ferred stock, registered investment compamidscammon/collective trusts. The
fair values of equity securities are valued atdlosing price reported on the active market on Whie securities are traded. The fair
values of registered investment companies and carfanltective trusts are valued based on quoted etgmices, which represent the
net asset value (“NAV”) of shares held, and prityariclude investments in equity securities.

. The fair values of hedge funds are valued usind\th¥ as determined by the administrator or custodifthe func
. The fair values of limited partnerships are valusihg the NAV as determined by the administratocustodian of the fun

. Insurance contracts are valued at book valugwdpproximates fair value, and is calculated gie prior-year balance plus or
minus investment returns and changes in cash flows.

. Emerging market bonds are comprised of regidtereestment companies. The fair values of registénvestment companies are
valued based on quoted market prices, which reptéise NAV of shares held.
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Our pension plan assets measured at fair valuasafi@lows at December 31, 2013 and 2012 . Plesseto “Fair value measurements” in
Note 1 to these consolidated financial statememta flescription of the level

u.s. International
December 31, 2013
(In millions) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Cash $ 324 % 324 % — 3 — 3 11 $ 11 $ — % —
Equity securities:
U.S. companies:
Large cap 169.¢ 169.¢ — — 60.7 60.7 — —
Mid cap 12.1 12.1 — — 0.1 0.1 = =
Small cap 98.C 98.( — — — — — —
International companies 142.¢ 142.¢ — — 231.¢ 231.¢ — —
Hedge funds 64.¢ — — 64.C _ _ — _
Limited partnerships 52.1 — — 52.1 — — — —
Insurance contracts — — — — 107.C — 107.C —
Emerging market bonds 4.5 4.5 — — — — — _
Total assets $ 576.6 $ 459.¢ % — % 117.C  $ 400.¢ % 293¢ % 107.C % —
December 31, 2012
(In millions)
Cash $ 357 $ 357 $ — — % 1.C $ 1C $ — 8 —
Equity securities:
U.S. companies:
Large cap 127.( 127.C — — 47.2 47.2 — —
Mid cap 9.4 9.4 — — 0.1 0.1 — —
Small cap 73.7 73.7 — — — — — —
International companies 116.2 116.2 — — 182.% 182.% — _
Hedge funds 55.€ — — 55.€ — — — —
Limited partnerships 40.1 — — 40.1 — — — _
Insurance contracts — — — — 97.2 — 97.c —
Emerging market bonds 4.€ 4.€ = — — — — _
Total assets $ 4625 3 366.6 % — 95.7 % 327¢ % 2306 % 97.2 % —
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The summary of changes in the fair value of thesmenplan Level 3 assets for the years ended Deee81h 2013 and 2012 is as follows:

(In millions) Level 3 Assets

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 86.1
Realized gains 0.€
Unrealized gains relating to instruments still haidhe reporting date 9.7
Purchases, sales, and settlements, net (0.9
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 95.7
Unrealized gains relating to instruments still haidhe reporting date 21.2
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 117.(

Contributions—We expect to contribute approximately $21.0 milltorour international pension plans, representimarily the U.K. and
Norway qualified pension plans, and approxima$9.0 million to our U.S. Non-Qualified Defined Béinéension Plan in 2014 . All of the
contributions are expected to be in the form ohcés 2013 and 2012 , we contributed $59.6 milkord $62.7 million to the pension plans,
respectively, which included $18.0 million and $ &illion , respectively, to the U.S. Qualified refd Benefit Pension Plan.

Estimated future benefit payme— The following table summarizes expected benefinpanyts from our various pension and post-retirement
benefit plans through 2023. Actual benefit paymemdy differ from expected benefit payments.

Other
Post-retirement
Pensions Benefits

(In millions) u.s. International

2014 $ 282 % 105 0.€
2015 $ 227 $ 11€¢ $ 0.€
2016 $ 24€ $ 11¢ % 0.€
2017 $ 38t § 127 8 0.€
2018 $ 281 $ 145 $ 0.€
2019-2023 $ 172¢ % 93¢ $ 2.7
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Savings plans—Fhe FMC Technologies, Inc. Savings and Investméart PQualified Plan”), a qualified salary redudtiplan under

Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, isfndd contribution plan. Additionally, we have enaqualified deferred compensation plan,
the Non-Qualified Plan, which allows certain highlympensated employees the option to defer thépteafea portion of their salary. We
match a portion of the participants’ deferrals eohoplans. In October 2009, the Board of Directggproved amendments to the U.S. Qualified
Plan and U.S. Non-Qualified Plan (“Amended Plangfder the Amended Plans, we are required to malanalective contribution every pay
period to all new nonunion employees hired on terafanuary 1, 2010, and current nonunion employéedess than five years of vesting
service as of December 31, 2009. The vesting s¢déoluthe nonelective contribution under the AmedhdPlans is three years of vesting
service with FMC Technologies.

Participants in the Non-Qualified Plan earn a retwsised on hypothetical investments in the sanmerapas our 401(k) plan, including FMC
Technologies stock. Changes in the market valdbkesfe participant investments are reflected aglprstanent to the deferred compensation
liability with an offset to other income (expensegt. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , our ligfibr the Non-Qualified Plan was $38.5
million and $34.4 million , respectively, and wasorded in other non-current liabilities. We hetigefinancial impact of changes in the
participants’hypothetical investments by purchasing the investsithat the participants have chosen. With thegtken of FMC Technologie
stock, which is maintained at its cost basis, clarg the fair value of these investments are meized as an offset to other income (expense)
net. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , we hadstnvents for the Non-Qualified Plan totaling $29.llion and $26.0 million , respectively,
at fair market value and FMC Technologies stockl liretrust of $7.7 million and $7.8 million , regpiwely, at its cost basis. Please refer to
Note 15 to these consolidated financial statemfentiir value disclosure of the N-Qualified Plan investments.

We recognized expense of $23.5 million , $18.4ianlland $14.6 million , for matching contributiotasthese plans in 2013 , 2012 and 2011,
respectively. Additionally, we recognized expens8X6.2 million , $11.8 million , and $8.4 millidior nonelective contributions in 2013,
2012 and 2011 , respectively.

NOTE 12. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

We sponsor a stock-based compensation plan, whidescribed below, and have primarily granted asvardhe form of nonvested stock units
(also known as restricted stock units in the plaoudnent) and stock options. The compensation expensawards under the plan is as follo

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012 2011
Stock-based compensation expense $ 477 $ 34C $ 26.2
Income tax benefits related to stock-based compiensaxpense $ 16.2 % 115 $ 8.¢

Stock-based compensation expense is recognizedlm/érsser of the stated vesting period ( thrdewryears) or the period until the
employee reaches age 62 (the retirement eligitdeuager the plan). As of December 31, 2013, aqodif the stock-based compensation
expense related to outstanding awards remains tedognized in future periods. The compensatiorerge related to nonvested awards to
employees yet to be recognized totaled $40.6 millaw restricted stock units. These costs are drpeio be recognized over a weighted
average period of 1.4 years.

Incentive compensation and stock |— The Amended and Restated FMC Technologies, Inentince Compensation and Stock Plan (the
“Plan™) provides certain incentives and awardsffaers, employees, directors and consultants of2-Mechnologies or its affiliates. The Plan
allows our Board of Directors to make various typeawards to non-employee directors and the Cosgteon Committee (the “Committee”)
of the Board of Directors to make various typeawhrds to other eligible individuals. Awards indusianagement incentive awards, stock
options, stock appreciation rights, performancésyisitock units, restricted stock or other awardba@ized under the Plan. All awards are
subject to the Plan’s provisions.

Under the Plan, 48.0 million shares of our comntoglswere authorized for awards. These sharesaddition to shares previously granted
by FMC Corporation and converted into approximatey0 million shares of our common stock. As of &maber 31, 2013, 3.2 million shares
were reserved to satisfy existing awards and 2@I®m shares were available for future awards.
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Management incentive awards may be awards of casiimon stock, restricted stock or a combinationetbie Grants of stock options may be
incentive and/or nonqualified stock options. Thereise price for options are determined by the Cdtembut cannot be less than the fair
market value of our common stock at the grant déstricted stock and restricted stock unit grapecify any applicable performance goals,
the time and rate of vesting and such other prongsas determined by the Committee. Restricted stoit grants generally vest after three to
four years of service. Additionally, most awardsrigdiately vest upon a change of control as definéde Plan document.

Under the Plan, our Board of Directors has the@itthto grant noremployee directors stock options, restricted stowk restricted stock uni
Unless otherwise determined by our Board of Dines;tawards to non-employee directors generally @eshe date of our annual stockholder
meeting following the date of grant. Restrictectktanits are not settled until a director ceaseg@es to the Board of Directors. At
December 31, 2013, outstanding awards to activeetivedd non-employee directors included 826 thndsatock units.

Restricted stock un— A summary of the nonvested restricted stock unitsmployees as of December 31, 2013, and changeg dine year
is presented below:

Weighted-

Average Grant

(Shares in thousands) Shares Date Fair Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2012 2,748 $ 37.4:
Granted 93t $ 53.01
Vested (2,159 $ 27.1¢
Cancelled/forfeited 57 % 43.17
Nonvested at December 31, 2013 2,46¢ ¢ 48.0¢

For current year performance-based awards, theupayas dependent upon our performance relativepea group of companies with respect
to earnings growth and return on investment foryger ended December 31, 2Q1Based on results for the performance periodp#y®ut will
be 343 thousand shares at the vesting date in da2dh6 . Compensation cost was measured for 28%8don the actual outcome of the
performance conditions.

For current year market-based awards, the payosiceatingent upon our performance relative to #mespeer group of companies with
respect to total stockholder return (“TSR”) for trear ended December 31, 2013. In 2012, the Coeenittodified the payout with respect to
the TSR metric to make it possible to have a payegardless of whether our TSR for the year istp@sor negative. If our TSR for any given
year is not positive, the payout with respect t&RTiSlimited to the target previously establishgdhie Committee. Based on results for
performance period, the payout will be 86 thousahdres. Compensation cost for these awards wadai@d using the grant date fair market
value, as estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation, is not subject to change based on future svent

The following summarizes values for restricted ktonit activity to employees:

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Weighted average grant date fair value of restlisteck units granted $ 53.01 $ 498 $ 40.8¢
Vest date fair value of restricted stock units gdgin millions) $ 51t % 100.¢ $ 472

On January 2, 2014, restricted stock units vestedapproximately 0.7 million shares were issuednployees.
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NOTE 13. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Capital stock—The following is a summary of our capital stockiwty for the years ended December 31, 2013, 21i®2011 :

Common Stock

Held in Common
Common Employee Stock Held in

(Number of shares in thousands) Stock Issued Benefit Trust Treasury
December 31, 2010 286,31¢ 132 46,54
Stock awards — — (975)
Treasury stock purchases — — 2,74¢
Net stock purchased for (sold from) employee bémefst — 37 —
December 31, 2011 286,31¢ 16¢ 48,31¢
Stock awards — — (1,399
Treasury stock purchases — — 2,13¢
Net stock purchased for (sold from) employee bémwefst — 27 —
December 31, 2012 286,31¢ 19¢ 49,06:
Stock awards — — (99¢)
Treasury stock purchases — — 2,25¢
Net stock purchased for (sold from) employee bémefst — (16) —
December 31, 2013 286,31¢ 18C 50,31¢

The plan administrator of the Non-Qualified Plamghases shares of our common stock on the operem&ulch shares are placed in a trust
owned by FMC Technologies.

As of August 2007, our Board of Directors had adttenl the repurchase of up to 30 million sharesusfoutstanding common stock through
open market purchases. As a result of the twoofmrstock split completed on March 31, 2011, thbairation was increased to 60 million
shares. In December 2011, the Board of Directofsogized an extension of our repurchase prograaingdl5 million shares, for a total of 75
million shares.

We repurchased $116.3 million , $91.1 million aid 4.0 million of common stock during 2013, 2012 20d 1, respectively, under the
authorized repurchase program. As of December@3,2approximately 12.9 million shares remainedlalke for purchase under the current
program which may be executed from time to timthaopen market. We intend to hold repurchaseceshartreasury for general corporate
purposes, including issuances under our employmmtive compensation and stock plans. Treasunestae accounted for using the cost
method.

On May 12, 2011, we amended our Amended and Rdstadificate of Incorporation to increase the nemtsf authorized shares of common
stock from 300 million to 600 million shares.

No cash dividends were paid on our common stock ir822012 or 2011.
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Accumulated other comprehensive I—Accumulated other comprehensive loss consistedeofollowing:

Defined Pension and

Foreign Currency Other Accumulated Other

(In millions) Translation Hedging Post-Retirement Benefits Comprehensive Loss
December 31, 2011 $ (102.¢) $ (16.7) $ (324.9) % (443.9
Other comprehensive income (loss) before

reclassifications, net of tax (1.8 29.C (5.7 22.1
Reclassification adjustment for net (gains)

losses included in net income, net of tax — (2.3 28.C 25.7
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (1.9 26.7 22.¢ 47.¢
December 31, 2012 (104.¢) 10.C (301.9) (396.0
Other comprehensive income (loss) before

reclassifications, net of tax (99.7) 27.1 112.1 39.t
Reclassification adjustment for net (gains)

losses included in net income, net of tax — (5.2 21.C 15.¢
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (99.7) 21.¢ 133.] b5.2
December 31, 2013 $ (204.9) $ 31¢ $ (168.9) $ (340.7)

Reclassifications out of accumulated other compneive los«—Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprsive loss consisted of tl
following:

Twelve Months Ended

(In millions) December 31, 2013
Amount Reclassified out of
Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Components Loss Affected Line Item in the Consolidated Statement ofncome
Gains (losses) on hedging instruments
Foreign exchange contracts: $ (11.79) Revenue

14.¢ Costs of sales
— Selling, general and administrative expense
3.1 Income before income taxes
2.1 Income tax (expense) benefit

$ 5.2 Netincome
Defined pension and other pastirement benefits
Settlements $ (.1) @
Amortization of actuarial loss (3L.7) @
Amortization of prior service credit 05 @
Amortization of transition asset 01 @

(36.2) Income before income taxes
15.2 Income tax (expense) benefit

$ (21.0 Net income

@ These accumulated other comprehensive income canpoare included in the computation of net pecigdinsion cost (see Note 11 for additional
details).
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NOTE 14. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We hold derivative financial instruments for thepase of hedging the risks of certain identifiattel anticipated transactions. The types of
risks hedged are those relating to the variabilftfuture earnings and cash flows caused by movésnerioreign currency exchange rates and
interest rates. We hold the following types of dafive instruments:

Foreign exchange rate forward contraefBhe purpose of these instruments is to hedgagkef changes in future cash flows of anticipated
purchase or sale commitments denominated in foraigrencies. At December 31, 2013, we held thefalig material positions:

Notional Amount

Bought (Sold)

(In millions) USD Equivalent

Argentinian peso (110.9 (16.9)
Brazilian real (118.9 (50.7)
British pound 139.% 231.1
Canadian dollar 46.5 43.¢
Chinese renminbi 89.5 14.¢
Euro 176.7 243.1
Kuwaiti dinar (7.2 (25.6)
Malaysian ringgit 109.( 33.
Norwegian krone 3,621.¢ 596.¢
Polish zloty 30.1 10.C
Russian ruble (2,771.9) (53.9)
Singapore dollar 184. 146.¢
Swedish krona 134.5 21.C
Swiss franc 15.¢ 17.7
U.S. dollar (1,186.9) (1,186.9)

Foreign exchange rate instruments embedded in asechnd sale contraetsThe purpose of these instruments is to matclettiifigg currency
payments and receipts for particular projects,oonply with government restrictions on the currensgd to purchase goods in certain
countries. At December 31, 2013, our portfolioledde instruments included the following materiadipons:

Notional Amount

Bought (Sold)
(In millions) USD Equivalent
Brazilian real (54.9) (23.9)
British pound 9.¢ 16.2
U.S. dollar 11.C 11.C

The purpose of our foreign currency hedging adéisits to manage the volatility associated withcipdited foreign currency purchases and
sales created in the normal course of businesgrilarily utilize forward exchange contracts witlaturities of less than three years.

Our policy is to hold derivatives only for the poge of hedging risks and not for trading purposkesre/the objective is solely to generate
profit. Generally, we enter into hedging relatioipshsuch that changes in the fair values or casisflof the transactions being hedged are
expected to be offset by corresponding changdseifictir value of the derivatives. For derivativetimments that qualify as a cash flow hedge,
the effective portion of the gain or loss of theidaive, which does not include the time value pament of a forward currency rate, is repo
as a component of other comprehensive income (“D&d reclassified into earnings in the same pesigaeriods during which the hedged
transaction affects earnings.
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The following table of all outstanding derivativestruments is based on estimated fair value amadbatfave been determined using availabl
market information and commonly accepted valuatimthodologies. Refer to Note 15 to these cons@dlfihancial statements for further
disclosures related to the fair value measuremmaaess. Accordingly, the estimates presented mapaondicative of the amounts that we
would realize in a current market exchange and nude indicative of the gains or losses we maynaltely incur when these contracts settle
or mature.

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
(In millions) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts:
Current — Derivative financial instruments $ 149.: % 152t ¢ 292 % 23.2
Long-term — Derivative financial instruments 65.4 44.1 5.7 8.2
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments 214 196.¢ 34.¢ 31.t
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts:
Current — Derivative financial instruments 16.€ 18.¢ 442 27.2
Long-term — Derivative financial instruments 3.1 3.C 3.t 2.8
Total derivatives not designated as hedging instnts 19.7 21.¢ 471 30.C
Total derivatives $ 234.. $ 218.2 % 826 $ 61.5

We recognized gains of $0.1 million , $4.4 milliand $0.9 million on cash flow hedges for the yemmded December 31, 2013, 2012 aAd1
respectively, due to hedge ineffectiveness as st pvabable that the original forecasted transaatiould not occur. Cash flow hedges of
forecasted transactions, net of tax, resulted cumeilated other comprehensive gains of $31.9 mikind $10.0 million at December 31, 2013
and 2012 , respectively. We expect to transfemgmaximate $10.5 million gain from accumulated @&€earnings during the next 12 months
when the anticipated transactions actually occllradticipated transactions currently being hedgetlexpected to occur by the end of 2016.
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The following tables present the impact of derivatinstruments in cash flow hedging relationshipg #heir location within the accompanying

consolidated statements of income.

(In millions)
Interest rate contracts
Foreign exchange contracts

Total

Location of Gain (Loss) Reclassified from Accumulad OCI into Income

(In millions)

Foreign exchange contracts:

Revenue

Cost of sales

Selling, general and administrative expense

Total

Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income

(In millions)

Foreign exchange contracts:
Revenue

Cost of sales

Total

Instruments that are not designated as hedgingimshts are executed to hedge the effect of expsesnrthe consolidated balance sheets, ant

Gain (Loss) Recognized in OCI (Effective Portion)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$ — % 1€ $ 1.2
24.1 41.€ (10.2)
$ 241 $ 435 $ (9.0)
Gain (Loss) Reclassified From Accumulated
OCI into Income (Effective Portion)
Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
$ (11.79) $ 6.6 $ 26.€
14.¢ (1.9 (0.5
— (0.2 0.t
$ 31 ¢ 45 $ 26.€
Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income (Ineffective Poxtn
and Amount Excluded from Effectiveness Testing)
Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
$ 27 ¢ 137 $ 24.¢
(11.0 (17.€ (17.5)
$ 8.9 % 39 % 7.2

occasionally forward foreign currency contract€omency options are executed to hedge exposuriehwb not meet all of the criteria to

qualify for hedge accounting.

Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income

(In millions)

Foreign exchange contracts:
Revenue

Cost of sales

Other income (expense), net

Total

Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income on
Derivatives (Instruments Not Designated
as Hedging Instruments)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$ 0.6 $ 4¢ $ 16.2
0.2) 0.2) (1.5)
(15.0 6.4 3.1)
$ (14.6 $ 111 $ 11.€




Balance Sheet OffsettingWe execute derivative contracts only with coundetips that consent to a master netting agreemieichvpermits
net settlement of the gross derivative assets spginss derivative liabilities. Each instrumenaégounted for individually and assets and
liabilities are not offset. As of December 31, 20%@ had no collateralized derivative contractse Tdilowing tables present both gross

information and net information of recognized dative instruments:

(In millions)
Derivative assets

(In millions)
Derivative liabilities

NOTE 15. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(In millions)

Assets

Investments:
Equity securities
Fixed income
Money market fund
Stable value fund
Other

Derivative financial
instruments:

Foreign exchange
contracts

Total assets
Liabilities
Derivative financial
instruments:

Foreign exchange
contracts

Contingent earn-out
consideration

Total liabilities

December 31, 2013

December 31, 2012

Gross Amount

Gross Amounts

Not Offset

Permitted Under
Master Netting

Gross Amount

Gross Amounts
Not Offset
Permitted Under
Master Netting

Recognized Agreements Net Amount Recognized Agreements Net Amount
234.¢ $ (198.5) $ 35.¢ $ 470 $ 35.5
December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Gross Amounts Gross Amounts
Not Offset Not Offset
Permitted Under Permitted Under
Gross Amount Master Netting Gross Amount Master Netting
Recognized Agreements Net Amount Recognized Agreements Net Amount
2184 $ (198.5) $ 19.¢ $ 471 $ 14.4
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value oacarring basis were as follows:
December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

$ 21z % 21.2 — % — 17.2 172 $ — % =
13.2 13.2 — — 11.€ 11.¢ — —
3.8 — 3.6 — 2.€ — 2.€ —
1.C — 1.C — 1.2 — 1.3 —
2.4 2.4 — — 2.€ 2.€ — —
234.¢ — 234.¢ — 82.€ — 82.€ —
$ 276.C $ 36.¢ 2392 % — 118.2 317 % 86.f $ —
218.4 — 218. — 61.t — 61.t —
70.1 — — 70.1 105.: — — 105.:
$ 288t $% — 218.. % 701 $ 166.¢ — % 61t $ 105.:
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Investmen— The fair value measurement of our equity securifized income and other investment assets is baseaglioted prices that we
have the ability to access in public markets. Qaible value fund and money market fund are valuddeanet asset value of the shares held at
the end of the year, which is based on the famevalf the underlying investments using informatieported by the investment advisor at year-
end. Certain prior-year amounts have been recleddih conform to the current year's presentati&ee Note 11 to these consolidated finar
statements for additional disclosure related tormm-qualified deferred compensation plan investsien

Derivative financial instrumen—We use the income approach as the valuation tegbri@measure the fair value of foreign currency
derivative instruments on a recurring basis. Thisraach calculates the present value of the futash flow by measuring the change from the
derivative contract rate and the published mamditative currency rate, multiplied by the contmagtional values. Credit risk is then
incorporated by reducing the derivative’s fair \aaln asset positions by the result of multiplyihg present value of the portfolio by the
counterparty’s published credit spread. Portfoiipoa liability position are adjusted by the samkewiation; however, a spread representing out
credit spread is used. Our credit spread and #dit@pread of other counterparties not publiclgilable are approximated by using the spreac
of similar companies in the same industry, of simflize and with the same credit rating.

At the present time, we have no credit-risk-relatedtingent features in our agreements with thenfimal institutions that would require us to
post collateral for derivative positions in a li#lyiposition .

See Note 14 to these consolidated financial statesvier additional disclosure related to derivafivencial instruments.

Multi Phase Meters contingent ei-out consideration—¥We determined the fair value of the contingent earnconsideration using a
discounted cash flow model. The key assumptiond usapplying the income approach are the expgutefitability and debt, net of cash, of
the acquired company during the earn-out periodtaadliscount rate which approximates our debtitrating. The fair value measurement is
based upon significant inputs not observable imtlaeket. Changes in the value of the contingent-eat consideration are recorded as cost o
service or other revenue in our consolidated statesnof income.

Changes in the fair value of our Level 3 contingeartn-out consideration obligation were as follows:

December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012

Balance at beginning of year $ 105.2 $ 57.k
Remeasurement adjustment 28.7 42.C
Payment (57.9) —
Foreign currency translation adjustment (6.€) 5.€
Balance at end of year $ 701 $ 105.¢

Fair value of deb—At December 31, 2013, the fair value, based oreL& quoted market rates, of our 2.00% Notes di& 2and 3.45%
Notes due 2022 (collectivel“Senior Notes”) was approximately $767.6 millionasnpared to the $800.0 millidace value of the debt, net
issue discounts, recorded in the consolidated balaheet.

Other fair value disclosures-Fhe carrying amounts of cash and cash equivaleati receivables, accounts payable, short-terrfy deb
commercial paper, debt associated with our term,loavolving credit facility as well as amountslirded in other current assets and other
current liabilities that meet the definition of éincial instruments, approximate fair value.

Credit risk—BYy their nature, financial instruments involve riskluding credit risk for non-performance by caenparties. Financial
instruments that potentially subject us to creidk primarily consist of trade receivables and Ve contracts. We manage the credit risk or
financial instruments by transacting only with whanagement believes are financially secure copatges, requiring credit approvals and
credit limits, and monitoring counterparties’ firtgad condition. Our maximum exposure to credit losthe event of non-performance by the
counterparty is limited to the amount drawn andtautding on the financial instrument. Allowanceslésses on trade receivables are
established based on collectability assessmentsnitigate credit risk on derivative contracts bgeuting contracts only with counterparties
that consent to a master netting agreement whighitsethe net settlement of the gross derivatisetsagainst the gross derivative liabilities.
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NOTE 16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

John Bean Technologies Corporatic¢'JBT")— On July 31, 2008, the spin-off of our FoodTech anghort Systems businesses to our
stockholders was accomplished through a tax-freieleind of all outstanding shares of JBT, now arepehdent public company traded on the
New York Stock Exchange (symk“JBT").

We entered into certain agreements which defingdokevisions related to the spoff and the relationship between the two compaafts the
spin-off, including, among others, a Separation Brafribution Agreement, dated July 31, 2008, betwEMC Technologies and JBT (the
“JBT Separation and Distribution Agreement”) andasharing agreement, dated July 31, 2008, betwb#D Technologies and JBT (the
“JBT Tax Sharing Agreement”). The JBT Separatiod Bistribution Agreement required us to contribcgetain business segments and their
associated assets and liabilities to JBT. As dtre§the contribution, we have no interest in JB&5ssets and business and, subject to certain
exceptions described below, generally have no atitig with respect to JBT's liabilities. SimilarlyBT has no interest in our assets and
generally has no obligation with respect to oupilifes related to retained businesses after theilution. We generally made no
representations or warranties as to the assetsidssgs or liabilities transferred or assumed asopahe contribution, and generally made the
transfers on an “as is, where is” basis. JBT agteere its reasonable best efforts to cause bs teleased from all of FMC Technologies’
obligations to guarantee or otherwise support &bjlities or obligations of JBT not later thany@l1, 2010. All such obligations have expired,
been released or are subject to a novation agréemeaddition, JBT agreed to reimburse and othsevindemnify and hold us harmless for
and all costs and charges associated with, andlisinilities or obligations of, JBT or any guaraat® third parties not terminated prior to
July 31, 2008.

As parties to the JBT Separation and Distributigreement, FMC Technologies and JBT each indemhéyother party from liabilities arisir
from their respective businesses or contracts, frahilities arising from breach of the JBT Sepamatand Distribution Agreement and from
certain claims made prior to the spin-off of JBTo(& 18).

The JBT Tax Sharing Agreement sets forth the resipdities of the parties with respect to, amonigestthings, liabilities for federal, state,
local and foreign taxes for periods before andudirlg the spin-off, the preparation and filing ax treturns for such periods and disputes with
taxing authorities regarding taxes for such periddiee JBT Tax Sharing Agreement also providesdBat will indemnify us for any tax

liability we may incur as a result of any actiokda by JBT after the spin-off that causes theithistion to not qualify as tax-free for U.S.
federal income tax purposes under the terms obtivate letter ruling received from the IRS. Welwidemnify JBT against any tax liability
the case any action taken by us causes the disbrbio not qualify as tax-free.

FMC Corporatio— FMC Technologies was a subsidiary of FMC Corporatiatil the distribution of FMC Technologies’ commstock by
FMC Corporation, which was completed on Decembe2801.

In June 2001, FMC Corporation contributed to usstaitially all of the assets and liabilities of thesinesses that comprise FMC Technologie
(the “Separation”). FMC Technologies and FMC Cogpion entered into certain agreements that defkegdorovisions related to the
Separation and the ongoing relationship betweetvtbecompanies after the Separation. These agrdsrimefuded a Separation and
Distribution Agreement, dated May 31, 2001 (the /8] and a Tax Sharing Agreement, which provideat tfMC Technologies and FMC
Corporation would make payments between them appate to properly allocate tax liabilities forepSeparation periods.

As parties to the SDA, FMC Corporation and FMC Treslhgies each indemnify the other party from ligiei$ arising from their respective
businesses or contracts, from liabilities arisiranf breach of the SDA, from certain claims mademtie our spin-off from FMC Corporation
and for claims related to discontinued operatidwsé¢ 18).
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NOTE 17. WARRANTY OBLIGATIONS

Warranty cost and accrual information is as follows

December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012

Balance at beginning of year $ 154 $ 25.%
Expenses for new warranties 27.C 26.4
Adjustments to existing accruals iz B
Claims paid (25.9) (40.2)
Balance at end of year $ 18.C $ 15.4

NOTE 18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Commitments associated with leasedfe-lease office space, manufacturing facilities eadous types of manufacturing and data processing
equipment. Leases of real estate generally prdeidpayment of property taxes, insurance and regairus. Substantially all of our leases are
classified as operating leases. Rent expense opaeating leases amounted to $149.7 million , $18&8llion and $100.6 million in 2013 ,
2012 and 2011, respectively.

At December 31, 2013, future minimum rental payraemtder noncancellable operating leases were:

(In millions)
2014 $ 113.
2015 92.2
2016 85.€
2017 64.4
2018 57.1
Thereafter 186.:
Total 599.(
Less income from subleases 4.7
Net minimum operating lease payments $ 594.:

Contingent liabilities associated with guaranteeb+the ordinary course of business with customeradors and others, we issue standby
letters of credit, performance bonds, surety bamisother guarantees. These financial instrumémseember 31, 2013 , represented $785.7
million for guarantees of our future performance 61.1 million of bank guarantees and lettersreflit to secure a portion of our existing
financial obligations. The majority of these fin&aldnstruments expire within three years, and wgeet to replace them through the issuance
of new or the extension of existing letters of dradd surety bonds.

Management believes the ultimate resolution ofkmawn contingencies will not materially affect aonsolidated financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows.
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Contingent liabilities associated with legal magterWe are involved in various pending or potentiableactions in the ordinary course of our
business. Management is unable to predict the alérautcome of these actions, because of the inheneertainty of litigation. However,
management believes that the most probable, uktimeglution of these matters will not have a matedverse effect on our consolidated
financial position, results of operations or caskvs.

In addition, under the SDA between FMC Corporatiod FMC Technologies, which contains key provisiatating to our 2001 spioff from
FMC Corporation, FMC Corporation is required toenthify us for certain claims made prior to the spify as well as for other claims related
to discontinued operations. We expect that FMC Gation will bear responsibility for the majority these claims. Under the JBT Separation
and Distribution Agreement, which contains key fs@mns relating to the spioff of the Airport and FoodTech businesses fronmuz008, JB1

is required to indemnify us for certain claims mader to the spin-off, as well as for other clairetated to JBT products or business
operations. Some of these claims may include tHeseribed in this paragraph involving FMC CorpanatiWhile the ultimate responsibility
for claims involving FMC Technologies, FMC Corpaoat or JBT cannot yet be determined due to ladkl@ftification of the products or
premises involved, we expect that FMC Corporatidhbear responsibility for a majority of these iche initiated subsequent to the spin-off
and that JBT will bear responsibility for otheriota initiated subsequent to the spin-off.

Contingent liabilities associated with liquidatedrdages—Some of our contracts contain penalty provisios thquire us to pay liquidated
damages if we are responsible for the failure tetrspecified contractual milestone dates and tpécable customer asserts a conforming
claim under these provisions. These contracts défia conditions under which our customers may neiims against us for liquidated
damages. Based upon the evaluation of our perfarenand other commercial and legal analysis, managebelieves we have appropriately
accrued for probable liquidated damages at DeceBthe2013 and 2012 , and that the ultimate resoiutf such matters will not materially
affect our consolidated financial position, resolt®perations, or cash flows.
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NOTE 19. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We report the results of operations in the follogveegments: Subsea Technologies, Surface Techeslagd Energy Infrastructure.
Management’s determination of our reporting segsemts made on the basis of our strategic priontigsin each segment and corresponds t
the manner in which our chief operating decisiorkenaeviews and evaluates operating performancestke decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segment.

Our reportable segments are:

. Subsea Technologies—designs and manufacturdsigigoand systems and provides services used bpaijas companies involved
in deepwater exploration and production of crudeund natural gas.

. Surface Technologies—designs and manufactusgsrsg and provides services used by oil and gapaies involved in land and
offshore exploration and production of crude oill@as; designs, manufactures and supplies technallygadvanced high pressure
valves and fittings for oilfield service companiasd also provides fracturing flowback and wirelgsevices for exploration
companies in the oil and gas industry.

. Energy Infrastructure—manufactures and supfiligsd and gas measurement and transportation egripand systems to customers
involved in the production, transportation and sming of crude oil, natural gas and petroleum+bastned products and the mining
industry.

Beginning in the third quarter of 2013 and in cawjiion with management's efforts to acceleratadthelopment and commercialization of
subsea boosting technology for subsea marketgsimat drive systems technology development, prgslioreported in Energy Infrastructure,
is now reported in Subsea Technologies. All prieatyinformation has been adjusted to reflect thieeati presentation.

Total revenue by segment includes intersegmens,saleich are made at prices approximating thosetiigaselling entity is able to obtain on
external sales. Segment operating profit is defaetbtal segment revenue less segment operatiemeas. The following items have been
excluded in computing segment operating profitpooate staff expense, net interest income (experssejciated with corporate debt facilities,
income taxes, and other revenue and other expease,
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Segment revenue and segment operating profit

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012 2011

Segment revenue

Subsea Technologié€s $ 4,726.¢ $ 4,006.¢ $ 3,289.!

Surface Technologies 1,806.¢ 1,598.: 1,310.¢

Energy Infrastructure 617.2 574.] 499.(

Other revenu® and intercompany eliminations (24.7) (27.9) 0.9
Total revenue $ 7,126.. $ 6,151.c $ 5,099.(

Income before income taxes:
Segment operating profit:

Subsea Technologies $ 548.2 % 4322 % 306.(
Surface Technologies 257.2 284.< 250.1
Energy Infrastructure 74.: 68.2 63.2
Intercompany eliminations (0.7 — —
Total segment operating profit 879.€ 784.1 619.:
Corporate items:
Corporate expensd (46.9) (41.9) (39.9
Other revenu® and other expense, riét (85.€) (119.9 (22.6)
Net interest expense (33.7) (26.€) (8.9)
Total corporate items (165.6) (188.9) (70.2)
Income before income taxes attributable to FMC Tietdgies, Inc. $ 7140 § 596.¢ § 549.]
@ We had one customer in our Subsea Technologiesesgdhat comprised approximately $875.9 millioroof consolidated revenue for the year

ended December 31, 2013 . We had one customer i8uhsea Technologies segment that comprised apmatety $625.9 million of our
consolidated revenue for the year ended Decemh&@(3P , and two customers in our Subsea Techred@ggment that comprised approximately
$633.5 million and $540.7 million of our consoliddtrevenue for the year ended December 31, 2011.

@ Other revenue comprises certain unrealized gaid$cmses on derivative instruments related to unigeel sales contrac
@ Corporate expense primarily includes corporate stgfense:
@ Other expense, net, generally includes stock-bessgbensation, other employee benefits, LIFO adjasts) certain foreign exchange gains and

losses, and the impact of unusual or strategica@ions not representative of segment operations.
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Segment operating capital employed and segmentsasse

December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012
Segment operating capital employeéb:
Subsea Technologies $ 2,126.. $ 2,050.
Surface Technologies 1,139.: 1,185.:
Energy Infrastructure 345.¢ 336.¢
Total segment operating capital employed 3,610.¢ 3,572.¢
Segment liabilities included in total segment ofiatacapital employeé 2,272.¢ 1,824..
Corporate® 722.( 506.]
Total assets $ 6,605.¢ $ 5,902.¢
Segment assets:
Subsea Technologies $ 3,923¢ % 3,452.
Surface Technologies 1,484.( 1,487.¢
Energy Infrastructure 496.4 474.¢
Intercompany eliminations (20.9 (18.2)
Total segment assets 5,883.¢ 5,396.¢
Corporate® 722.( 506.]
Total assets $ 6,605.t $ 5,902.¢
@ FMC Technologies’ management views segment operatipital employed, which consists of assets, figs tiabilities, as the primary measure of
segment capital. Segment operating capital empleyetlides debt, certain investments, pension iiegs) income taxes and LIFO and valuation
adjustments.
@ Segment liabilities included in total segment ofintpcapital employed consist of trade and othepants payable, advance payments and progres:s

billings, accrued payroll and other liabilities.

@ Corporate includes cash, LIFO adjustments, defémamme tax balances, property, plant and equipmenassociated with a specific segment,
pension assets and the fair value of derivativanfonal instruments.
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Geographic segment information

Geographic segment sales were identified basedelotation where our products and services wdreetled. Geographic segment long-lived
assets represent property, plant and equipment, net

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012 2011
Revenue (by location of customer):
United States $ 1,940.c $ 1,541.¢ $ 1,156.
Norway 1,217.; 1,231.: 966.(
Brazil 689.( 561.2 541.¢
Angola 516.( 598.( 514.¢
Australia 461.( 377.% 87.¢
All other countries 2,302.: 1,842 1,832t
Total revenue $ 7,126.. $ 6,151.. $ 5,099.(

December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012 2011
Long-lived assets:
United States $ 443.¢  $ 4240 $ 238.7
Norway 223.% 197.¢ 169.7
Brazil 166.: 161.2 126.-
United Kingdom 137.2 92.¢ 58.¢
Malaysia 100.¢ 91.t 60.€
All other countries 278.1 276.: 113t
Total long-lived assets $ 1,349.. % 1,243 $ 767.¢

Other business segment information

Depreciation and Research and
Capital Expenditures Amortization Development Expense
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Subsea Technologies $ 235 $ 257¢ $ 18271 $ 119t $ 89 $ 702 $ 871 $ 93¢ $ 72¢€
Surface Technologies 70.1 110.1 79.% 68.C 38.¢ 23.C 15.¢ 12.2 8.2
Energy Infrastructure 8.2 10.2 10.2 16.5 14.C 11.2 12.2 10.7 9.€
Corporate 0.7 27.5 1.¢ 5.8 4.1 3.3 (2.5 — —

Total $ 3141 $ 405€ $ 274 $ 2096 $ 1462 $ 1076 $ 112¢ $ 116.8 $ 90.t
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NOTE 20. QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

2013 2012
(In millions, except per share
data) 4th Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 1st Qtr. 4th Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 1st Qtr.
Revenue $ 2,047.¢ $ 1,724+ $ 1,707.¢ $ 1646.( $ 1,840¢ $ 1,419.( $ 1,494¢ $ 1,396.¢
Cost of sales 1,560.: 1,353.¢ 1,350.: 1,307.: 1,449.¢ 1,099.: 1,180.: 1,103."
Net income 179.1 117.¢ 106.t 103.€ 121.¢ 100.5 113.2 99.7

Net income attributable to

FMC Technologies, Inc. $ 177.&¢ $ 116.( $ 1052z $ 1022 $ 120.¢ $ 98¢ $ 111¢ $ 98.¢
Basic earnings per shafé $ 0.7t $ 04¢ $ 0.4, $ 04: $ 05C $ 041 $ 047 $ 0.41
Diluted earnings per shaféd $ 074 % 04¢ % 04, % 04z $ 05C $ 041 $ 0.4¢ $ 0.41
@ Basic and diluted EPS are computed independentlgefch of the periods presented. Accordingly, tiva ef the quarterly EPS amounts may not

agree to the annual total.
NOTE 21. OTHER INFORMATION

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012 2011
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest (net of interest capitaljzed $ 271 $ 185 $ 10.¢
Cash paid for income taxes (net of refunds recgived $ 137.: % 2252 % 83.2

December 31,

(In millions) 2013 2012

Other reportable information:
Revenue in excess of progress billings on cont@mtsunted for under the percentage of completion

method included in trade receivables $ 777.0 % 627.7
Trading securities included in investments $ 41€¢ $ 35.€
Net capitalized software costs included in otheets $ 56.¢ $ 50.¢
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2013, and under the directfayuo principal executive officer and principal éincial officer, we have evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and pracesi as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15@gnthe Exchange Act. Based upon this
evaluation, we have concluded as of December 313 2€¢hat our disclosure controls and proceduras we

i) effective in ensuring that information requiredbe disclosed in reports that we file or sulbumider the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pieniods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms; and

i) effective in ensuring that information requireco®disclosed in reports that we file or submit urtle Exchange Act is accumula
and communicated to management, including our jpéhexecutive officer and principal financial aiir, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There were no changes in internal controls overrfaal reporting identified in the evaluation foetquarter ended December 31, 2013, that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdimcial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

This report is included in Part Il, Item 8 of tlisnual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated imebg reference.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Information regarding our directors is incorporakedein by reference from the section entitled “Gaard of Directors” of our Proxy
Statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockhade

Our Board of Directors has three standing comnsttaa Audit Committee, a Compensation CommitteeaaN@minating and Governance
Committee. Each of these committees operates pursma written charter setting out the functiond aesponsibilities of the committee. The
charters for the Audit Committee, the Compensaiommittee and the Nominating and Governance Coreendf the Board of Directors may
be found on our website at www.fmctechnologies.comer “About Us—Corporate Governance” and are alsdlable in print to any
stockholder upon request without charge by submgitéi written request to our Senior Vice Presidéeneral Counsel and Secretary, FMC
Technologies, Inc., 5875 North Sam Houston ParkWagt, Houston, Texas 77086. Information regardivayeholder nominating procedures
is incorporated herein by reference from the sadtiatitled “Corporate Governance—Committees of8bard of Directors—Nominating and
Governance Committee” of the Proxy Statement ferab14 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Informatimmcerning audit committee
financial experts on the Audit Committee of the Rbaf Directors is incorporated herein by referefioen the section entitled “Corporate
Governance—Committees of the Board of Directors—iAGdmmittee” of the Proxy Statement for the 201@nh&al Meeting of Stockholders.

Information regarding our executive officers isgepted in the section entitled “Executive Officefshe Registrant” in Part I, Item 1 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Information regarding compliance by our directamsl @xecutive officers with Section 16(a) of the Béies and Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, is incorporated herein by reference fl@rséction entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ovaingp Reporting Compliancesf our Prox
Statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockhde

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsHthie “Code”), which is applicable to our priraligxecutive officer and other senior
financial officers, who include our principal fingial officer, principal accounting officer or coalier, and persons performing similar
functions. The Code may be found on our websitevat.fmctechnologies.com under “About Us—Corporat@/€nance” and is available in
print to stockholders without charge by submittingequest to the address set forth above. To teatesequired by SEC rules, we intend to
disclose any amendments to this Code and any waheeprovision of the Code for the benefit of puincipal executive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer oontroller, or persons performing similar functipna our website within four business days
following any such amendment of waiver, or withinyather period that may be required under SEGsrintam time to time.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item is incorporatestdin by reference from the sections entitled “Bioe Compensation,” “Corporate
Governance—Compensation Committee Interlocks asidén Participation in Compensation Decisions” &axkecutive Compensation” of our
Proxy Statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stadders.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by this item is incorporateztdin by reference from the section entitled “Seg@wnership of Our Management and
Holders of More Than 5% of Outstanding Shares ah@on Stock” of our Proxy Statement for the 2014 éalrMeeting of Stockholders.
Additionally, Equity Plan Compensation Informatisnpresented in Part I, Item 5 of this Annual Repm Form 10-K.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this item is incorporateztéin by reference from the sections entitled “Seations with Related Persons” and
“Corporate Governance—Director Independence” ofRnaxy Statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting otcBtmlders.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this item is incorporatestdin by reference from the section entitled “Psaddo Ratify the Appointment of KPMG
LLP as Our Independent Registered Public Accourftingy for 2014 (Item 2 on the Proxy Card)” of oun®y Statement for the 2014 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(@)

The following documents are filed as parthi$ tAnnual Report on Form 1=

1.

The following consolidated financial statemewit&MC Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries aefihs part of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K under Part Il, Item 8:

Management’s Report on Internal Control over FimgrReporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimgn on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimgn on Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statements of Income for the Yearse8mEcember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive IncomthéoYears Ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&t13012

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the YEaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockhol&®psity for the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012011

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedule and related Repdndefpendent Registered Public Accounting F

See “Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accoundsid the related Report of Independent RegistenbtidPAccounting
Firm included herein. All other schedules are amdlithecause of the absence of conditions under vitéghare required or
because information called for is shown in the otidated financial statements and notes thereRait 11, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibits
See “Index of Exhibits” filed as part of this AnfiReport on Form 10-K.
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Schedule [—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(In thousands) Additions
Balance at Charged to Charged to
Beginning of Costs Other Deductions Balance at

Description Period and Expenses Accounts @ and Other © End of Period
Year ended December 31, 2011:

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 11,038 % (1,050 $ 179 $ 2,007 $ 7,79¢

Valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets $ 345 % 766 $ 29 $ 498 % 3,69
Year ended December 31, 2012:

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 7,79¢ $ 1,75: $ 71 $ 3477 % 6,14¢

Valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets $ 3697 $ 1,73 $ 9 $ 1,17 $ 4,26¢
Year ended December 31, 2013:

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 6,14¢ $ 3,03t $ 144  $ 1,887 $ 7,441

Valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets $ 4,26 % 1,77¢  $ (15 $ 1,30z $ 4,727
@ “Additions charged to other accounigtludes translation adjustments and allowancesiea|through business combinatic
) “Deductions and other” includes writdts, net of recoveries, and reductions in thevedloces credited to exper

See accompanying Report of Independent RegistarblicRPAccounting Firm.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Resyisthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ MARYANN T. SEAMAN

Maryann T. Seaman
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 21, 2014

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and oréte indicated.

Date Signature

February 21, 2014 /sl JOHN T. GREMP

John T. Gremp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 21, 2014 /sl MARYANN T. SEAMAN

Maryann T. Seaman
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 21, 2014 /sl JAay A.NuUTT

Jay A. Nutt
Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

February 21, 2014 /s/ MIKE R. BOwLIN

Mike R. Bowlin,
Director

February 21, 2014 /sl ELEAZAR DE CARVALHO FILHO

Eleazar De Carvalho Filho,
Director

February 21, 2014 /'s/  CLARENCE P. CAzALOT, JR.

Clarence P. Cazalot, Jr.,
Director

February 21, 2014 /sl C.MAURY D EVINE

C. Maury Devine,
Director

February 21, 2014 /sl CLAIRE S. FARLEY

Claire S. Farley,
Director

February 21, 2014 /s!/ THOMAS M. H AMILTON

Thomas M. Hamilton,
Director

February 21, 2014 /'s!/ PETER M ELLBYE




February 21, 2014

February 21, 2014

February 21, 2014

February 21, 2014

Director

/s/ EDWARD J. MOONEY

Edward J. Mooney,
Director

/s/  JOSEPHH. N ETHERLAND

Joseph H. Netherland,
Director

/s!/ RICHARD A. PATTAROZZI

Richard A. Pattarozzi,
Director

/s!/  JAMES M. RINGLER
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Separation and Distribution Agreement by and betwe&dC Corporation and FMC Technologies, Inc., datsdf May 31,
2001 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1h® Form S-1/A filed on June 6, 2001) (Registratin. 333-55920).

Separation and Distribution Agreement by and betw&dC Technologies, Inc. and John Bean Technold@aporation,
dated July 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference fieonibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-Kdilen August 6, 2008)
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16489).
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25, 2012) (File No. 001-16489).

Form of 2.00% Senior Notes due 2017 (incorporatereference from Exhibit 4.3 to the Current Remort-orm 8-K filed
on September 25, 2012) (File No. 001-16489).
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Association, as trustee (incorporated by referdéraa Exhibit 4.4 to the Current Report on Form 8ii€d on September
25, 2012) (File No. 001-16489).

Form of 3.45% Senior Notes due 2022 (incorporatereference from Exhibit 4.5 to the Current Remort-orm 8-K filed
on September 25, 2012) (File No. 001-16489).

Tax Sharing Agreement by and among FMC Corporaiah FMC Technologies, Inc., dated as of May 31,1200
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to Boem S-1/A filed on June 6, 2001) (Registration R83-55920).

Employee Benefits Agreement by and between FMC @atppn and FMC Technologies, Inc., dated as of 8@y2001
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to Boem S-1/A filed on June 6, 2001) (Registration R83-55920).

Transition Services Agreement between FMC Corponatind FMC Technologies, Inc., dated as of May280,.1
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to Boem S-1/A filed on June 6, 2001) (Registration B83-55920).

Amended and Restated FMC Technologies, Inc. Ineei@ompensation and Stock Plan, dated Februar@MR.
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.4 to Arual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 2212) (File No. 001-
16489).

First Amendment of the Amended and Restated FM®i@ogies, Inc. Incentive Compensation and Stoek Riated
October 3, 2013.

Form of Grant Agreement for Long Term Incentive fReted Stock Grant Pursuant to the Amended andafRs FMC
Technologies, Inc. Incentive Compensation and SRiak (Employee) (incorporated by reference frorhikix 10.1to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2812QFile No. 001-16489).

Form of Grant Agreement for Long Term Incentive tfReted Stock Grant Pursuant to the FMC Technokdiec. Incentive
Compensation and Stock Plan (Non-Employee Dire¢iocprporated by reference from Exhibit 10.4ehe Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2005) (File.N61-16489).

Form of Grant Agreement for Key Manager Restricéock Grant Pursuant to the FMC Technologies, Imgentive
Compensation and Stock Plan (incorporated by raerérom Exhibit 10.4f to the Quarterly Report amriis 10-Q filed on
May 10, 2005) (File No. 001-16489).

Form of Grant Agreement for Non-Qualified Stock iOptGrant Pursuant to the FMC Technologies, Inceitive
Compensation and Stock Plan (Employee) (incorpdragereference from Exhibit 10.4g to the Quart&gport on Form
10-Q filed on May 10, 2005) (File No. 001-16489).

Form of Grant Agreement for Non-Qualifiec&t Option Grant Pursuant to the FMC Technolodies, Incentive
Compensation and Stock Plan (Non-Employee Dire¢bocprporated by reference from Exhibit 10.4hhHe Quarterly



Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2005) (File. 001-16489).

10.10* Form of Grant Agreement for Stock Appreciation Rgg@rant Pursuant to the FMC Technologies, Incetive
Compensation and Stock Plan (incorporated by reéerérom Exhibit 10.4i to the Quarterly Report aorid 10-Q filed on
May 10, 2005) (File No. 001-16489).

10.11* Form of Grant Agreement for Performance Units GRumsuant to the FMC Technologies, Inc. Incentieenfensation and
Stock Plan (incorporated by reference from ExHibi#4j to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filedMay 10, 2005) (File
No. 001-16489).

10.12* Form of Long Term Incentive Performance Share Restt Stock Agreement Pursuant to the FMC Technefdnc.
Incentive Compensation and Stock Plan (incorporhieceference from Exhibit 10.4.k to the QuartéRigport on Form 10-
Q filed on May 9, 2006) (File No. 001-16489).

10.13* Form of Long Term Incentive Performance Share Restt Stock Agreement Pursuant to the FMC Technefdnc.
Incentive Compensation and Stock Plan (incorporbyeeference from Exhibit 10.4.i to the Annual Ramn Form 10-K
filed on March 1, 2010) (File No 001-16489).

10.14* Form of Long Term Incentive Restricted Stock Ungrdement Pursuant to the FMC Technologies, In@ritice
Compensation and Stock Plan for Employees of FMéhifielogies SA (incorporated by reference from EitHib.4.j to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 1, 20{BjJe No. 001-16489).

10.15* Form of FMC Technologies, Inc. Executive Severafsgeeement. (incorporated by reference from ExHibitl5 to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 221 20(File No. 001-16489).
10.16* Amended and Restated FMC Technologies, Inc. EmplgyRetirement Program Part | Salaried and NonuKiouarly

Employees’ Retirement Plan, dated January 1, 20d&rporated by reference from Exhibit 10.16 te innual Report on
Form 10-K filed on February 22, 2013) (File No. 603489).

10.17* Amended and Restated FMC Technologies, Inc. EmpyRetirement Program Part Il Union Hourly Emplese
Retirement Plan, dated January 1, 2013. (incorpdray reference from Exhibit 10.17 to the Annuap&e on Form 10-K
filed on February 22, 2013) (File No. 001-16489).

10.18* FMC Technologies, Inc. Salaried Employees’ EquinakRetirement Plan, dated January 1, 2009 (incatpdrby reference
from Exhibit 10.7 to the Annual Report on Form 10H€d on March 1, 2010) (File No. 001-16489).

10.18.a* First Amendment to the FMC Technologies, Inc. SathEmployees’ Equivalent Retirement Plan, datetbar 29, 2009
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.7 to @earterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on Novembe2@)9) (File No.
001-16489).

10.18.b* Second Amendment to the FMC Technologies, Inc.rigal&mployees’ Equivalent Retirement Plan, datate 22, 2010.
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.18 te innual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 221 3) (File No.
001-16489).

10.19* FMC Technologies, Inc. Equivalent Retirement Plaar®or Trust Agreement, dated July 31, 2001 (inomaed by
reference from Exhibit 10.7.a to the Annual Report-orm 10-K filed on March 1, 2010) (File No. 006489).

10.20* Amended and Restated FMC Technologies, Inc. Sadnddnvestment Plan, dated January 1, 2013. (iocated by
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2013.
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2014.
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July 13, 2012. (incorporated by reference from BiHi0.28 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed eebruary 22,
2013) (File No. 001-16489).

Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement by and betWeelts Fargo Bank, National Association and FMC Tresihgies,
Inc., dated as of January 3, 2004 (incorporaterefgrence from Exhibit 10.14 to the Annual Repartrmrm 10-K filed on
March 1, 2010) (File No. 001-16489).
$1,500,000,000 Credit Agreement, dated as of Maé;t2012, by and among FMC Technologies, Inc., @sdver;
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Ag&ht Royal Bank of Scotland plc, as Syndication#g&he Bank of
Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., DNB Bank ASA, Grand Gagn Branch, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Assamiats Co-
Documentation Agents; J.P. Morgan Securities LLBSRSecurities Inc., The Bank of Tokyo-MitsubishilJEtd., DNB
Markets, Inc. and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, @stlBookrunners and Co-Lead Arrangers; and therddnders party
thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibitl1id. the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Magd 2012) (File No.
001-16489).
Tax Sharing Agreement by and among FMC Technologies and its affiliates and John Bean Technole@ierporation
and its affiliates, dated July 31, 2008 (incorpedalby reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Currenpéteon Form 8-K filed
on August 6, 2008) (File No. 001-16489).
Securities Purchase Agreement by and among FMCribdafies, Inc., Schilling Robotics, Inc., Schillilpbotics, LLC
and Tyler Schilling, dated December 24, 2008 (ipooated by reference from Exhibit 10.15 to the AasdrRReport on Form
10-K filed on February 27, 2009) (File No. 001-16X48
Securities Purchase Agreement by and among FMCribdafies, Inc., Schilling Robotics, Inc., Schillilpbotics, LLC
and Tyler Schilling, dated April 25, 2012 (incorpted by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Quayt®&port on Form 1@
filed on July 27, 2012) (File No. 001-16489).

Unitholders Agreement by and between FMC Techneldnc., Schilling Robotics, Inc. and Tyler Sdhi, dated
December 26, 2008 (incorporated by reference frahilit 10.16 to the Annual Report on Form 10-Kdilen February 27,
2009) (File No. 001-16489).
Amended and Restated Operating Agreement by and@fidC Technologies, Inc., Schilling Robotics, [rchilling
Robotics Newco, LLC, Schilling Robotics, LLC andl&ySchilling, dated December 26, 2008 (incorpatdtg reference
from Exhibit 10.17 to the Annual Report on FormK@led on February 27, 2009) (File No. 001-16489).

Purchase Agreement, dated September 9, 2009, blyeaween FMC Technologies, Inc., Direct Drive Systelnc.,
(“DDS"), each stakeholder in DDS signatory ther@ach, a “Seller”) and Vatche Artinian as the SsliRepresentative
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10 te @uarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on Novembe2@®9) (File No.
001-16489).

Form of Voting and Support Agreement dated Augdst2D12 between FMC Technologies, Inc. and thecttire and
officers of Pure Energy Services Ltd. (incorporatgdeference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Current R¢pa Form 8-K filed
on August 20, 2012) (File No. 001-16489).
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99



Exhibit 10.4.a

FIRST AMENDMENT OF THE

AMENDED AND RESTATED

FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
INCENTIVE COMPENSATION AND STOCK PLAN

WHEREAS , FMC Technologies, Inc. (the “Companyihaintains the Amended and Restated |
Technologies, Inc. Incentive Compensation and SRiak, as amended and restated in February, 204 3Rtan”);

WHEREAS , the Compensation Committee of the Board of Doecof the Company now deems it neces
and desirable to amend the Plan in certain respauts

WHEREAS , this First Amendment shall supersede the prowssiaf the Plan to the extent those provision
inconsistent with the provisions of the amendment;

NOW, THEREFORE , by virtue and in exercise of the powers reseteeitie Compensation Committee ur
Section 17_Amendment and Terminatiohthe Plan, the Plan is hereby amended in thevatg respects, effecti
October 3, 2013:

1. Section 4.1 of the Plan is hereby amended tbthd following new paragraph immediately after th&
paragraph thereto:

Effective on and after October 3, 2013, the fulimoer of shares for any exercised Stock Option ocK
Appreciation Rights will be deemed to have beernvdetd for purposes of determining the maxin
number of shares of Common Stock available forvedeji under the Plan regardless of whether any s
are not delivered due to such shares being usethter (a) satisfy payment of the option price lorgatish
applicable tax-withholding obligations.

2. For purposes of clarifying the “cash optovisions set forth in Section 9.7, Section 9.Thef Plan is herel
amended to add the following sentence to the emeth which shall read as follows:

Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contran no event shall the Committee elect to or pea
participant to reprice or cash out all or a portafrihe participans outstanding Stock Option when the
Market Value of the Common Stock underlying thec&t@ption is less than the exercise price per sbt
the Common Stock under the Stock Option.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Compensation Committee, on behalf of the Gomphas caused this amendme
be executed by its duly authorized representahiige3drd day of October, 2013.

FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/ Mark J. Scott

Its: Vice President, Administration



Exhibit 10.20.¢

FIRST AMENDMENT
OF
EMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN

WHEREAS , FMC Technologies, Inc. (the “Companyfaintains the FMC Technologies, Inc. Savings

Investment Plan, as amended and restated effelaiveary 1, 2013 (the “Plan”).
WHEREAS , the Company desires to amend the Plan to addraBRective Contribution feature;

WHEREAS , the Company desires to amend the Plan to rettecimerger of the assets and liabilities of
PESUR 401(k) Plan with and into the Plan, effecageof midnight December 31, 2013, as a resulh@f@ompanys

prior acquisition of Pure Energy Services (USAL.jrand

WHEREAS , the First Amendment will supersede the provisiohthe Plan to the extent those provisions

inconsistent with the provisions of the amendment;

NOW, THEREFORE , by virtue of the authority reserved to the Complby Section 12.1 of the Plan, the F

is hereby amended as follows, effective as of Jgnla2014, unless otherwise provided below:

1. Effective as of midnight December 31, 2013, théofeing text is hereby added to the Plan to re¢
follows:




MERGER INTO PLAN

Effective as of midnight December 31, 2013, theessand liabilities of the PESUR 401(k) Plan
“PESUR Plan”)are hereby merged with and into the Plan. In a@ure with Section 414(l) of the Code,
benefit each Participant would receive if the PAare terminated immediately after the merger isless tha
the benefit such Participant would have receivetthéf Plan (or the PESUR Plan) had terminated imately
before the merger. The merger and correspondimgfea of assets and liabilities from the PESUR Rtathe
Plan shall be accomplished in a manner that cosplieh Section 414(l) of the Code and Treasury latgns
promulgated thereunder, the protected benefit rufeer Section 411(d)(6) of Code and Treasury edigurs
promulgated thereunder and all other applicableslaw

2. The defined terniBasic Contributions” set forth in Article | of the Plan is hereby ameddle its entiret

to read as follows:

Basic Contributions means a Matched Participant’s HArax Contributions, Roth Elective Contributic
and After-Tax Contributions not in excess of fivergent of his or her annualized Compensation.
3. The defined ternfCatch-Up Contribution” set forth in Article | of the Plan is hereby ametde its

entirety to read as follows:

Catch-Up Contribution means, effective July 1, 2002, a Hiax Contribution or Roth Electi
Contribution made by a Participant who has attaioesvill attain age fifty (50) before the close thie Plai
Year, subject to the limitations of Code Sectiod &)

4. Subsection (a) of the defined tef@ompensation” set forth in Article | of the Plan is hereby amethae

its entirety to read as follows:




(@) including: overtime, administrative and detmnary bonuses (including completion bont
gainsharing bonuses and performance related bonssdss incentive bonuses; field premiums; bagk g&
sick pay; plus the Employee’s Pfex Contributions, Roth Elective Contributions ardounts contributed tc
plan described in Code Section 125 or 132; andnibentive compensation (effective prior to Janubry007
9/12 of the incentive compensation) (including ngemaent incentive bonuses paid in both cash andates
stock and local incentive bonuses) paid duringRlen Year for services rendered in the precediag Rlear
and the incentive compensation (effective priodanuary 1, 2007, 3/12 of the incentive compenshgfiointhe
same types) paid during tipeeceding Plan Year for services rendered in the Rlear preceding the precec
Plan Year (unless, the Participant elects all sncéntive compensation paid for prior Plan Yearbadanclude
in Compensation for the prior Plan Years, or unkbssParticipant elects that no such incentive camsatiol
will be included in his or her Compensation); and

5. The defined terniRoth Elective Contributions” set forth in Article | of the Plan is hereby amethdle its

entirety to read as follows:

Roth Elective Contributions means the Roth elective contributions (including/ d&oth catchdp
contributions) made by a Participant under eith¢tife Administaff 401(k) Plan which were transéetinto thi
Plan, effective June 1, 2010, as a result of tiw pcquisition of Direct Drive Systems, Inc. betG@ompany, (-
the Schilling Robotics 401(k) Plan which were tfen®d into this Plan, effective as of midnight Beter 31
2012, as a result of the prior acquisition of Soigl Robotics LLC by the Company or (3) the Cont8ylstem
International, Inc. Salary Investment and Profiaig Plan which were transferred into this Pldfeative as ¢
midnight December 31, 2012, as a result of ther@eguisition of Control Systems International,.lby the
Company. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plarthe contrary, effective prior to January 1, 208xXcep
for transferred Roth elective contributions (inéhgl any Roth catclp contributions) described immediat
above, Roth Elective Contributions are not perrditi®@ be made to the Plan. Effective January 1, 2&bt
Elective Contributions means an elective defetrat ts (a) designated irrevocably by the Partididrthe tim
of the cash or deferred election as a Roth Ele@iwetribution that is being made in lieu of alleoportion of th
Pre-Tax Contributions the Participant is otherwise ibliggto make under Section 4.1 of the Plan; (bated b
the Company as not excludible from the Particigagtoss income; and (c) maintained by the Plarepasat
subaccount.




A Roth Elective Contribution is generally treatexiraot excludible from gross income if it is treate
includible in gross income by the Company. If ascél/e contribution would not have been includillegros:
income if the amount had been paid directly to Paeticipant (rather than being subject to a casteberra
election), the elective contribution may be desigdas a Roth Elective Contribution.

Contributions and withdrawals of Roth Elective Gdnitions must be credited and debited to
designated Roth Elective Contribution Account ahd Plan must maintain a record of the Particigan
investment in the contract (i.e., Roth Elective Cibaitions that have not been distributed) withpees to th
designated Roth Elective Contribution Account. didi&ion, all gains, losses and other credits orgéssmust k
separately allocated on a reasonable and conslsisig to the designated Roth Elective ContribuAgooun
and other accounts under the Plan. However, forfst may not be allocated to the designated Raghtikzé
Contribution Account and no contributions otherrtifeoth Elective Contributions and rollover conttibas
described in Section 402A(c)(3)(B) of the Code rbayallocated to such Account. The separate Rotttitzt
Contribution Account requirement applies at theetithe Roth Elective Contribution is contributedthe Plai
and must continue to apply until the designatechRdéctive Contribution Account is completely distrted. A
Matched Participand’ Roth Elective Contribution may be made up of 8aSbntributions, Supplemen
Contributions or both.

6. The defined termMRoth Elective Contribution Election” is hereby added to Article | of the Plan to ree

follows:

Roth Elective Contribution Election means the Participast’ election to make Roth Elect
Contributions in accordance with Section 3.3.1.

7. The defined termSupplemental Contributions” set forth in Article | of the Plan is hereby ameddie its

entirety to read as follows:

Supplemental Contributions means a Matched Participant's Hrax Contributions, Roth Electi
Contributions and After-Tax Contributions in exce$sive percent of his or her annualized Compengat

8. Section 2.1(d) of the Plan is hereby amended ieritsety to read as follows:

(d) the Employee has filed with the Administrato PreTax Contribution Election, Roth Electi
Contribution Election or After-Tax Contribution Ekson; and




9. Section 2.2(b) of the Plan is hereby amended iantsety to read as follows:

(b) the Participant has filed with the Admingbr a PreFax Contribution Election, Roth Electi
Contribution Election or After-Tax Contribution Ekon; and

10. Section 2.3 of the Plan is hereby amended in tisety to read as follows:

A Participant or Eligible Employee who is rehiresl @ Eligible Employee after a Period of Separ:
becomes an active Participant by filing with thenfidistrator a PréFax Contribution Election, Roth Electi
Contribution Election or After-Tax Contribution Elon. When the Employeg’election becomes effective,
Participant or Eligible Employee will again becoareactive Participant. If such a Participant setssbne of th
conditions for being a Matched Participant, thetiPigant becomes an active Matched Participantilimgfwith
the Administrator a Pre-Tax Contribution ElectioRoth Elective Contribution Election or Aftdrax
Contribution Election. When the Pre-Tax Contribatiglection, Roth Elective Contribution Election After-
Tax Contribution Election becomes effective, the téhed Participant will become an active Matc
Participant.

11. Section 2.6 of the Plan is hereby amended in iisety to read as follows:

2.6 Special Rules Relating to VeterarisReemployment Rights

The following special provisions will apply to amiditble Employee or Participant who is reemploya
accordance with the reemployment provisions of theformed Services Employment and Reemployr
Rights Act (“USERRA”)following a period of qualifying military serviceag¢ determined under USERRA)
will be interpreted in a manner consistent with E&skction 414(u).

2.6.1 Each period of qualifying military serviserved by an Eligible Employee or Participant,
upon his or her reemployment as an Eligible Empoyee deemed to constitute service with the Ppdiiic
Employer for all Plan purposes.

2.6.2 The Participant will be permitted to make Pre-Tax, Roth Elective and/or Aft€ex
Contributions missed during the period of qualityimilitary service, so long as he or she does smgluhe
period of time beginning on the date of the Pg#ot's reemployment with the Participating Emplc
following his or her period of qualifying militargervice and extending over the lesser of (a) thimes th
length of the Participant’s period of qualifyinglit@ry service, and (b) five years.

2.6.3 The Participating Employer will not credarnings to a ParticipastAccount with respect to a
Pre-Tax, Roth Elective or After-Tax Contributiornfdae the contribution is actually made.




2.6.4 A reemployed Matched Participant will beitted to accrued benefits attributable to Fee¢
Roth Elective or After-Tax Contributions only ifei are actually made.

2.6.5 For all Plan purposes, including the Eguditing Employers liability for making contributions ¢
behalf of a reemployed Participant as describedv@bthe Participant will be treated as having nese
Compensation from the Participating Employer basedhe rate of Compensation the Participant wowalde
received during the period of qualifying militargrsice, or if that rate is not reasonably certaimthe basis
the Participant’s average rate of Compensatiomduhie 12month period immediately preceding the perio
qualifying military service.

2.6.6 If a Participant makes a Pre-Tax, Rotlctisle or After-Tax Contribution in accordance with
foregoing provisions of this Section 2.6:

(@) those contributions will not be subject toy atherwise applicable limitation under Code Sm
402(g), 404(a) or 415, and will not be taken int@aunt in applying those limitations to other cdmitions
under the Plan or any other plan, for the year Imciv the contributions are made; the contributiamié be
subject to the aboveeferenced limitations only for the year to whidke tcontributions relate and only
accordance with regulations prescribed by the mateRevenue Service; and

(b) the Plan will not be treated as failing teahthe requirements of Code Section 401(a)(4)(a)01
(26), 401(k)(3), 410(b) or 416 by reason of thetabntions.

2.6.7 Effective January 1, 2009, an individuateiving a differential wage payment, as define
Section 3401(h)(2) of the Code, is treated as apl&yee of the Participating Employer making therpapt an
the differential wage payment is treated as Conmgaeans under the Plan. The Plan is not treated éiagao
meet the requirements of any provision describeSection 414(u)(1)(C) of the Code due to any cbaotion o
benefit which is based on the differential wage mpegt provided that all Employees of the Particing
Employer are entitled to receive differential waoggyments, and to make contributions based on sagimgnts
on reasonably equivalent terms.

2.6.8 Effective January 1, 2009, for purposeSaidtion 401(k)(2)(B)(i)(I) of the Code, an indiual is
treated as having been severed from employmemglany period in which the individual is performisgrvice
in the uniformed services, as described in Se@®dil(h)(2)(A) of the Code. If an individual elettsreceive
distribution by reason of severance from employnpemsuant to this Section 2.6.8, the individual may mak
a Pre-Tax Contribution, Roth Elective Contributionan After-Tax Contribution during the rienth perior
beginning on the date of the distribution.




2.6.9 In the case of a death occurring on arafanuary 1, 2007, if a Participant dies whiléqremning
gualified military service (as defined in Sectiobddu) of the Code), the survivors of the Participare entitle
to any additional benefits (other than benefit aats relating to the period of qualified militargrsice) provide
under the Plan as if the Participant had resumddten terminated employment on account of death.

12. Section 3.1 of the Plan is hereby amended in iisety to read as follows:

3.1 Pre-Tax Contributions and Roth Elective Contributions

The Company will transmit to the Funding Agent tReeTax Contributions and Roth Elect
Contributions for the Participants. To determine #imount it must transmit for each Participant, Goenpan
will multiply the percentage elected by the Papigit in his or her Préax Contribution Election or Rc
Elective Contributions by the Participant’'s Comdits.

3.1.1 Effective as of July 1, 2002, and for eRtdn Year commencing thereafter, all Participavits
have attained or will attain age fifty (50) by tbi®se of the taxable year shall be eligible to m@keechUp
Contributions during the Plan Year in accordancthmand subject to the limitations of Code Secddd(v) a:
follows:

(@) The Plan shall not be treated as failingattisfy the requirements of Code Section 401(k¥8),(k)
(11), 401(k)(12), 410(b) or 416, as applicable régson of the making of such Catch-Up Contributi@estch-
Up Contributions shall be disregarded in deterngriime limitations on Pré&ax Contributions and Roth Elect
Contributions as provided in Section 3.9.

(b) Pre-Tax Contributions and Roth Elective Citmitions (other than Catddp Contributions
determined to be Excess Prax Contributions or Excess Roth Elective Contilmg as provided in Secti
3.9.9, or determined to be in excess of the reduiraitations of Code Section 415 in a Plan Yearyrha
recharacterized as a Catdp- Contribution (to the extent available under lih@tations of Code Section 414
as in effect for that Plan Year) for a Participasio is eligible to make Catddp Contributions, as describec
the first paragraph of this Section 3.1.1.

(c) Catchup Contributions shall not be eligible for Compa@pntributions made on behalf o
Matched Participant pursuant to Section 3.4.

(d) PreTax Contributions or Roth Elective Contributionstetenined to be Excess Contributions
provided in Section 3.9.8 may be recharacterizeGashtp Contributions for a Participant who is eligibe
described in the first paragraph of this Sectidni3.but




(i) only after the application of Sections 372nd 3.13.7 regarding the recharacterization afek:
Contributions as After-Tax Contributions, to thees available, and

(i) only to the extent a Catddp Contribution amount is available under the latians of Cod
Section 414(v) as in effect for that Plan Year.

13. Section 3.4 of the Plan is hereby amended in iisety to read as follows:

3.3 Rules Applicable to PreTax, Roth Elective and Aftel-Tax Contributions

3.3.1 In making his or her Pi@x Contribution Election, Roth Elective Contrilani Election an
After-Tax Contribution Election, a Participant may chotseefer or contribute between 0% and 75% of
her Compensation, in 1% increments. The ParticipafreTax Contribution Election, Roth Electi
Contribution Election and Aftefax Contribution Election cannot together total entinan 75% of his or h
Compensation. For certain Participants listed opekulix C for periods beginning on the Effective ©tiroug|
December 31, 2001, the minimum deferral or contidiouelection may be less than 2% under the Ppétitts
prior election under the FMC Plans. The Administrahay reduce the amount of any Hiax Contributiol
Election, or make such other modifications it deerasessary, so that the Plan complies with theigions o
Code Section 401(k). Pre-Tax, Roth Elective ande’fiax Contributions will be made on a payroll dedoi
basis and in accordance with uniform and nondisoatory rules and procedures established by
Administrator. A Participan$ Elections will apply only to Compensation paidhe Participant while he or ¢
is an Eligible Employee.

3.3.2 A Participant may change his or her Pre-Roth Elective or Afteifax Contribution Electic
percentage or discontinue making Pre-Tax Contomgti Roth Elective Contributions or Aft€ax
Contributions, as frequently as permitted by thenkustrator, by completing the form or following yaothe
election change procedure prescribed by the Adinata. An election change will become effective@ding
to the uniform and nondiscriminatory rules estdi@dd by the Administrator.

3.3.3 Pre-Tax, Roth Elective and AfiEax Contributions will be delivered to the FundiAgent as c
the earliest date they are known and can reasormbegregated from the general assets of thecipating
Employer. In no event will that date be later thla@ 15th business day of the month following thenthdhe)
would have been paid to the Participant if he @& Is&d not chosen to defer their payment or cort&githem t
the Plan.




3.3.4 Notwithstanding any other provision of tAEn, the amount contributed by the Particips
Employers as Pre-Tax Contributions or Roth Elect@entributions and by Participants as Affex
Contributions must not exceed, in the aggregatép bb the total Compensation for the Plan Year forst
Participants employed by the Participating Empleyaigible for an allocation for that Plan Year.dddition
the amount contributed by the Participating Emptsyte this Plan or any other qualified plan maimeal by th
Participating Employers pursuant to a ParticipanPseeTax Contribution Election and Roth Elect
Contribution Election must not exceed the CodeiBSeet02(g) limit applicable for that calendar year.

3.3.5 A Participant shall direct the investmenfthis or her Pre-Tax, Roth Elective and Afeax
Contributions into any of the Investment Funds celé by the Administrator pursuant to Section 1@n
accordance with the procedures established by tmairistrator.

3.3.6 Notwithstanding anything in this SectioB ® the contrary, effective for Plan Years begigror
or after January 1, 2010, a Matched Participant bhaae at least 30 days after receipt of the $tebor Notic
in which to make or change a salary deferral edecti

14. Section 3.4.4 of the Plan is hereby amended ientsety to read as follows:

3.4.4 Special Restrictions where Plan is a Sddéebor 401(k) Plan using Matching Alternati
Effective January 1, 2010, with respect to any Pfaar for which the Company has elected that tla Pk
designated as a Safe Harbor 401(k) Plan and fachw@ompany Safe Harbor Matching Contributions aaele
pursuant to Section 3.4A, then, if a Company Cbuation is made by a Participating Employer for sitar
Year in addition to the Company Safe Harbor Matgh@ontribution as described in Section 3.4A, thao
additional Company Contribution, including one madesuant to this Section 3.4, shall be made vagipect t
any Participant’'s Pr@&ax Contributions or Roth Elective Contributions igfh exceed six percent (6¢
Moreover, with respect to any such additional Conyp@ontributions, the rate of the Companyontributiol
may not increase as the rate of any ParticipamgstBx Contributions or Roth Elective Contributiongnease
Further, any Company Contribution made with respeeiny Highly Compensated Employee, at any rasuol
a Participant’s Prdax Contributions or Roth Elective Contributionsaymot exceed that with respect to
Nonhighly Compensated Employee.




15. Section 3.4A.2 of the Plan is hereby amended iantsety to read as follows:

3.4A.2 Allocation Formula: Where the provisiomisSection 3.4A.1 above apply for a Plan Year
Company Safe Harbor Matching Contributions fol\dditched Participants shall be equal to one hundeeden
(100%) of the amount of the Participant’s Higx Contributions and Roth Elective Contributions the Pla
Year that do not exceed five percent (5%) of theiépant's Compensation for the Plan Year. All Comg
Safe Harbor Matching Contributions for a Plan Yedl be allocated to a Matched ParticipanCompany Sa
Harbor Matching Contribution Account no later thiwe due date (including all extensions) of the Canys
federal tax return for the fiscal year of the Companding with or within the Plan Year.

16. Section 3.6.7 of the Plan is hereby added to the f read as follows:

3.6.7 Each Participant to whom Roth Elective f@bations are allocated will have a Roth Elec
Contribution Account. The Roth Elective ContributicAccount will be credited with the Roth Eleci
Contributions allocable to the Participant and theome on those contributions, and will be debiteith
expenses, losses, withdrawals and distributionsyeladle to those contributions.

17. The first paragraph of Section 3.7(a) of the Ptahareby amended in its entirety to read as fotlows

(@) For purposes of this Section 3.7, the teanmtial additions’ includes all Piieax Contribution:s
Roth Elective Contributions, AfteFax Contributions, Company Contributions, CompaajeSHarbor Matchin
Contributions, Company Nonelective Contributionsl &worfeitures allocated to the ParticipanBccounts fc
the Plan Year, but shall not include Catdp-Contributions pursuant to Code Section 414(g)dascribed i
Section 3.1.1), and Excess Frax Contributions or Excess Roth Elective Contiitmg (as described in Sect
3.11.4) that are distributed to the Participan®pyil 15th following the year for which they werermributed t
the Plan.

18. Section 3.9 of the Plan is hereby amended in tisety to read as follows:

3.9 Limitations on Pre-Tax Contributions, Roth Elective Contributions, After-Tax
Contributions and Company Contributions — Definitions

For purposes of Sections 3.9 through 3.15, thedelefined below have the meanings ascribed to th
this Section 3.9.




3.9.1 Actual Contribution Percentage means the sum of any Aftdiax Contributions and Comps
Contributions or Roth Elective Contributions alltexdto the Eligible Participant for the Plan Yealys any o
the Eligible Participant's Pr&ax Contributions or Roth Elective Contributionseated as Compa
Contributions for the Plan Year, divided by thegitie Participans Plan Year Compensation, and stated
percentage. All aftetax employee contributions and employer matchingtrdautions made on behalf of
Highly Compensated Employee under all plans ofGbmpany and its Affiliates will be aggregated tdedmine
the Highly Compensated EmployseéActual Contribution Percentage. A Company Couotrdn that is treated
a PreTax Contribution under Section 3.13 is subject ¢ot®n 3.13 and is not taken into account in calbogd
an Eligible Participans Actual Contribution Percentage. A Company Coutidn that is forfeited to corre
Excess Aggregate Contributions, or because theribation to which it relates is treated as an ESz
Contribution, Excess Préax Contribution, Excess Roth Elective ContributarExcess Aggregate Contribut
is not taken into account in calculating the EligilParticipant Actual Contribution Percentage. The Ac
Contribution Percentage of an Eligible Participamio does not make a Pfex Contribution Election, Ro
Elective Contribution or an After-Tax Contributi&tection is 0.0%.

3.9.2 Actual Deferral Percentagemeans the amount of Piex Contributions and Roth Elect
Contributions allocated to the Eligible Participaior the Plan Year, divided by his or her Plan
Compensation, stated as a percentage. In calayltenActual Deferral Percentage, Hia¢ Contributions ar
Roth Elective Contributions include Excess FPeex Contributions and Excess Roth Elective Contrdms fol
Highly Compensated Employees (whether they wereemamtler plans of unrelated employers or plans €
same or related employers) but do not include ExdeseTax Contributions and Excess Roth Elec
Contributions for Nonhighly Compensated Employ8dse Actual Deferral Percentage of an Eligible Rgrén
who does not make a Pre-Tax Contribution ElectioRath Elective Contribution Election is 0.0%.

3.9.3 Aggregate Limit means the greater of:
(@) the sum of:

() 1.25 times the Average Actual Deferral Petage or the Average Actual Contribution Percer
of the group, whichever is larger; and

(i) two percentage points plus the Average Atfeferral Percentage or the Average Actual
Contribution Percentage of the group, whichevéess, but in no event more than twice the lessénefyroups
Average Actual Deferral Percentage and its Averagteal Contribution Percentage; and




(b) the sum of:

(i) 1.25 times the Average Actual Deferral Patage or the Average Actual Contribution Percer
of the group, whichever is less; and

(i) two percentage points plus the Average AttlDeferral Percentage or the Average Ac
Contribution Percentage of the group, whichevelaiger, but in no event more than twice the largiethe
group’s Average Actual Deferral Percentage andvisrage Actual Contribution Percentage.

For purposes of this Section 3.10.3, the “groigpthe group of Eligible Participants who are Nafthy
Compensated Employees for the preceding Plan Year.

3.9.4 Average Actual Contribution Percentage means the average of the Actual Contribt
Percentages of the Eligible Participants in a group

3.9.5 Average Actual Deferral Percentageaneans the average of the Actual Deferral Percestal
the Eligible Participants in a group.

3.9.6 Eligible Participant means any Employee who is eligible to make a TRee-Contributiol
Election, Roth Elective Contribution Election or After-Tax Contribution Election any time during the F
Year.




3.9.7 Excess Aggregate Contributiongmeans, for any Plan Year in which the Actual Cduifior
Percentage Test under Section 3.13 of the Plarotissatisfied, the excess of the Company and Aftet-
Contributions (and any Pre-Tax Contributions, R&lkctive Contributions or prex salary deferrals unc
other plans, taken into account in determiningAl&ual Contribution Percentages) actually made ehalf o
Highly Compensated Employees for the Plan Yeary dwe maximum amount of such contributions perrd
under Section 3.13 of the Plan for the Plan Yedre &mount of Excess Aggregate Contributions wi
determined by first reducing the Company and Aftax- Contributions to the Highly Compensated Empéa
with the highest Actual Contribution Percentage thg lesser of (a) the amount necessary for the &
Contribution Percentage of that Highly Compens&ietployee to equal the Actual Contribution Perceatal
the Highly Compensated Employee with the next hsgi#ectual Contribution Percentage; and (b) the amt
necessary for the Plan to satisfy the Actual Cbation Percentage Test under Section 3.13 of tha. Flhis
process will be repeated until the Plan satisfiesActual Contribution Percentage Test under Se@&ia3 of th
Plan. Then, the aggregate amount of such reductwihbe distributed by reducing the Company andeAf ax
Contributions for the Highly Compensated Employeththe highest combined dollar amount of Compamg
After-Tax Contributions by the lesser of (a) the amouetessary for the dollar amount of that Hig
Compensated Employee’s combined Company and Af&rcContributions to equal the combined dollar am
of the Company and AfteFax Contributions of the Highly Compensated Empkoyeith the next highe
combined dollar amount of Company and Afterxx Contributions; and (b) the amount necessaryhferPlan t
satisfy the Actual Contribution Percentage Test: €ach Highly Compensated Employeeaeductions, tf
Administrator will begin by making reductions irshor her Company Contributions, and will reduce Hnghly
Compensated Employee’s Aft€éax Contributions only if his or her Company Codrtions for the Plan Ye
have been reduced to zero and it is still necegsargduce his or her Plan Year contributions. @hwunt o
any Highly Compensated Employsdzxcess Aggregate Contributions is calculated atéermining the Exce
Contribution to be recharacterized as Afterxx Contributions for the Plan Year. To the exteguired, if th
Aggregate Limit in Section 3.9.3 of the Plan is@aaed, further reduction of the Actual Deferrald@atage fc
all Highly Compensated Employees will be made isimilar manner so that the Aggregate Limit is
exceeded.




3.9.8 Excess Contributionsmeans for any Plan Year in which the Actual DefeRarcentage Te
under Section 3.12 of the Plan is not satisfie@, ¢xcess of the Pfeax Contributions and Roth Elect
Contributions (and any Company Contributions taketo account in determining the Actual Defe
Percentages) actually made on behalf of Highly Gamspted Employees for the Plan Year, over the max
amount of such contributions permitted under SacBd 2 of the Plan for the Plan Year. The amouriafes
Contributions will be determined by first reducitigg PreTax Contributions and Roth Elective Contributiorf
the Highly Compensated Employee with the highesudlcDeferral Percentage by the lesser of (a) theus
necessary for the Actual Deferral Percentage dftinghly Compensated Employee to equal the ActusfieDa
Percentage of the Highly Compensated Employee thémext highest Actual Deferral Percentage; andhg
amount necessary for the Plan to satisfy the Addadérral Percentage Test under Section 3.13 oPtae. Thi:
process will be repeated until the Plan satisfies Actual Deferral Percentage Test under Sectit@ 8f the
Plan. Then, the aggregate amount of such reductiilh®e distributed by reducing the PTex Contribution
and Roth Elective Contributions for the Highly Caengated Employee with the highest dollar amourRref
Tax Contributions and Roth Elective Contributions the lesser of (a) the amount necessary for thHiar
amount of that Highly Compensated Employee’s Par-Contributions and Roth Elective Contributioo®tjus
the PreTax Contributions and Roth Elective Contributiorigtee Highly Compensated Employee with the
highest dollar amount of Pfeax Contributions and Roth Elective Contributioaagd (b) the amount necess
for the Plan to satisfy the Actual Deferral Pereget Test. For purposes herein, Pea- Contributions will b
reduced first and, then, to the extent necessatyy Rlective Contributions will be reduced.

3.9.9 Excess Pre-Tax Contributionmeans the amount of PTex Contributions for a calendar y
that are includible in a Participant’s gross inconmeler Code Section 402(g) because the Particpalectivi
deferrals exceed the dollar limitation under Codeti®n 402(g) as determined under Sections 3.1 B4

3.10 Excess Roth Elective Contributionmeans the amount of Roth Elective Contributions d
calendar year that are includible in a Particigargross income under Code Section 402(g) becaie
Participants elective deferrals exceed the dollar limitationder Code Section 402(g) as determined
Sections 3.11 and 3.12.




19. Section 3.10 of the Plan is hereby amended imiiisety to read as follows:

3.10 Maximum Amount of Pre-Tax and Roth Elective Contributions

The total amount of Préax and Roth Elective Contributions, 401(k) conitibns under anoth
qualified plan, and deferrals under a Code Se@8(b) annuity, a simplified employee pension and/simple
retirement account allocated to a Participant ip ealendar year cannot exceed the dollar limitatroeffec
under Code Section 402(g) for that year.

20. Section 3.11 of the Plan is hereby amended imtissty to read as follows:

3.11 Correction of Excess PreTax Contributions and Excess Roth Elective Contribtions

3.11.1 Excess Preax Contributions and Excess Roth Elective Contridms, as adjusted per Sect
3.11.2, will be distributed to each Participantwinose behalf they were made no later than the Aipstl 15
following the close of the taxable year of the Rgrant for which they were allocated. In no evemy the
amount distributed under this Section 3.11 exchedParticipant’s total Préax Contributions and Roth Elect
Contributions (as adjusted under Section 3.11.2nftdme and losses allocable to them) for the tiexpdar fo
which he or she had Excess Pre-Tax ContributiodsEaaecess Roth Elective Contributions.

3.11.2 The Excess Piex Contributions or Excess Roth Elective Contiitmg to be distributed tc
Participant will be adjusted for income or losde®uigh the close of the Plan Year for which theyemmade
with such income or losses determined in a nonidisicatory manner (within the meaning of Code Setd@1
(a)(4)) consistent with the valuation of Particip&tcounts under Section 10.4. Notwithstanding ghecedin:
to the contrary, effective January 1, 2006, the elSgc PréFax Contributions or Excess Roth Elec
Contributions to be distributed to a Participantl We adjusted for income or losses up to the ddtehe
distribution of such Excess Plex Contributions or Excess Roth Elective Contiitmg; however, such incor
or losses may be determined on a date that is oo# than 7 days before such distribution. Notwéhding th
preceding to the contrary, effective for Plan Ydagginning on or after January 1, 2008, the PlamiAtstrato
shall not calculate and distribute allocable incomndosses on Excess Pfex Contributions or Excess R
Elective Contributions for the period after thesdmf the Plan Year in which the Excess Pag-Contribution
or Excess Roth Elective Contributions occurredymptio the date of distribution.




3.11.3 If a Participant has Excess Pax- Contributions or Excess Roth Elective Contiidms, bu
only when taking into account his or her pag- contributions under another plan, in order éceive .
distribution of Excess Préax Contributions or Excess Roth Elective Contiiimg, he or she must mak
written claim to the Administrator no later tharetharch 15 following the taxable year of the Pgwtaat fol
which the contributions were made. The claim mymc#y the amount of the Participant's Excess Pag-
Contributions or Excess Roth Elective Contributidmsthe preceding taxable year and be accompanyeitie
Participant’s written statement that if those answare not distributed, the Participant’s Fae¢ Contribution
or Roth Elective Contributions, when added to an®uleferred under other plans or arrangementsidedar
Code Sections 401(k), 402(h)(1)(B) (a simplifiedpdmyee pension), 403(b) (an annuity plan) or 40@(6M)(i)
(a simple retirement plan) will exceed the limitgosed on the Participant by Code Section 402(glhi®year i
which the deferral occurred.

3.11.4 Excess Preax Contributions or Excess Roth Elective Contiitms distributed prior to the fii
April 15 following the close of the Participasttaxable year will not be treated as Annual Addisi unde
Section 3.7 for the preceding Limitation Year.

3.11.5 Any Prérax Contributions or Roth Elective Contributionsttlare properly distributed unt
Section 3.8 as excess Annual Additions are disdsghrin determining if there are any Excess Pag-
Contributions or Excess Roth Elective Contributions

21. Section 3.12 of the Plan is hereby amended imtisety to read as follows:

3.12 Actual Deferral Percentage Test

3.12.1 The Average Actual Deferral PercentageEfmible Participants who are Highly Compens:
Employees for the Plan Year may not exceed thagreé

(@) the Average Actual Deferral Percentage fiagille Participants who are Nonhighly Compens
Employees for the Plan Year multiplied by 1.25; and

(b) the lesser of:

() the Average Actual Deferral Percentage ftigigle Participants who are Nonhighly Compens
Employees for the Plan Year multiplied by two and

(i) the Average Actual Deferral Percentage Ehigible Participants who are Nonhighly Compens
Employees for the Plan Year plus two percentagetpoi




3.12.2 The provisions of Code Section 401(k3i®)incorporated by reference.

3.12.3 If this Plan satisfies the requiremerft€Code Sections 401(a)(4), 401(k), and 410(b) aof
aggregated with one or more other plans, or if @nenore other plans satisfy the requirements o$e¢hGod
sections only if aggregated with this Plan, thes 8ection 3.12 is applied by determining the Aceferra
Percentages of Eligible Participants as if allpgtens were a single plan.

3.12.4 The Administrator also may treat one orarplans as a single plan with the Plan whetheoi
the aggregated plans must be aggregated to s@mbg Sections 401(a)(4) and 410(b). However, thpbeses
must then be treated as one plan under Code Seectlii(a)(4), 401(k), and 410(b). Plans may be agdet
under this Section 3.12.4 only if they have thesatan year.

3.12.5 PréfFax Contributions and Roth Elective Contributionayntbe considered made for a Plan®
if made no later than the end of the 12-month Ebeginning on the day after the close of the Riaar.

3.12.6 The determination and treatment of theeTRx Contributions and Roth Elective Contributi
and Actual Deferral Percentage of any Participamstrsatisfy all requirements prescribed by the &acy of th
Treasury, including, without limitation, record eation requirements.




3.12.7 The Administrator will limit the electioand allocation of Pr@&ax Contributions and Rc
Elective Contributions in order to avoid the creatof Excess Contributions. If and to the extergessary ¢
desirable, the Administrator will recharacterizecéss Contributions as Aftdiax Contributions, or wi
distribute Excess Contributions. RecharacterizedeEx Contributions will be treated as required i@asunr
Regulations Section 1.401(k)f)(3). The Administrator will recharacterize EsseContributions within two al
onehalf months after the close of the Plan Year inclitthey arose. A distribution of Excess Contribuogiovill
normally be made within the same time frame. Ateadénts, a corrective distribution of Excess Cabuiibns
must be made no later than 12 months after thegtiee Plan Year in which they arose, and will uds# incom
allocable to the excess Contributions for the Plaar in which they arose; provided, effective Japua 2006
such Excess Contributions shall be adjusted fayrme or losses up to the date of the distributiosuzh Exces
Contributions; however, such income or losses negdiermined on a date that is not more than 7 lbefgse
such distribution. Notwithstanding the precedinghe contrary, effective for Plan Years beginnimgar afte
January 1, 2008, the Plan Administrator shall redtwdate and distribute allocable income or lossedEEXxces
Contributions for the period after the close of Blan Year in which the Excess Contributions oairprior tc
the date of distribution. The method used to deitenthe income allocable to Excess Contributiorst #re
distributed will not violate Code Section 401(a)(dhd will be applied consistently for all Partigijts and a
corrective distributions for any Plan Year. Anytdisution to a Participant of less than the enéineount of hi
or her Excess Contributions will be treated as@rpta distribution of Excess Contributions andome. Th
Administrator may combine the correction methodscdbed in this Section 3.12.7. The amount of Es
Contributions to be recharacterized or distribut@d Participant under this Section 3.12.7 willrbduced b
any Excess Pr@&ax Contributions or Excess Roth Elective Contidmg previously distributed to the Particig
for his or her taxable year ending with or withimetPlan Year. Similarly, the amount of Excess Par-
Contributions or Excess Roth Elective Contributiagasbe distributed for a Participasttaxable year will k
reduced by the amount of any Excess Contributioreipusly distributed or recharacterized as to
Participant for the Plan Year beginning with orhaitthe Participant’s taxable year.




3.12.8 Effective January 1, 2006, for purpodahis Section 3.12, if a Highly Compensated Emph
is a Participant under two or more cash or defearea@ngements, all such cash or deferred arrangsrakall b
treated as one cash or deferred arrangement fopungose of determining the Average Actual Defi
Percentage with respect to such Highly Compendataeployee. However, if the cash or deferred arrareges
have different Plan Years, then all Arax Contributions and Roth Elective Contributionada during the Pl:
Year being tested under all such cash or defemethgements shall be aggregated, without regatte@lar
years of the other plans. Notwithstanding the foneg, plans that are not permitted to be aggregatete
Treas. Reg. section 1. 401(k) — 1(b)(4) are natired to be aggregated for purposes of this Se&ibh.8.

3.12.9 Notwithstanding the foregoing paragrapihSection 3.12, effective for Plan Years beginnom
or after January 1, 2010, the test provided in C8detion 401(k)(3) shall be met if the Plan mehts $af
Harbor Notice requirement set forth in Section 3.4Bd the following Contribution Requirement. -
Contribution Requirement is met if the Companyaguired to make the Company Safe Harbor Nonele
Contributions set forth in Section 3.4A on behdlfeach Matched Participant and the restrictionsfaeh in
Section 3.4.4 are satisfied.

3.12.10 Notwithstanding any Plan provisions to toatrary, effective for Plan Years beginning ol
after January 1, 2010, with respect to any Planr Yeawhich the Plan is a Safe Harbor 401(k) Phahger
performing the Actual Deferral Percentage Test,dingent year testing method shall be used andchapge
from current year to prior year testing shall bedmgursuant to Internal Revenue Service Noticel 98k
provisions of which are incorporated herein by refiee.

22. Section 3.13.5 of the Plan is hereby amended initsety to read as follows:

3.13.5 An AfterTax Contribution is considered made for a Plan Yiat is deducted from tt
Participants Compensation during the Plan Year and transmittede Trustee within a reasonable period
that. A Company Contribution is considered madeafd?lan Year if it is allocated to a Matched Pgytiat’s
Account as of a date within the Plan Year, is dityzaid to the Trust no later than 12 months after Plai
Year, and is made on account of the Matched Ppatitis Basic Contributions for the Plan Year. A -FPex
Contribution or Roth Elective Contribution may bensidered made under this Section 3.13 for a Plkear ¥ il
is recharacterized for purposes of Section 3.18 jfais includible in the gross income of therfR@pant as of
date during that Plan Year. A recharacterized Rree-Qontribution is includible in a Participasityross incon
as of the date it would have been paid to the ¢patnt, had the Participant not elected to defitdt the Plan.




23. Section 3.13.9 of the Plan is hereby amended initsety to read as follows:

3.13.9 Notwithstanding the foregoing paragrapihSection 3.13, effective for Plan Years beginnon
or after January 1, 2010, the test provided in C8detion 401(m)(2) shall be met if the Plan mebs $af
Harbor Notice requirement set forth in Section 3.4t Contribution Requirements described in Sac3id2.9
above, and the following Special Limitation on Matyg Contributions. The Special Limitation on Matgj
Contributions is met if (i) Company Contributionssdribed in Section 3.4 on behalf of any Employeg mo
be made with respect to an Employee’s Pre-Tax, Hd#ctive and AftefFax Contributions (described
Sections 3.1 and 3.2, respectively) in excessxopaicent (6%) of the EmployeeCompensation, (ii) the rate
Company Contributions does not increase as theafasen Employee’s Pre-Tax, Roth Elective and Affa
Contributions increases, and (iii) the Company @buations with respect to any Highly Compensatedoayee
at any rate of Employee Pre-Tax, Roth Elective Aftdr-Tax Contributions is not greater than that withpiess
to a Nonhighly Compensated Employee.

24. Section 4.2.8 of the Plan is hereby amended ientsety to read as follows:

A Participant whose non-safe harbor matching cbhation account was transferred from the PESUR 4
(k) Plan into the Plan, effective as of midnightcBmber 31, 2013, shall vest in such rsafie harbor matchi
contribution account so transferred according &ftlowing schedule:

Years of Service Percent
Fewer than 1 0%

1 but fewer than 2 33%

2 but fewer than 3 66%
3 or more 100%

Further, a Participant who is an Employee as okffective time of such transfer and who had hieerPESUI
401(k) Plan account transferred into the Plan &ffeas of midnight December 31, 2013, shall by fuésted il
any future contributions made to the Participst@ompany Contribution Account under the Plan ot aite
January 1, 2014.




25. Section 6.6.3(b)(2) of the Plan is hereby amendets ientirety to read as follows:

(2) The Participant makes a representation (madgiting or such other form as may be prescritie
Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service),amtee Employer has actual knowledge to the conttaa
such immediate and heavy financial need cannotonsdty be relieved (i) through reimbursemen
compensation by insurance or otherwise; (ii) byitigtion of the Participant’'s assets, (iii) by @gm of Pre-
Tax Contributions and Roth Elective Contributiomgler the Plan; (iv) by other currently availablstdbution:
(including distribution of ESOP dividends under €dslection 404(k)) and nontaxable (at the time eflttan
loans, under plans maintained by the ParticipaEingployer or any other employer; or (v) by borrowiingm
commercial sources on reasonably commercial temrag iamount sufficient to satisfy the need.

26. Section 10.3.2 of the Plan is hereby amended initsety to read as follows:

10.3.2 Except as provided in Section 10.3.3,Abeinistrator or, as delegated by the Administr;
the Committee may in its sole discretion permittiegrants to determine the portion of their Accauttiat wil
be invested in each Investment Fund. The frequenttywhich a Participant may change his or her gtneen
election concerning future Piieax Contributions, Roth Elective Contributions @ ar her existing Account w
be governed by uniform and nondiscriminatory ridstablished by the Administrator or the Commitiee the
extent permitted under ERISA, the Plan is intenteccomply with and be governed by Section 404«
ERISA.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company has caused this amendment to be tedeby a duly authoriz:
representative this 20th day of December, 2013.

FMC Technologies, Inc.

By: /slJeffrey W. Carr

Its:  Senior Vice President, General Counsel &8Swmary



Exhibit 10.20.k

SECOND AMENDMENT
OF
FMC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN

WHEREAS , FMC Technologies, Inc. (the “Companyfaintains the FMC Technologies, Inc. Savings

Investment Plan, as amended and restated effeldeary 1, 2013 (the “Plan”).

WHEREAS , the Company desires to amend the Plan in accoedavith the terms of the favora

determination letter issued by the Internal Reve®emirices on January 30, 2014; and

WHEREAS , the Second Amendment will supersede the prowsidrthe Plan to the extent those provision:

inconsistent with the provisions of the amendment;

NOW, THEREFORE , by virtue of the authority reserved to the Complby Section 12.1 of the Plan, the F
is hereby amended as follows, effective as of JgnLia?2008:

1. Section 8.2.3(d) of the Plan is hereby renumbes&extion 8.2.3(e) and a new Section 8.2.3|
hereby added to the Plan to read as follows:

(d) Qualified Optional Survivor Annuity : Effective for Plan Years beginning on or aftenuary 1
2008, a Participant may elect a Qualified Optidaaivivor Annuity which is an immediate annuity tae life o
the Participant with a survivor annuity for theelibf the Participans’ surviving spouse that equals 75% of
amount of the annuity which is payable during thatjlives of the Participant and the Participasp®use.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company has caused this amendment to be tegeby a duly authoriz
representative this'"7day of February, 2014.

FMC Technologies, Inc.

By: /s/Maryann T. Seaman

Its: Senior Vice President and Chief Financitlder



SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

December 31, 2013

Exhibit 21.1

Percent of Voting Securities

Company ® Organized Under Laws of Owned @
FMC Technologies Inc. Delaware Registrant
Control Systems International, Inc. Kansas 100%
Direct Drive Systems, Inc. Delaware 100%
FMC Eurasia LLC Russia 100%
FMC Kongsberg Holding AS Norway 100%
FMC Kongsberg International A.G. Switzerland 100%
FMC Kongsberg Services Limited United Kingdom 100%
FMC Kongsberg Subsea AS Norway 100%
FMC Petroleum Equipment (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100%
FMC Separation Systems B.V. the Netherlands 100%
FMC Subsea Service, Inc. Delaware 100%
FMC Technologies AG Switzerland 100%
FMC Technologies Argentina S.R.L. Argentina 100%
FMC Technologies AS Norway 100%
FMC Technologies Australia Limited Australia 100%
FMC Technologies B.V. the Netherlands 100%
FMC Technologies Brazil Finance B.V. the Netherlands 100%
FMC Technologies Company Nova Scotia 100%
FMC Technologies Completion Services, Inc. Colorado 100%
FMC Technologies de Mexico S.A. de C.V. Mexico 100%
FMC Technologies do Brasil Ltda. Brazil 100%
FMC Technologies Energy S.C.S. Luxembourg 100%
FMC Technologies Global B.V. the Netherlands 100%
FMC Technologies International Services B.V. the Netherlands 100%
FMC Technologies Limited United Kingdom 100%
FMC Technologies Limited (Nigeria) Nigeria 100%
FMC Technologies Measurement Solutions, Inc. Delaware 100%
FMC Technologies Norway AS Norway 100%
FMC Technologies S.A. France 100%
FMC Technologies S.a.r.l. Luxembourg 100%
FMC Technologies Global Supply SDN. BHD. Malaysia 100%
FMC Technologies Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100%
FMC Technologies Surface Wellhead B.V. the Netherlands 100%
FMC Wellhead Equipment Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100%
Multi Phase Meters AS Norway 100%
P.T. FMC Technologies Subsea Indonesia Indonesia 100%
P.T. FMC Santana Petroleum Equipment Indonesia Indonesia 60%
FMC Technologies Canada Ltd. Alberta 100%
Smith Meter GmbH Germany 100%

(1)  The names of various active and inactive subsesarave been omitted. Such subsidiaries, considetbd aggregate as a single subsidiary, wouldapstitute a
significant subsidiary. The Company is a minorityner of certain other affiliates. These entities @ot subject to inclusion in determination of @@mpany’s

significant subsidiaries.

2 Percentages shown for indirect subsidiaries reflecpercentage of voting securities owned by drermt.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of FMC Teghgies, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference irréiggstration statements (Nos. 333-62996, 333-76238-76214, and 333-76216) on Form
S-8 and (No. 333-183953) on Form S-3 of FMC Tecbgiels, Inc. and consolidated subsidiaries as okber 31, 2013 and 2012, and the
related consolidated statements of income, comps@he income, cash flows, and changes in stockisléguity for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2013, amdlated financial statement schedules, and thetafémess of internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2013, which reportears in the December 31, 2013 annual report om BOrK of FMC Technologies, Inc.

/sl KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 21, 2014



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 15D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

I, John T. Gremp, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fkMC Technologies, Inc. (the “registrapt”

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does natadomny untrue statement of a material fact ort éanstate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuwteh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememt3 other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and ctigvs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 184lf))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoitee designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidfigt report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financ@darting, or caused such internal control ovenfaia reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggttae reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallypedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentibdsi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesgnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the registrant’s most recen
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal ggaiin the case of an annual report) that has maditeaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,ttee
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant’s board of directors (or persons perfiog the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are reason:
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s abilityrecord, process, summarize and report finaimtiatmation; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 21, 2014

/s/ JOHN T. GREMP
John T. Gremp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 15D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

I, Maryann T. Seaman, certify that:
1. 1have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-kKIC Technologies, Inc. (the “registrajit’

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or oméitéde a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuwwt&h such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this

report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cfigvs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 184l))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedarecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitge designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtist report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over financ&darting, or caused such internal control ovenfaia reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #gpsnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt’s internal control over financial reportithgait occurred during the registrant’s most recen
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal gaiin the case of an annual report) that has maditeaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationtevhal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant’s board of directors (or persons perfiog the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are reason:
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s abilityrecord, process, summarize and report finaimtiatmation; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inv@dvmanagement or other employees who have a samifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 21, 2014

/sl MARYANN T. SEAMAN
Maryann T. Seaman
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
UNDER SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002, 18 U.S.C. 1350

I, John T. Gremp, Chairman, President and Chietébee Officer of FMC Technologies, Inc. (the “Coamny”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.Q1,35
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb@rles Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(a) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamtiie year ended December 31, 2013, as filed thélSecurities and Exchange Commission (the
“Report”), fully complies with the requirements $éction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934, as amended; and

(b) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanaalition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 21, 2014

/s/ JOHN T. GREMP
John T. Gremp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
UNDER SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002, 18 U.S.C. 1350

I, Maryann T. Seaman, Senior Vice President an@fCtnancial Officer of FMC Technologies, Inc. (tt@ompany”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 \C.S.
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(a) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamytiie year ended December 31, 2013, as filed thélSecurities and Exchange Commission (the
“Report”), fully complies with the requirements $éction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amended; and

(b) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@alition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 21, 2014

/sl MARYANN T. SEAMAN
Maryann T. Seaman

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



